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Disclosures87Item 5.0ther Information87Item 6.Exhibits 88Signatures90Snap Inc., &€ceSnapchat,a€ and our other registered and common-law trade names, trademarks, and service marks
appearing in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q are the property of Snap Inc. or our subsidiaries.2Table of ContentsNOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTSThis Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Act, and Section 21E of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, about us and our industry that involve substantial risks and uncertainties. All statements other than statements of historical facts
contained in this report, including statements regarding guidance, our future results of operations or financial condition, our future stock repurchase programs or stock dividends, business
strategy and plans, user growth and engagement, product initiatives, objectives of management for future operations, and advertiser and partner offerings, are forward-looking statements. In
some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements because they contain words such as a€ceanticipate,a€ d€cebelieve,a€ a€cecontemplate,a€ a€cecontinue,a€ a€cecould,a€ d€ceestimate,a€
ad€ceexpect,a€ a€oegoing to,a€ a€ceintend,a€ a€cemay,a€ a€ceplan,a€ a€cepotential, &€ d€cepredict,a€ a€ceproject,a€ a€ceshould,a€ a€cetarget,a€ a€cewill, € or a€cewoulda€ or the negative of
these words or other similar terms or expressions. We caution you that the foregoing may not include all of the forward-looking statements made in this report. You should not rely on forward-
looking statements as predictions of future events. We have based the forward-looking statements contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q primarily on our current expectations and
projections about future events and trends, including our financial outlook, macroeconomic uncertainty, and geo-political conflicts, that we believe may continue to affect our business, financial
condition, results of operations, and prospects. These forward-looking statements are subject to risks, uncertainties, and other factors described in 4€ceRisk Factorsa€ and elsewhere in this
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including among other things: 4€¢our financial performance, including our revenues, cost of revenues, operating expenses, and our ability to attain and sustain
profitability;a€¢our ability to generate and sustain positive cash flow;a€¢our ability to attract and retain users and partners;a€¢our ability to attract and retain advertisers;a€¢our ability to
compete effectively with existing competitors and new market entrants;a€¢our ability to effectively manage our growth and future expenses;a€¢our ability to comply with modified or new laws,
regulations, and executive actions applying to our business;a€¢our ability to maintain, protect, and enhance our intellectual property;a€¢our ability to successfully expand in our existing market
segments and penetrate new market segments;a€¢our ability to attract and retain qualified team members and key personnel;a€¢our ability to repay or refinance outstanding debt, or to access
additional financing;a€¢future acquisitions of or investments in complementary companies, products, services, or technologies; anda€¢the potential adverse impact of climate change, natural
disasters, health epidemics, macroeconomic conditions, and war or other armed conflict on our business, operations, and the markets and communities in which we and our partners,
advertisers, and users operate. Moreover, we operate in a very competitive and rapidly changing environment. New risks and uncertainties emerge from time to time, and it is not possible for
us to predict all risks and uncertainties that could have an impact on the forward-looking statements contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. The results, events, and circumstances
reflected in the forward-looking statements may not be achieved or occur, and actual results, events, or circumstances could differ materially from those described in the forward-looking
statements.In addition, statements that &€oewe believea€ and similar statements reflect our beliefs and opinions on the relevant subject. These statements are based on information available to
us as of the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. And while we believe that information provides a reasonable basis for these statements, that information may be limited or incomplete.
Our statements should not be read to indicate that we have conducted an exhaustive inquiry into, or review of, all relevant information. These statements are inherently uncertain, and investors
are cautioned not to unduly rely on these statements.The forward-looking statements made in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q relate only to events as of the date on which the statements
are made. We undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statements made in this 3Table of Contentsreport to reflect events or circumstances after the date of this report or to
reflect new information or the occurrence of unanticipated events, including future developments related to geo-political conflicts and macroeconomic conditions, except as required by law. We
may not actually achieve the plans, intentions, or expectations disclosed in our forward-looking statements, and you should not place undue reliance on our forward-looking statements. Our
forward-looking statements do not reflect the potential impact of any future acquisitions, dispositions, joint ventures, restructurings, legal settlements, or investments.Investors and others
should note that we may announce material business and financial information to our investors using our websites (including investor.snap.com), filings with the U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission, or SEC, webcasts, press releases, investor letters, and conference calls. We use these mediums, including Snapchat and our website, to communicate with our members and the
public about our company, our products, and other issues. It is possible that the information that we make available may be deemed to be material information. We therefore encourage
investors and others interested in our company to review the information that we make available on our websites.4Table of ContentsNOTE REGARDING USER METRICS AND OTHER DATAWe
define a Daily Active User, or DAU, as a registered and logged-in Snapchat user who visits Snapchat through our applications or websites at least once during a defined 24-hour period. We
calculate average DAUSs for a particular quarter by adding the number of DAUs on each day of that quarter and dividing that sum by the number of days in that quarter. DAUs are broken out by
geography because markets have different characteristics. We define average revenue per user, or ARPU, as quarterly revenue divided by the average DAUs. For purposes of calculating ARPU,
revenue by user geography is apportioned to each region based on our determination of the geographic location in which advertising impressions are delivered, as this approximates revenue
based on user activity. This allocation differs from our components of revenue disclosure in the notes to our consolidated financial statements, where revenue is based on the billing address of
the advertising customer. For information concerning these metrics as measured by us, see &€eManagementa€™s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.a€
Unless otherwise stated, statistical information regarding our users and their activities is determined by calculating the daily average of the selected activity for the most recently completed
quarter included in this report.While these metrics are determined based on what we believe to be reasonable estimates of our user base for the applicable period of measurement, there are
inherent challenges in measuring how our products are used across large populations globally. For example, there may be individuals who attempt to create accounts for malicious purposes,
including at scale, even though we forbid that in our Terms of Service and Community Guidelines. We implement measures in our user registration process and through other technical
measures to prevent, detect, and suppress that behavior, although we have not determined the number of such accounts. Changes in our products, infrastructure, mobile operating systems, or
metric tracking system, or the introduction of new products, may impact our ability to accurately determine active users or other metrics and we may not determine such inaccuracies promptly.
We also believe that we don&€ ™t capture all data regarding each of our active users. Technical issues may result in data not being recorded from every usera€™s application. For example,
because some Snapchat features can be used without internet connectivity, we may not count a DAU because we dona€™t receive timely notice that a user has opened the Snapchat application.
This undercounting may increase as we grow in Rest of World markets where users may have poor connectivity. We do not adjust our reported metrics to reflect this underreporting. We believe
that we have adequate controls to collect user metrics, however, there is no uniform industry standard. We continually seek to identify these technical issues and improve both our accuracy and
precision, including ensuring that our investors and others can understand the factors impacting our business, but these technical issues and new issues may continue in the future, including if
there continues to be no uniform industry standard. Some of our demographic data may be incomplete or inaccurate. For example, because users self-report their dates of birth, our age-
demographic data may differ from our usersa€™ actual ages. And because users who signed up for Snapchat before June 2013 were not asked to supply their date of birth, we may exclude
those users from our age demographics or estimate their ages based on a sample of the self-reported ages that we do have. If our active users provide us with incorrect or incomplete
information regarding their age or other attributes, then our estimates may prove inaccurate and fail to meet investor expectations.We count a DAU only when a user visits Snapchat through
our applications or websites and only once per user per day. We believe this methodology more accurately measures our user engagement. We have multiple pipelines of user data that we use
to determine whether a user has visited Snapchat through our applications or websites during a particular day, and becoming a DAU. This provides redundancy in the event one pipeline of data




were to become unavailable for technical reasons, and also gives us redundant data to help measure how users interact with our application.If we fail to maintain an effective analytics platform,
our metrics calculations may be inaccurate. We regularly review, have adjusted in the past, and are likely in the future to adjust our processes for calculating our internal metrics to improve
their accuracy. As a result of such adjustments, our DAUs or other metrics may not be comparable to those in prior periods. Our measures of DAUs may differ from estimates published by third
parties or from similarly titled metrics of our competitors due to differences in methodology or data used.5Table of ContentsPART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATIONItem 1. Financial
StatementsSnap Inc.Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows(in thousands)(unaudited)Three Months Ended June 30,Six Months Ended June 30,2024202320242023Cash flows from operating
activitiesNet loss$(248,620)$(377,308)$(553,710)$(705,982)Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:Depreciation and

amortization37,930A 39,688A 79,643A 74,908A Stock-based compensation259,311A 317,943A 523,063A 632,874A Amortization of debt issuance costs2,208A 1,839A 3,950A 3,675A Losses
(gains) on debt and equity securities, net2,662A (4,434)11,630A (15,267)Other10,583A (16,307)(6,029)(26,703)Change in operating assets and liabilities, net of effect of acquisitions:Accounts
receivable, net of allowance(36,916)(103,629)125,291A 184,744A Prepaid expenses and other current assets(34,526)(1,098)(48,155)(14,302)Operating lease right-of-use

assets14,929A 17,817A 28,504A 35,475A Other assets(955)(1,275)(6,097)(425)Accounts payahle(61,556)8,426A (95,645)(28,546)Accrued expenses and other current

liabilities45,821A 52,981A 27,4404 (37,210)Operating lease liabilities(13,940)(17,792)(27,870)(36,342)Other liabilities1,692A 1,213A 4,960A 2,267A Net cash provided by (used in) operating
activities(21,377)(81,936)66,975A 69,166A Cash flows from investing activitiesPurchases of property and equipment(52,062)(36,943)(102,510)(84,573)Purchases of strategic investments(2,000)
(3,290)(2,000)(7,770)Sales of strategic investments1,006A 4€”A 1,015A 4€”A Cash paid for acquisitions, net of cash acquireda€”A (50,254)a€”A (50,254)Purchases of marketable
securities(774,852)(631,218)(1,240,524)(1,505,271)Sales of marketable securities166,557A 85,922A 166,557A 91,273A Maturities of marketable

securities447,153A 611,835A 832,081A 1,536,158A Other(100)(2,451)(100)(124)Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities(214,298)(26,399)(345,481)(20,561)Cash flows from financing
activitiesProceeds from issuance of convertible notes, net of issuance costs740,350A a€”A 740,350A a€”A Purchase of capped calls(68,850)a€”A (68,850)a€”A Proceeds from termination of
capped calls62,683A 4€”A 62,683A 4€”A Proceeds from the exercise of stock options2,425A 382A 2,494A 411A Repurchases of Class A non-voting common

stock(75,955)a€”A (311,069)a€”A Deferred payments for acquisitions(3,695)(242,088)(3,695)(244,116)Repurchases of convertible

notes(418,336)a€”A (859,042)a€”A Other(1,799)a€”A (1,799)a€”A Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities236,823A (241,706)(438,928)(243,705)Change in cash, cash equivalents,
and restricted cash1,148A (350,041)(717,434)(195,100)Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash, beginning of per‘iodl,063,880A 1,578,717A 1,782,462A 1,423,776A Cash, cash equivalents,
and restricted cash, end of period$1,065,028A $1,228,676A $1,065,028A $1,228,676A See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.6Table of ContentsSnap Inc.Consolidated Statements of
Operations(in thousands, except per share amounts)(unaudited)Three Months Ended June 30,Six Months Ended June

30,2024202320242023Revenues1,236,768A $1,067,669A $2,431,541A $2,056,277A Costs and expenses:Cost of revenue588,921A 496,874A 1,163,670A 936,860A Research and
development406,196A 477,663A 855,955A 932,775A Sales and marketing266,320A 280,597A 542,354A 549,030A General and administrative229,306A 216,874A 456,769A 407,215A Total costs
and expenses1,490,743A 1,472,008A 3,018,748A 2,825,880A Operating loss(253,975)(404,339)(587,207)(769,603)Interest income36,462A 43,144A 76,360A 81,092A Interest expense(5,113)
(5,343)(9,856)(11,228)Other income (expense), net(20,792)1,323A (20,873)12,695A Loss before income taxes(243,418)(365,215)(541,576)(687,044)Income tax benefit (expense)(5,202)(12,093)
(12,134)(18,938)Net loss$(248,620)$(377,308)$(553,710)$(705,982)Net loss per share attributable to Class A, Class B, and Class C common stockholders (Note
3):Basic$(0.15)$(0.24)$(0.34)$(0.44)Diluted$(0.15)$(0.24)$(0.34)$(0.44)Weighted average shares used in computation of net loss per
share:Basic1,644,7361,603,1721,646,0641,592,365Diluted1,644,7361,603,1721,646,0641,592,365See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.7Table of ContentsSnap Inc.Consolidated
Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)(in thousands)(unaudited)Three Months Ended June 30,Six Months Ended June 30,2024202320242023Net
loss$(248,620)$(377,308)$(553,710)$(705,982)Other comprehensive income (loss), net of taxUnrealized gain (loss) on marketable securities, net of tax137A (15,579)(3,467)(6,184)Foreign
currency translation1,885A 1,082A (892)3,997A Total other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax2,022A (14,497)(4,359)(2,187)Total comprehensive
loss$(246,598)$(391,805)$(558,069)$(708,169)See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.8Table of ContentsSnap Inc.Consolidated Balance Sheets(in thousands, except par value)June
30,2024December 31,2023 (unaudited) AssetsCurrent assetsCash and cash equivalents$1,060,551A $1,780,400A Marketable securities2,020,723A 1,763,680A Accounts receivable, net of
allowancel,141,849A 1,278,176A Prepaid expenses and other current assets198,074A 153,587A Total current assets4,421,197A 4,975,843A Property and equipment,

net444,485A 410,326A Operating lease right-of-use assets521,101A 516,862A Intangible assets, net112,808A 146,303A Goodwill1,691,317A 1,691,827A Other assets229,131A 226,597A Total
assets$7,420,039A $7,967,758A Liabilities and Stockholdersa€™ EquityCurrent liabilitiesAccounts payable$179,586A $278,961A Operating lease liabilities21,279A 49,321A Accrued expenses
and other current liabilities875,119A 805,836A Convertible senior notes, net36,170A 4€”A Total current liabilities1,112,154A 1,134,118A Long-term convertible senior notes,

net3,602,563A 3,749,400A Operating lease liabilities, noncurrent579,896A 546,279A Other liabilities58,704A 123,849A Total liabilities5,353,317A 5,553,646A Commitments and contingencies
(Note 8)Stockholdersa€™ equityClass A non-voting common stock, $0.00001 par value. 3,000,000 shares authorized, 1,447,952 shares issued, 1,399,665 shares outstanding at JuneA 30, 2024,
and 3,000,000 shares authorized, 1,440,541 shares issued, 1,391,341 shares outstanding at DecemberA 31, 2023.14A 14A Class B voting common stock, $0.00001 par value. 700,000 shares
authorized, 22,528 shares issued and outstanding at JuneA 30, 2024 and DecemberA 31, 2023.4€”A 4€”A Class C voting common stock, $0.00001 par value. 260,888 shares authorized, 231,627
shares issued and outstanding at ]uneA 30, 2024 and DecemberA 31, 2023.2A 2A Treasury stock, at cost. 48,287 and 49,200 shares of Class A non-voting common stock at ]uneA 30, 2024 and
DecemberA 31, 2023, respectively.(470,999)(479,903)Additional paid-in capital15,126,248A 14,613,404A Accumulated deficit(12,591,315)(11,726,536)Accumulated other comprehensive income
(loss)2,772A 7,131A Total stockholdersa€™ equity2,066,722A 2,414,112A Total liabilities and stockholdersa€™ equity$7,420,039A $7,967,758A See Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements.9Table of ContentsSnap Inc.Consolidated Statements of Stockholdersa€™ Equity(in thousands)(unaudited)Three Months Ended June 30,Six Months Ended June
30,2024202320242023Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount Class A non-voting common stockBalance, beginning of

pen’odl,388,965$14A 1,341,056$13A 1,391,341$14A 1,319,930$13A Shares issued in connection with exercise of stock options under stock-based compensation

plans179a€”A 361a€”A 1844€”A 3644€”A Issuance of Class A non-voting common stock for vesting of restricted stock units and restricted stock awards,

net16,875a4€”A 19,7411A 35,1074€”A 40,4861A Conversion of Class B voting common stock to Class A non-voting common stock5a€”A 3444€”A 5a4€”A 3524€”A Repurchases of Class A non-
voting common stock(6,865)a€”A a€”a€”A (27,885)a€”A a€”a€”A Reissuances of Class A non-voting common stock for vesting of restricted stock

units5064€”A 451A 4€”A 9134a€”A 821A 4€”A Balance, end of period1,399,66514A 1,361,95314A 1,399,66514A 1,361,95314A Class B voting common stockBalance, beginning of
period22,52851€"A 22,5224€"A 22,5284a€"A 22,5294€”A Shares issued in connection with exercise of stock options under stock-based compensation

plans5a€”A 3614€”A 5a€”A 362a€”A Conversion of Class B voting common stock to Class A non-voting common stock(5)a€”A (344)a€”A (5)a€”A (352)a€”A Balance, end of

period22,5284a€”A 22,5394€”A 22,528a€”A 22,5394€”A Class C voting common stockBalance, beginning of period231,6272A 231,6272A 231,6272A 231,6272A Balance, end of

period231,6272A 231,6272A 231,6272A 231,6272A Treasury stockBalance, beginning of period48,793(475,939)50,942(496,906)49,200(479,903)51,312(500,514)Repurchases of Class A non-
voting common stock6,865(75,955)a€”a€"A 27,885(311,069)a€”4€"A Retirement of Class A non-voting common stock(6,865)75,955A 4€”a€”A (27,885)311,069A 4€”a€”A Reissuances of Class A
non-voting common stock for vesting of restricted stock units(506)4,940A (451)4,406A (913)8,904A (821)8,014A Balance, end of
period48,287(470,999)50,491(492,500)48,287(470,999)50,491(492,500)Additional paid-in capitalBalance, beginning of

perioda€”14,873,261A 4€”13,620,326A a€"14,613,404A 4€”13,309,828A Stock-based compensation expensea€”259,311A a€”317,942A 4€”523,063A 4€7632,019A Shares issued in connection
with exercise of stock options under stock-based compensation plansa€”2,426A a€”382A a€”2,494A a4€”411A Purchase of capped callsa€”(68,850)a€”a€”A 4€”(68,850)a€”a€”A Termination of
capped callsa€”62,683A a€”a€”A 4€”62,683A a4€”4€”A Reissuances of Class A non-voting common stock for vesting of restricted stock
unitsa€”(4,940)a€”(4,406)a€"(8,904)a€"(8,014)Othera€”2,357A 4€”a€”A 4€”2,358A 4€”4€”A Balance, end of

perioda€”15,126,248A 4€”13,934,244A 4€”15,126,248A 4€713,934,244A Accumulated deficitBalance, beginning of perioda€”(12,266,740)a€”(10,543,331)4€”(11,726,536)a€"(10,214,657)Net
lossa€”(248,620)a€”(377,308)a€”(553,710)a€”(705,982)Retirement of Class A non-voting common stocka€”(75,955)a€”a€”A a€”(311,069)a€”a€”A Balance, end of
perioda€”(12,591,315)a€”(10,920,639)a€"(12,591,315)a€"(10,920,639)Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)Balance, beginning of

perioda€”750A a€”(1,664)a€”7,131A a€”(13,974)Other comprehensive income (loss), net of taxa€”2,022A a€”(14,497)a€”(4,359)a€”(2,187)Balance, end of

perioda€”2,772A 4€”(16,161)a€”2,772A a€”(16,161)Total stockholdersa€™ equity1,702,107$2,066,722A 1,666,610$2,504,960A 1,702,107$2,066,722A 1,666,610$2,504,960A See Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements.10Table of ContentsSnap Inc.Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements1. Description of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting PoliciesSnap Inc.
is a technology company.Snap Inc. (a&€cewe,a€ a€ceour,a€ or a€ceusa€), a Delaware corporation, is headquartered in Santa Monica, California. Our flagship product, Snapchat, is a visual
messaging application that was created to help people communicate through short videos and images called 4€ceSnaps.a€Basis of PresentationThe accompanying unaudited consolidated
financial statements are prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (4€ceGAAPa€) for interim financial information. Our consolidated financial statements
include the accounts of Snap Inc. and our wholly owned subsidiaries. All intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation. Our fiscal year ends on DecemberA 31.
These unaudited interim consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and related notes included in our Annual Report on Form 10-
K for the fiscal year ended DecemberA 31, 2023, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the &€ SECA€) in February 2024 (the 4€ceAnnual Reporta€).In our opinion, the
unaudited interim consolidated financial statements include all adjustments of a normal recurring nature necessary for the fair presentation of our financial position, results of operations, and
cash flows. The results of operations for the three and six months ended JuneA 30, 2024 are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for the year ending DecemberA 31,
2024.There have been no changes to our significant accounting policies described in our Annual Report that have had a material impact on our consolidated financial statements and related
notes.Use of EstimatesThe preparation of our consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts in the consolidated financial statements. Managementa€™s estimates are based on historical information available as of the date of the consolidated financial statements and various
other assumptions that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results could differ from those estimates.Key estimates relate primarily to determining the fair value of assets
and liabilities assumed in business combinations, evaluation of contingencies, uncertain tax positions, and the fair value of strategic investments. On an ongoing basis, management evaluates
our estimates compared to historical experience and trends, which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities.Future Stock Split to be Effected in the
Form of a Stock DividendIn July 2022, our board of directors determined that it was advisable and in our best interest to approve a stock split to be effected in the form of a special dividend of
one share of Class A common stock on each outstanding share of our common stock at a future date (the &€ceFuture Stock Splita€). In connection with the Future Stock Split, we entered into
certain agreements (the &€oeCo-Founder Agreementsa€) with Evan Spiegel and Robert Murphy, our co-founders, and certain of their respective affiliates requiring them, among other things, to
convert shares of Class B common stock and Class C common stock into Class A common stock under certain circumstances. In February 2024, the conditions for the declaration of such
dividends were modified and the Co-Founder Agreements were amended to reflect such modifications. As modified, the Future Stock Split will not be declared and paid until the first business
day following the date on which (i) the average of the volume weighted average price (the & VWAPA€) per share of Class A common stock equals or exceeds $40 per share for 90 consecutive
trading days (the &€0e90-Day VWAP&€) and (ii) the ratio of the 90-Day VWAP to $8.70 equals or exceeds the ratio of the average closing price of the S&P 500 Total Return index for the same 90
trading days for which the 90-Day VWAP was calculated to 8,862.85. If this does not occur by July 21, 2032, the Future Stock Split will not be declared and paid, and the Co-Founder
Agreements will terminate.11Table of ContentsNo adjustments have been made to share or per share amounts for Class A common stock in the accompanying consolidated financial statements
for the effects of the Future Stock Split as these triggering conditions have not been met.2. RevenueWe determine revenue recognition by first identifying the contract or contracts with a
customer, identifying the performance obligations in the contract, determining the transaction price, allocating the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract, and
recognizing revenue when, or as, we satisfy a performance obligation.Revenue is recognized when control of the promised goods or services is transferred to our customers, in an amount that
reflects the consideration we expect to receive in exchange for those goods or services. We determine collectability by performing ongoing credit evaluations and monitoring customer accounts
receivable balances. Sales tax, including value added tax, is excluded from reported revenue.We generate substantially all of our revenues by offering various advertising products on Snapchat,
which include Snap Ads and AR Ads, referred to as advertising revenue. AR Ads include Sponsored Lenses, which allow users to interact with an advertisera€™s brand by enabling branded
augmented reality experiences.The substantial majority of advertising revenue is generated from the display of advertisements on Snapchat through contractual agreements that are either
based on the number of advertising impressions delivered or on a fixed fee basis over a period of time. Revenue related to agreements based on the number of impressions delivered is
recognized when the advertisement is served. Revenue related to fixed fee arrangements is recognized ratably over the service period, typically less than 30 days in duration, and such
arrangements do not contain minimum impression guarantees.In arrangements where another party is involved in providing specified services to a customer, we evaluate whether we are the
principal or agent. In this evaluation, we consider if we obtain control of the specified goods or services before they are transferred to the customer, as well as other indicators such as the party
primarily responsible for fulfillment, inventory risk, and discretion in establishing price. For advertising revenue arrangements where we are not the principal, we recognize revenue on a net
basis. For the periods presented, revenue for arrangements where we are the agent was not material. We also generate revenue from subscriptions and sales of hardware products. Sales of
hardware products are reported net of allowances for returns. For the periods presented, all such revenue was not material.The following table represents our revenue disaggregated by
geography based on the billing address of the customer:Three Months Ended June 30,Six Months Ended June 30,2024202320242023(in thousands)North America (1)

(2)$741,588A $671,071A $1,474,976A $1,303,631A Europe (3)235,186A 179,234A 435,278A 334,849A Rest of world259,994A 217,364A 521,287A 417,797A Total

revenue$1,236,768A $1,067,669A $2,431,541A $2,056,277A (1)North America includes Mexico, the Caribbean, and Central America.(2)United States revenue was $715.4 million and $1,426.2
million for the three and six months ended JuneA 30, 2024, respectively, and $649.8 million and $1,262.2 million for the three and six months ended ]uneA 30, 2023, respectively. (3)Europe
includes Russia and Turkey. Effective March 2022, we halted advertising sales to Russian and Belarusian entities.Deferred revenue related to advertising and subscriptions, included in accrued
expenses and other current liabilities on our consolidated balance sheets, was $108.5 million and $93.7 million as of]uneA 30, 2024 and DecemberA 31, 2023, respectively. We expect a
substantial majority of our deferred revenue to be realized in less than one year.12Table of Contents3. Net Loss per ShareWe compute net loss per share using the two-class method required for
multiple classes of common stock. We have three classes of authorized common stock for which voting rights differ by class.Basic net loss per share is computed by dividing net loss attributable
to each class of stockholders by the weighted-average number of shares of stock outstanding during the period, adjusted for restricted stock awards (a&€ceRSAsa€) for which the risk of forfeiture
has not yet lapsed.For the calculation of diluted net loss per share, net loss per share attributable to common stockholders for basic net loss per share is adjusted by the effect of dilutive
securities, including awards under our equity compensation plans. Diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders is computed by dividing the resulting net loss attributable to
common stockholders by the weighted-average number of fully diluted common shares outstanding. We use the ifa€‘converted method for calculating any potential dilutive effect of the
convertible senior notes due in 2025, 2026, 2027, 2028, and 2030 (collectively, the a€ceConvertible Notesa€) on diluted net loss per share. The Convertible Notes would have a dilutive impact
on net income per share when the average market price of Class A common stock for a given period exceeds the respective conversion price of the Convertible Notes. For the periods presented,



our potentially dilutive shares relating to stock options, restricted stock units (4€0eRSUsa€), RSAs, and Convertible Notes were not included in the computation of diluted net loss per share as
the effect of including these shares in the calculation would have been anti-dilutive.The numerators and denominators of the basic and diluted net loss per share computations for our common
stock are calculated as follows:Three Months Ended June 30,Six Months Ended June 30,2024202320242023(in thousands, except per share data)Class AClass BClass CClass AClass BClass
CClass AClass BClass CClass AClass BClass CNumerator:Net loss$(210,201)$(3,405)$(35,014)$(317,491)$(5,303)$(54,514)$(468,216)$(7,578)$(77,916)$(593,302)$(9,987)$(102,693)Net loss
attributable to common stockholders$(210,201)$(3,405)$(35,014)$(317,491)$(5,303)$(54,514)$(468,216)$(7,578)$(77,916)$(593,302)$(9,987)$(102,693)Denominator:Basic shares:Weighted-
average common shares - Basic1,390,58122,528231,6271,349,01222,533231,6271,391,90922,528231,6271,338,21122,527231,627Diluted shares:Weighted-average common shares -
Diluted1,390,58122,528231,6271,349,01222,533231,6271,391,90922,528231,6271,338,21122,527231,627Net loss per share attributable to common
stockholders:Basic$(0.15)$(0.15)$(0.15)$(0.24)$(0.24)$(0.24)$(0.34)$(0.34)$(0.34)$(0.44)$(0.44)$(0.44)Diluted$(0.15)$(0.15)$(0.15)$(0.24)$(0.24)$(0.24)$(0.34)$(0.34)$(0.34)$(0.44)$(0.44)$(0.¢
following potentially dilutive shares were excluded from the calculation of diluted net loss per share because their effect would have been anti-dilutive for the periods presented:Three and Six
Months Ended June 30,20242023(in thousands)Stock options1,3952,387Unvested RSUs and RSAs143,442148,390Convertible Notes (if-converted)85,94589,37913Table of Contents4.
Stockholdersa€™ Equity We maintain three share-based employee compensation plans: the 2017 Equity Incentive Plan (the 4€0e2017 Plana€), the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan (the 4€0e2014
Plana€), and the 2012 Equity Incentive Plan (the &€0e2012 Plan,a€ and collectively with the 2017 Plan and the 2014 Plan, the d€ceStock Plansa€). The 2017 Plan serves as the successor to the
2014 Plan and 2012 Plan and provides for the grant of incentive stock options to employees, including employees of any parent or subsidiary, and for the grant of nonstatutory stock options,
stock appreciation rights, RSAs, RSUs, performance stock awards, performance cash awards, and other forms of stock awards to employees, directors, and consultants, including employees and
consultants of our affiliates. Restricted Stock Units and Restricted Stock AwardsThe following table summarizes the RSU and RSA activity for the six months ended JuneA 30, 2024:Number of
Class A SharesWeighted-AverageGrant DateFair Value(in thousands, except per share data)Unvested at December 31,

2023157,130$12.82A Granted46,303$14.90A Vested(36,345)$15.34A Forfeited(23,646)$12.14A Unvested at June 30, 2024143,442$12.97A All RSUs and RSAs vest on the satisfaction of a
service-based condition. Total unrecognized compensation cost related to outstanding RSUs and RSAs was $1.5A billion as of JuneA 30, 2024 and is expected to be recognized over a weighted-
average period of 2.0 years. The service condition for RSUs and RSAs is generally satisfied in equal monthly or quarterly installments over three to four years.Stock OptionsThe following table
summarizes the stock option award activity under the Stock Plans for the six months ended JuneA 30, 2024:Number of Class A SharesNumber of Class B SharesWeighted-
AverageExercisePriceWeighted-AverageRemainingContractualTerm(in years)Aggregatelntrinsic Value (1)(in thousands, except per share data)Outstanding at December 31,
20231,6925$14.90A 4.41$5,225A Granteda€”a€”$a€”A 4€”$4€”A Exercised(184)(5)$13.19A 4€”$4€”A Forfeited(113)a€”$12.48A 4€”$4€”A Outstanding at June 30,

20241,3954€”$15.33A 2.61$3,597A (1)The aggregate intrinsic value is calculated as the difference between the exercise price of the underlying stock option awards and the closing market
price of our Class A common stock as of JuneA 30, 2024 and DecemberA 31, 2023.As of JuneA 30, 2024, there was no unrecognized compensation cost related to stock options granted under the
Stock Plans.14Table of ContentsStock-Based Compensation ExpenseTotal stock-based compensation expense by function was as follows:Three Months Ended June 30,Six Months Ended June
30,2024202320242023(in thousands)Cost of revenue$1,260A $2,365A $3,075A $4,250A Research and development171,465A 217,565A 345,984A 437,415A Sales and

marketing52,208A 57,597A 106,864A 112,536A General and administrative34,378A 40,416A 67,140A 78,673A Total$259,311A $317,943A $523,063A $632,874A Stock RepurchasesIn October
2023, our board of directors authorized a stock repurchase program of up to $500.0A million of our Class A common stock. We completed this program in April 2024. For the six months ended
JuneA 30, 2024, we repurchased and retired 27.9A million shares of our Class A common stock for an aggregate of $311.1A million, including costs associated with the repurchases.5. Business
Acquisitions2023 AcquisitionsFor the year ended DecemberA 31, 2023, aggregate purchase consideration for business acquisitions was $73.1A million, which primarily consisted of

$56.3A million in cash and $12.6A million recorded in other liabilities on our consolidated balance sheet. Of the aggregate purchase consideration, $42.8A million was allocated to goodwill and
the remainder primarily to identifiable intangible assets. The acquired assets are expected to enhance our existing platform, technology, and workforce. The goodwill amount represents
synergies related to our existing platform expected to be realized from the business acquisitions and assembled workforce. The associated goodwill and intangible assets are not deductible for
tax purposes.6. Goodwill and Intangible AssetsThe changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the six months ended JuneA 30, 2024 were as follows:Goodwill (in thousands) Balance as of
December 31, 2023$1,691,827A Goodwill acquireda€”A Foreign currency translation(510)Balance as of June 30, 2024$1,691,317A 15Table of ContentsIntangible assets consisted of the
following:As of June 30, 2024Weighted-AverageRemainingUseful Life (Years)GrossCarryingAmountAccumulatedAmortizationNet(in thousands, except years)Domain

names2.5$745A $(580)$165A Technology2.6315,333A (220,870)94,463A Patents8.739,373A (21,193)18,180A Othera€”6,000A (6,000)a€”A Total intangible

assets$361,451A $(248,643)$112,808A As of December 31, 2023Weighted-AverageRemainingUseful Life (Years)GrossCarryingAmountAccumulatedAmortizationNet(in thousands, except
years)Domain names3.0$745A $(546)$199A Technology2.8323,313A (197,608)125,705A Patents8.839,373A (19,099)20,274A Othera€”6,000A (5,875)125A Total intangible

assets$369,431A $(223,128)$146,303A Amortization of intangible assets was $15.0 million and $33.6 million for the three and six months ended JuneA 30, 2024, respectively, and $18.4 million
and $36.2 million for the three and six months ended JuneA 30, 2023, respectively.As of JuneA 30, 2024, the estimated intangible asset amortization expense for the next five years and
thereafter is as follows:EstimatedAmortization(in thousands)Remainder of 2024$26,446A 202541,513A 202620,299A 202712,124A 20284,343A Thereafter8,083A Total$112,808A 7.
DebtConvertible Notes2030 NotesIn May 2024, we entered into a purchase agreement with certain counterparties for the sale of an aggregate of $750.0A million principal amount of
convertible senior notes due in 2030 (the 4€e2030 Notesa€) in a private offering to qualified institutional buyers pursuant to Rule 144A under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the
a€ceSecurities Acta€). The 2030 Notes consisted of a $650.0A million initial placement and an over-allotment option that provided the initial purchasers of the 2030 Notes with the option to
purchase an additional $100.0A million aggregate principal amount of the 16Table of Contents2030 Notes, which was fully exercised. The 2030 Notes were issued pursuant to an indenture
dated MayA 13, 2024. The net proceeds from the issuance of the 2030 Notes were $671.5A million, net of debt issuance costs and cash used to purchase the capped call transactions (4€0e2030
Capped Call Transactionsa€) discussed below. The debt issuance costs are amortized to interest expense using the effective interest rate method.The 2030 Notes are unsecured and
unsubordinated obligations. Interest is payable in cash semi-annually in arrears beginning on NovemberA 1, 2024 at a rate of 0.50% per year. The 2030 Notes mature on MayA 1, 2030 unless
repurchased, redeemed, or converted in accordance with their terms prior to such date.The 2030 Notes are convertible into cash, shares of our Class A common stock, or a combination of cash
and shares of our Class A common stock, at our election, at an initial conversion rate of 45.0846 shares of Class A common stock per $1,000 principal amount of 2030 Notes, which is equivalent
to an initial conversion price of approximately $22.18 per share of our Class A common stock. The conversion rate is subject to customary adjustments for certain events as described in the
indenture governing the 2030 Notes.We may redeem for cash all or any portion of the 2030 Notes, at our option, on or after MayA 5, 2027 if (i) the 2030 Notes are a€cefreely tradablea€ (as
defined in the applicable indenture) and any accrued and unpaid additional interest has been paid as of the date we send the related redemption notice and (ii) the last reported sale price of our
Class A common stock has been at least 130% of the conversion price then in effect for at least 20 trading days at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the 2030 Notes to
be redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any. Holders of the 2030 Notes may convert all or a portion of their 2030 Notes at their option prior to FebruaryA 1, 2030, in multiples of
$1,000 principal amounts, only under the following circumstances:a€¢if the last reported sale price of our Class A common stock for at least 20 trading days (whether or not consecutive) during
the period of 30 consecutive trading days ending on the last trading day of the preceding calendar quarter is greater than or equal to 130% of the applicable conversion price of the 2030 Notes
on each such trading day;a€¢during the five consecutive business day period after any ten consecutive trading day period in which the trading price per $1,000 principal amount of the 2030
Notes for each day of that ten consecutive trading day period was less than 98% of the product of the last reported sale price of our Class A common stock and the applicable conversion rate of
the 2030 Notes on such trading day;a€¢on a notice of redemption, at any time prior to the close of business on the scheduled trading day immediately preceding the redemption date, in which
case we may be required to increase the conversion rate for the 2030 Notes so surrendered for conversion in connection with such redemption notice; ora€¢on the occurrence of specified
corporate events.On or after FebruaryA 1, 2030, the 2030 Notes are convertible at any time until the close of business on the second scheduled trading day immediately preceding the maturity
date.Holders of the 2030 Notes who convert the 2030 Notes in connection with a make-whole fundamental change, as defined in the indenture governing the 2030 Notes, or in connection with a
redemption are entitled to an increase in the conversion rate. Additionally, in the event of a fundamental change, holders of the 2030 Notes may require us to repurchase all or a portion of the
2030 Notes at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount of 2030 Notes, plus any accrued and unpaid interest, if any.We accounted for the issuance of the 2030 Notes as a single liability
measured at its amortized cost, as no other embedded features require bifurcation and recognition as derivatives.2028 NotesIn February 2022, we entered into a purchase agreement for the
sale of an aggregate of $1.50A billion principal amount of convertible senior notes due in 2028 (the 4€022028 Notesa€) in a private offering to qualified institutional buyers pursuant to Rule
144A under the Securities Act. The net proceeds from the issuance of the 2028 Notes were $1.31A billion, net of debt issuance costs and cash used to purchase the capped call transactions (the
4€0e2028 Capped Call Transactionsa€) discussed below. The debt issuance costs are amortized to interest expense using the effective interest rate method.17Table of ContentsThe 2028 Notes
are unsecured and unsubordinated obligations. Interest is payable in cash semi-annually in arrears beginning on SeptemberA 1, 2022 at a rate of 0.125% per year. The 2028 Notes mature on
MarchA 1, 2028 unless repurchased, redeemed, or converted in accordance with their terms prior to such date.The 2028 Notes are convertible into cash, shares of our Class A common stock, or
a combination of cash and shares of our Class A common stock, at our election, at an initial conversion rate of 17.7494 shares of Class A common stock per $1,000 principal amount of 2028
Notes, which is equivalent to an initial conversion price of approximately $56.34 per share of our Class A common stock. We may redeem for cash all or any portion of the 2028 Notes, at our
option, on or after March 5, 2025 based on certain circumstances.2027 NotesIn April 2021, we entered into a purchase agreement for the sale of an aggregate of $1.15A billion principal amount
of convertible senior notes due in 2027 (the 4€e2027 Notesa€) in a private offering to qualified institutional buyers pursuant to Rule 144A under the Securities Act. The net proceeds from the
issuance of the 2027 Notes were $1.05A billion, net of debt issuance costs and cash used to purchase the capped call transactions (the 4€0e2027 Capped Call Transactionsa€) discussed below.
The debt issuance costs are amortized to interest expense using the effective interest rate method.The 2027 Notes are unsecured and unsubordinated obligations which do not bear regular
interest and for which the principal balance will not accrete. The 2027 Notes will mature on MayA 1, 2027 unless repurchased, redeemed, or converted in accordance with their terms prior to
such date.The 2027 Notes are convertible into cash, shares of our Class A common stock, or a combination of cash and shares of our Class A common stock, at our election, at an initial
conversion rate of 11.2042 shares of Class A common stock per $1,000 principal amount of 2027 Notes, which is equivalent to an initial conversion price of approximately $89.25 per share of
our Class A common stock. We may redeem for cash all or portions of the 2027 Notes, at our option, on or after May 5, 2024 based on certain circumstances.2025 NotesIn April 2020, we
entered into a purchase agreement for the sale of an aggregate of $1.0A billion principal amount of convertible senior notes due in 2025 (the 4€ce2025 Notesa€) in a private offering to qualified
institutional buyers pursuant to Rule 144A under the Securities Act. The net proceeds from the issuance of the 2025 Notes were $888.6A million, net of debt issuance costs and cash used to
purchase the capped call transactions (the 4€0e2025 Capped Call Transactionsa€) discussed below. The debt issuance costs are amortized to interest expense using the effective interest rate
method.The 2025 Notes are unsecured and unsubordinated obligations. Interest is payable in cash semi-annually in arrears beginning on NovemberA 1, 2020 at a rate of 0.25% per year. The
2025 Notes mature on MayA 1, 2025 unless repurchased, redeemed, or converted in accordance with their terms prior to such date.The 2025 Notes are convertible into cash, shares of our
Class A common stock, or a combination of cash and shares of our Class A common stock, at our election, at an initial conversion rate of 46.1233 shares of Class A common stock per $1,000
principal amount of 2025 Notes, which is equivalent to an initial conversion price of approximately $21.68 per share of our Class A common stock. We may redeem for cash all or portions of the
2025 Notes, at our option, on or after May 6, 2023 based on certain circumstances.2026 NotesIn August 2019, we entered into a purchase agreement for the sale of an aggregate of

$1.265A billion principal amount of convertible senior notes due in 2026 (the 4€0e2026 Notesa€) in a private offering to qualified institutional buyers pursuant to Rule 144A under the Securities
Act. The net proceeds from the issuance of the 2026 Notes were $1.15A billion, net of debt issuance costs and cash used to purchase the capped call transactions (the 4€0e2026 Capped Call
Transactionsa€) discussed below. The debt issuance costs are amortized to interest expense using the effective interest rate method.The 2026 Notes are unsecured and unsubordinated
obligations. Interest is payable in cash semi-annually in arrears beginning on FebruaryA 1, 2020 at a rate of 0.75% per year. The 2026 Notes mature on AugustA 1, 2026 unless repurchased,
redeemed, or converted in accordance with the terms prior to such date.18Table of ContentsThe 2026 Notes are convertible into cash, shares of our Class A common stock, or a combination of
cash and shares of our Class A common stock, at our election, at an initial conversion rate of 43.8481 shares of Class A common stock per $1,000 principal amount of 2026 Notes, which is
equivalent to an initial conversion price of approximately $22.81 per share of our Class A common stock. We may redeem for cash all or portions of the 2026 Notes, at our option, on or after
August 6, 2023 based on certain circumstances.Note RepurchasesIn February 2024, we entered into various privately negotiated repurchase transactions with certain holders of the 2025 Notes
and 2026 Notes, pursuant to which we agreed to repurchase $100.0A million in aggregate principal of the 2025 Notes and $351.2A million in aggregate principal of the 2026 Notes for a cash
repurchase price of $440.7A million, including associated costs. The February 2024 repurchase transactions resulted in an $8.8A million gain on extinguishment in the first quarter of 2024.In
May 2024, we entered into various privately negotiated repurchase transactions (collectively with the February 2024 repurchase transactions, the &€ceNote Repurchasesa€) with certain holders
of the 2025 Notes and 2026 Notes, pursuant to which we agreed to repurchase $147.9A million in aggregate principal of the 2025 Notes and approximately $237.5A million in aggregate
principal of the 2026 Notes for a cash repurchase price of approximately $418.3A million, including associated costs. The May 2024 repurchase transactions were accounted for as both a debt
modification and a partial debt extinguishment, resulting in a $15.5A million loss on extinguishment during the second quarter of 2024 and $20.9A million in capitalized debt issuance costs
amortized over the term of the 2030 Notes. The capitalized debt issuance costs are primarily related to repurchase premiums and debt issuance costs carried over from the 2025 Notes and
2026 Notes.Gains and losses on extinguishment are included within other income (expense), net on our consolidated statements of operations and included within Other as an adjustment to
reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities in our consolidated statements of cash flows.The Convertible Notes consisted of the following:As of June 30, 2024As of
December 31, 2023PrincipalUnamortized Debt Issuance CostsNet Carrying AmountPrincipalUnamortized Debt Issuance CostsNet Carrying Amount(in thousands)2025

Notes$36,240A $(70)$36,170A $284,105A $(871)$283,234A 2026 Notes249,754A (819)248,935A 838,482A (3,402)835,080A 2027

Notes1,150,000A (6,049)1,143,951A 1,150,000A (7,114)1,142,886A 2028 Notes1,500,000A (10,392)1,489,608A 1,500,000A (11,800)1,488,200A 2030

Notes750,000A (29,931)720,069A a€”A 4€”A a€”A Total$3,685,994A $(47,261)$3,638,733A $3,772,587A $(23,187)$3,749,400A As of JuneA 30, 2024, the debt issuance costs on the 2025 Notes,
2026 Notes, 2027 Notes, 2028 Notes, and 2030 Notes will be amortized over the remaining period of approximately 0.8 years, 2.1 years, 2.8 years, 3.7 years and 5.8 years, respectively. The
following table summarizes interest expense related to the Convertible Notes for the three and six months ended JuneA 30, 2024:Three Months Ended June 30,Six Months Ended June
30,2024202320242023(in thousands)Contractual interest expense$1,703A $2,218A $3,540A $4,437A Amortization of debt issuance costs2,088A 1,720A 3,710A 3,437A Total interest
expense$3,791A $3,938A $7,250A $7,874A 19Table of ContentsAs of JuneA 30, 2024, the if-converted value of the Convertible Notes did not exceed the principal amount. The sale price for
conversion was not satisfied as of JuneA 30, 2024 for the Convertible Notes, and as a result, the Convertible Notes will not be eligible for optional conversion during the third quarter of 2024.
No sinking fund is provided for the Convertible Notes, which means that we are not required to redeem or retire them periodically.Refer to Note 7 in our consolidated financial statements in the
Annual Report for additional details.Capped Call Transactions In connection with the pricing of the 2025 Notes, the 2026 Notes, the 2027 Notes, the 2028 Notes, and the 2030 Notes, we
entered into the 2025 Capped Call Transactions, the 2026 Capped Call Transactions, the 2027 Capped Call Transactions, the 2028 Capped Call Transactions, and the 2030 Capped Call
Transactions (collectively, the 4€ceCapped Call Transactionsa€), respectively, with certain counterparties at a net cost of $100.0A million, $102.1A million, $86.8A million, $177.0A million, and



$68.9A million, respectively. The cap price of the 2025 Capped Call Transactions, the 2026 Capped Call Transactions, the 2027 Capped Call Transactions, the 2028 Capped Call Transactions,
and the 2030 Capped Call Transactions is initially $32.12, $32.58, $121.02, $93.90, and $33.48 per share of our Class A common stock, respectively. All are subject to certain adjustments under
the terms of the Capped Call Transactions. Conditions that cause adjustments to the initial strike price of the Capped Call Transactions mirror conditions that result in corresponding
adjustments for the Convertible Notes.The Capped Call Transactions are intended to reduce potential dilution to holders of our Class A common stock beyond the conversion prices up to the cap
prices on any conversion of the Convertible Notes or offset any cash payments we are required to make in excess of the principal amount, as the case may be, with such reduction or offset
subject to a cap. The cost of the Capped Call Transactions was recorded as a reduction of our additional paid-in capital in our consolidated balance sheets. The Capped Call Transactions will not
be remeasured as long as they continue to meet the conditions for equity classification. In May 2024, we entered into agreements to terminate all of the 2025 Capped Call Transactions, which
resulted in $62.7A million recorded within additional paid-in capital in our consolidated balance sheets.As of JuneA 30, 2024, the remaining Capped Call Transactions were out-of-the-
money.Credit FacilityIn May 2022, we entered into a five-year senior unsecured revolving credit facility (the a€ceCredit Facilitya€) with certain lenders that allows us to borrow up to

$1.05A billion to fund working capital and general corporate-purpose expenditures. Loans bear interest, at our option, at a rate equal to (i) a term secured overnight financing rate
(&€eSOFRa€) plus 0.75% or the base rate, if selected by us, for loans made in U.S. dollars, (ii) the Sterling overnight index average plus 0.7826% for loans made in Sterling, or (iii) foreign
indices as stated in the credit agreement plus 0.75% for loans made in other permitted foreign currencies. The base rate is defined as the greatest of (i) the Wall Street Journal prime rate, (ii)
the greater of the (a) federal funds rate and (b) the overnight bank funding rate, plus 0.50%, and (iii) the applicable SOFR for a period of one month (but not less than zero) plus 1.00. The Credit
Facility also contains an annual commitment fee of 0.10% on the daily undrawn balance of the facility. As of JuneA 30, 2024, we had $67.3A million in the form of outstanding standby letters of
credit, with no amounts outstanding under the Credit Facility.8. Commitments and ContingenciesCommitmentsWe have non-cancelable contractual agreements primarily related to the hosting
of our data processing, storage, and other computing services, as well as lease, content and developer partner, and other commitments. We had $2.2A billion in commitments as of JuneA 30,
2024, primarily due within three years. For additional discussion on leases, see Note 9 to our consolidated financial statements. ContingenciesWe record a loss contingency when it is probable
that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. We also disclose material contingencies when we believe a loss is not probable but reasonably 20Table
of Contentspossible. Accounting for contingencies requires us to use judgment related to both the likelihood of a loss and the estimate of the amount or range of loss. Many legal and tax
contingencies can take years to be resolved.Pending MattersIn November 2021, we and certain of our officers and directors were named as defendants in a securities class action lawsuit
purportedly brought on behalf of purchasers of our Class A common stock, alleging that we and certain of our officers made false or misleading statements and omissions concerning the impact
that Applea€™s App Tracking Transparency framework would have on our business. We believe we have meritorious defenses to this lawsuit and continue to defend the lawsuit vigorously.
Based on the preliminary nature of the proceedings in this case, the outcome of this matter remains uncertain.The outcomes of our legal proceedings are inherently unpredictable, subject to
significant uncertainties, and could be material to our financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows for a particular period. For the pending matter described above, it is not possible
to estimate the reasonably possible loss or range of loss.We are subject to various other legal proceedings and claims in the ordinary course of business, including certain patent, trademark,
privacy, regulatory, and employment matters. Although occasional adverse decisions or settlements may occur, we do not believe that the final disposition of any of our other pending matters
will seriously harm our business, financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows.IndemnificationsIn the ordinary course of business, we may provide indemnifications of varying scope
and terms to customers, vendors, lessors, investors, directors, officers, employees, and other parties with respect to certain matters. Indemnification may include losses from our breach of such
agreements, services we provide, or third-party intellectual property infringement claims. These indemnifications may survive termination of the underlying agreement and the maximum
potential amount of future indemnification payments may not be subject to a cap. We have not incurred material costs to defend lawsuits or settle claims related to these indemnifications as of
JuneA 30, 2024. We believe the fair value of these liabilities is immaterial and accordingly have no liabilities recorded for these agreements at JuneA 30, 2024.9. LeasesWe have non-cancelable
lease agreements for certain of our offices with original lease terms expiring between 2024 and 2042. Total operating lease costs were $25.2 million and $50.7 million for the three and six
months ended JuneA 30, 2024, respectively, and $25.6 million and $50.6 million for the three and six months ended JuneA 30, 2023. The weighted-average remaining lease term (in years) and
discount rate related to our operating leases were as follows:As of June 30, 20242023Weighted-average remaining lease term9.66.3Weighted-average discount rate6.2A %4.9A %21Table of
ContentsThe maturities of our operating lease liabilities as of JuneA 30, 2024 were as follows:Operating Leases (in thousands) Remainder of

2024$35,038A 202575,189A 202690,382A 202783,177A 202882,160A Thereafter461,491A Total lease payments827,437A Less: Imputed interest(226,262)Present value of lease
liabilities$601,175A As of JuneA 30, 2024, we had additional operating leases that have not yet commenced for facilities with lease obligations of $20.5A million. These operating leases will
commence between 2024 and 2026 with lease terms of approximately 6 years to 9 years.Cash payments included in the measurement of our operating lease liabilities were $28.9 million and
$57.1 million for the three and six months ended JuneA 30, 2024, respectively, and $24.2 million and $48.4 million for the three and six months ended JuneA 30, 2023.Lease liabilities arising
from obtaining operating lease right-of-use assets were $24.7 million and $35.5 million for the three and six months ended JuneA 30, 2024, respectively, and $12.5 million and $14.2 million for
the three and six months ended JuneA 30, 2023.10. Strategic InvestmentsWe hold strategic investments primarily in privately held companies, which consist of equity securities, and to a lesser
extent, debt securities. These strategic investments are primarily recorded at fair value on a non-recurring basis. The estimation of fair value for these privately held strategic investments
requires the use of significant unobservable inputs, such as the issuance of new equity by the company, and as a result, we deem these assets as Level 3 financial instruments within the fair
value measurement framework.The following table summarizes our strategic investments as of]uneA 30, 2024 and DecemberA 31, 2023:As ofJune 30, 2024As ofDecember 31, 2023(in
thousands)Initial cost$107,218A $106,368A Cumulative upward adjustments147,591A 147,317A Cumulative downward adjustments, including impairments(65,306)(58,357)Carrying
value$189,503A $195,328A 22Table of ContentsGains and losses recognized during the periods presented were as follows:Three Months Ended June 30,Six Months Ended June
30,2024202320242023(in thousands) Gains (losses) recognized on strategic investments sold during the period, net$a€”A $a€”A $a€”A $a€”A Unrealized gains on strategic investments still
held at the reporting date92A 476A 274A 1,555A Unrealized losses, including impairments, on strategic investments still held at the reporting date(650)(329)(7,099)(1,304)Gains (losses) on
strategic investments, net$(558)$147A $(6,825)$251A Gains and losses on all strategic investments are included within other income (expense), net on our consolidated statements of
operations and included as an adjustment to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities in our consolidated statements of cash flows. Strategic investments are
included within other assets on our consolidated balance sheets.11. Fair Value MeasurementsAssets and liabilities measured at fair value are classified into the following categories:a€¢Level 1:
Quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.a€¢Level 2: Observable market-based inputs or unobservable inputs that are corroborated by market data.a€¢Level 3:
Unobservable inputs reflecting the reporting entitya€™s own assumptions or external inputs from inactive markets.We classify our cash equivalents and marketable securities within Level 1 or
Level 2 because we use quoted market prices or alternative pricing sources and models utilizing observable market-based inputs to determine their fair value.The following tables set forth our
financial assets that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis, excluding publicly traded equity securities, as of JuneA 30, 2024 and DecemberA 31, 2023:June 30, 2024Cost orAmortized
CostGrossUnrealizedGainsGrossUnrealizedLossesTotal EstimatedFair Value(in thousands)Cash$1,060,610A $4€”A $(59)$1,060,551A Level 1 securities:U.S. government

securities1,744,110A 57A (5,824)1,738,343A U.S. government agency securities27,501A 4€”A (51)27,450A Level 2 securities:Corporate debt securities178,261A 6A (300)177,967A Commercial
paper68,098A &4€”A a€”A 68,098A Total$3,078,580A $63A $(6,234)$3,072,409A 23Table of ContentsDecember 31, 2023Cost orAmortized CostGrossUnrealizedGainsGrossUnrealizedLossesTotal
EstimatedFair Value(in thousands)Cash$1,780,402A $a€”A $4€”A $1,780,402A Level 1 securities:U.S. government securities1,295,918A 894A (3,919)1,292,893A U.S. government agency
securities138,420A 31A (188)138,263A Level 2 securities:Corporate debt securities234,336A 577A (99)234,814A Commercial paper65,380A 4€”A 4€”A 65,380A Certificates of

deposit18,725A a4€”A a€”A 18,725A Total$3,533,181A $1,502A $(4,206)$3,530,477A Gross unrealized losses on marketable debt securities were not material for the three and six months ended
JuneA 30, 2024 and 2023. As of JuneA 30, 2024, we considered any decreases in fair value on our marketable debt securities to be driven by factors other than credit risk, including market risk.
As of JuneA 30, 2024, $814.2A million of our total $2.0A billion in marketable debt securities have contractual maturities between one and five years. All other marketable debt securities have
contractual maturities less than one year.We hold investments in publicly traded companies with an aggregate carrying value of $8.9A million and $13.6A million as of JuneA 30, 2024 and
DecemberA 31, 2023, respectively, recorded as marketable securities. We classify these publicly traded equity securities within Level 1 because we use quoted market prices to determine their
fair value. Gains and losses recognized during the periods presented, which are included within other income (expense), net on our consolidated statements of operations, were as follows:Three
Months Ended June 30,Six Months Ended June 30,2024202320242023(in thousands) Gains (losses) recognized on publicly traded equity securities sold during the period,

net$a€”A $(1,496)$a€”A $8,338A Unrealized gains (losses) on publicly traded equity securities still held at the reporting date, net(2,019)5, 778A (4,740)6,675A Gains (losses) on publicly traded
equity securities, net$(2,019)$4,282A $(4,740)$15,013A We carry the Convertible Notes at face value less the unamortized debt issuance costs on our consolidated balance sheets and present
the fair value for disclosure purposes only. As of JuneA 30, 2024, the fair value of the 2025 Notes, the 2026 Notes, the 2027 Notes, the 2028 Notes, and the 2030 Notes was $38.1A million,
$266.6A million, $961.7A million, $1,198.7A million, and $771.4A million, respectively. As of DecemberA 31, 2023, the fair value of the 2025 Notes, the 2026 Notes, the 2027 Notes, and the
2028 Notes was $300.9A million, $893.2A million, $921.5A million, and $1,181.7A million, respectively. The estimated fair value of the Convertible Notes, which are classified as Level 2
financial instruments, was determined based on the estimated or actual bid prices of the Convertible Notes in an over-the-counter market on the last business day of the period.12. Income
TaxesOur tax provision for interim periods is determined using an estimate of our annual effective tax rate, adjusted for discrete items arising in that quarter. Our effective tax rate differs from
the U.S. statutory tax rate primarily due to valuation allowances on our deferred tax assets as it is more likely than not that some or all of our deferred tax assets will not be realized. Income tax
expense was $5.2A million and $12.1A million for the three and six months ended JuneA 30, 2024, respectively, and $12.1A million and $18.9A million for the three and six months ended

JuneA 30, 2023.24Table of Contents13. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)The table below presents the changes in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (€ AOCIa€)
by component and the reclassifications out of AOCI:Changes in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) by Component MarketableSecuritiesForeign CurrencyTranslationTotal (in
thousands) Balance at December 31, 2023$(2,860)$9,991A $7,131A Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications(3,547)(892)(4,439)Amounts reclassified from AOCI

(1)80A a€”A 80A Net current period other comprehensive income (loss)(3,467)(892)(4,359)Balance at June 30, 2024$(6,327)$9,099A $2,772A (1)Realized gains and losses on marketable
securities are reclassified from AOCI into other income (expense), net in our consolidated statements of operations.14. Long-lived AssetsThe following table lists long-lived assets by geographic
area, which includes property and equipment, net and operating lease right-of-use assets:As of JuneA 30, 2024As of DecemberA 31, 2023(in thousands)United

States$649,690A $646,546A United Kingdom244,358A 218,326A Rest of world (1)71,538A 62,316A Total long-lived assets, net$965,586A $927,188A (1)No individual country other than the
United States and the United Kingdom exceeded 10% of our total long-lived assets for any period presented.15. Restructuring2024 Restructuringln the first quarter of 2024, we announced a
plan to reduce hierarchy and concentrate our team members in major hub locations to support in-person collaboration, resulting in the reduction of our global headcount by approximately
10%.Restructuring charges associated with the 2024 restructuring were immaterial for the three months ended JuneA 30, 2024. The following table summarizes the 2024 restructuring charges
included in our consolidated statement of operations for the six months ended JuneA 30, 2024:25Table of ContentsSix Months Ended June 30, 2024Severance and Related Charges (1)Stock-
Based Compensation ExpenseOther (2)Total(in thousands)Cost of revenue$932A $189A $a€”A $1,121A Research and development30,845A 4,801A 3,201A 38,847A Sales and
marketing15,755A 4,176A 4€”A 19,931A General and administrative7,786A 236A 2,236A 10,258A Total$55,318A $9,402A $5,437A $70,157A (1)Severance and related charges include cash
severance expenses and other termination benefits. The majority of cash paid for the restructuring was related to severance and benefits.(2)Other primarily includes intangible asset
amortization and depreciation expense.We substantially completed the 2024 restructuring in the second quarter of 2024. The liabilities related to the 2024 restructuring were immaterial as of
JuneA 30, 2024.26Table of Contentsitem 2. Managementa€™s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of OperationsThe following discussion and analysis of our financial
condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and
with our audited consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report. In addition to historical consolidated financial information, the following discussion contains forward-looking
statements that reflect our plans, estimates, and beliefs that involve significant risks and uncertainties. Our actual results could differ materially from those discussed in the forward-looking
statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to those differences include those discussed below and elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, particularly in &€ceRisk Factors,a€
a€meNote Regarding Forward-Looking Statements,a€ and a€eNote Regarding User Metrics and Other Data.a€Overview of Second Quarter 2024 ResultsOur key user metrics and financial
results for the three months ended JuneA 30, 2024 were as follows:User Metricsa€¢Daily Active Users, or DAUS, increased 9% year-over-year to 432 million.A€¢Average revenue per user, or
ARPU, was $2.86, compared to $2.69 in the prior year.Financial Results a€¢Revenue was $1,236.8A million, compared to $1,067.7A million in the prior year, an increase of 16% year-over-
year.a€¢Total costs and expenses were $1,490.7 million, compared to $1,472.0A million in the prior year.a€¢Net loss was $248.6 million, compared to $377.3A million in the prior year. a€
¢Diluted net loss per share was $(0.15), compared to $(0.24) in the prior year.a€¢Adjusted EBITDA was $55.0A million, compared to $(38.5)A million in the prior year.a€¢Cash used in operating
activities was $21.4 million, compared to $81.9 million in the prior year.a€¢Free Cash Flow was $(73.4) million, compared to $(1 18.9)A million in the prior year.a€¢Cash, cash equivalents, and
marketable securities were $3.1 billion as of JuneA 30, 2024.Business and Macroeconomic ConditionsWe periodically make changes to our business and priorities. Recently, we conducted a
strategic reprioritization to realign our focus on three strategic priorities: growing our community and deepening their engagement with our products, accelerating and diversifying our revenue
growth, and investing in the future of augmented reality. We believe that we can be successful in our current operating environment, with various macroeconomic factors impacting our
business, by rigorously prioritizing our investments and continuing to engage our community with our products while driving success for our advertising partners. However, the impact of our
strategic reprioritization and recent restructurings is difficult to predict.Macroeconomic factors such as labor shortages and disruptions, supply chain disruptions, inflation, changes in interest
and foreign currency exchange rates, banking instability, and other risks and uncertainties continue to cause logistical challenges, increased input costs, and inventory constraints for our
advertisers, which in turn may cause our advertisers to halt or decrease advertising spending on our platform. Such macroeconomic factors may also negatively impact, in the short-term or
long-term, the global economy, advertising ecosystem, our customers and their budgets with us, user engagement, other user metrics, and our business, financial condition, and results of
operations. In addition, competition for advertising dollars has increased and demand growth on our advertising platform has slowed. We expect to continue to experience increased
competition, which may result in reduced advertising demand, and could adversely affect our revenue growth, pricing, business, financial condition, and results of operations. Demand has also
been disrupted by recent changes we made to our advertising platform, and, in the future, we may continue to experience adverse impacts to our revenue growth as a result of these
changes.27Table of ContentsOur revenue, particularly in North America, has further been impacted by platform policy changes and restrictions that affected our targeting, measurement, and
optimization capabilities, and in turn our ability to measure the effectiveness of advertisements on our services. This has resulted in, and in the future is likely to continue to result in, reduced
advertising revenue, especially if we are unable to mitigate these developments.We compete with other companies in every aspect of our business. We must compete effectively for users and
advertisers to grow our business and increase our revenue. These and other risks and uncertainties are further described in the section titled a€ceRisk Factorsa€ in Part II, Item 1A of this
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.Trends in User MetricsWe define a DAU as a registered and logged-in Snapchat user who visits Snapchat through our applications or websites at least once
during a defined 24-hour period. We define ARPU as quarterly revenue divided by the average DAUs. We assess the health of our business by measuring DAUs and ARPU because we believe
that these metrics are important ways for both management and investors to understand engagement and monitor the performance of our platform. We also measure ARPU because we believe



that this metric helps our management and investors to assess the extent to which we are monetizing our service.User EngagementWe calculate average DAUs for a particular quarter by
adding the number of DAUs on each day of that quarter and dividing that sum by the number of days in that quarter. DAUs are broken out by geography because markets have different
characteristics. We had 432A million DAUs on average in the second quarter of 2024, an increase of 36A million, or 9%, from the second quarter of 2023. Quarterly Average Daily Active Users
(1)(in millions)GlobalYoY growth:18%19%17%15%14%12%10%10%9%(1) A A A A Numbers may not foot due to rounding.28Table of ContentsNorth America (2)Europe (3)YoY
growth:4%4%3%3%2%1%A€"%(1)%Aa€"%10%11%12%10%9%7%4%4%3%(2)A A A A North America includes Mexico, the Caribbean, and Central America.(3)A A A A Europe includes Russia and
Turkey. Rest of WorldYoY growth:35%34%31%27%25%21%19%19%16%MonetizationWe recorded revenue of $1,236.8 million for the three months ended JuneA 30, 2024, compared to revenue
of $1,067.7A million for the same period in 2023, an increase of 16% year-over-year. We monetize our business primarily through advertising. Our advertising products include Snap Ads and AR
Ads.We measure our business using ARPU because it helps us understand the rate at which we are monetizing our daily user base. ARPU was $2.86 in the second quarter of 2024, compared to
$2.69 in the second quarter of 2023. For purposes of calculating ARPU, revenue by user geography is apportioned to each region based on a determination of the geographic location in which
advertising impressions are delivered, as this approximates revenue based on user activity. This differs from the presentation of our revenue by geography in the notes to our consolidated
financial statements, where revenue is based on the billing address of the advertising customer.29Table of ContentsQuarterly Average Revenue per UserGlobalNorth America (1)Europe (2)
(1)North America includes Mexico, the Caribbean, and Central America.(2)Europe includes Russia and Turkey. Effective March 2022, we halted advertising sales to Russian and Belarusian
entities.30Table of ContentsRest of WorldResults of OperationsThe following table summarizes certain selected historical financial results:Three Months Ended June 30,Six Months Ended June
30,2024202320242023(in thousands) Revenue$1,236,768A $1,067,669A $2,431,541A $2,056,277A Operating loss$(253,975)$(404,339)$(587,207)$(769,603)Net
loss$(248,620)$(377,308)$(553,710)$(705,982)Adjusted EBITDA (1)$54,977A $(38,479)$100,636A $(37,666)(1)For information on how we define and calculate Adjusted EBITDA, and a
reconciliation of net loss to Adjusted EBITDA, see a€ceNon-GAAP Financial Measures.a€Components of Results of OperationsRevenueWe generate substantially all of our revenue through the
sale of our advertising products, which primarily include Snap Ads and AR Ads, referred to as advertising revenue. Snap Ads may be subject to revenue sharing arrangements between us and
the content partner. We also generate revenue from subscriptions and sales of hardware products. Sales of hardware products are reported net of allowances for returns.Cost of RevenueCost of
revenue consists of payments to third-party infrastructure partners for hosting our products, which include expenses related to storage, computing, and bandwidth costs, and payments for
content, developer, and advertiser partner costs. In addition, cost of revenue includes third-party selling costs and personnel-related costs, including salaries, benefits, and stock-based
compensation expenses. Cost of revenue also includes facilities and other supporting overhead costs, including depreciation and amortization, and inventory costs.Research and Development
ExpensesResearch and development expenses consist primarily of personnel-related costs, including salaries, benefits, and stock-based compensation expense for our engineers, designers, and
other employees engaged in the research and development of our products. In addition, research and development expenses include facilities and other supporting overhead costs, including
depreciation and amortization. Research and development costs are expensed as incurred.31Table of ContentsSales and Marketing ExpensesSales and marketing expenses consist primarily of
personnel-related costs, including salaries, benefits, commissions, and stock-based compensation expense for our employees engaged in sales and sales support, business development, media,
marketing, corporate partnerships, and customer service functions. Sales and marketing expenses also include costs incurred for advertising, market research, tradeshows, branding,
marketing, promotional expense, and public relations, as well as facilities and other supporting overhead costs, including depreciation and amortization.General and Administrative
ExpensesGeneral and administrative expenses consist primarily of personnel-related costs, including salaries, benefits, and stock-based compensation expense for our finance, legal, information
technology, human resources, and other administrative teams. General and administrative expenses also include facilities and supporting overhead costs, including depreciation and
amortization, and external professional services.Interest Incomelnterest income consists primarily of interest earned on our cash, cash equivalents, and marketable securities.Interest
Expenselnterest expense consists primarily of interest expense associated with convertible notes and commitment fees related to our revolving credit facility.Other Income (Expense), NetOther
income (expense), net primarily consists of gains and losses on strategic investments, marketable securities, and foreign currency transactions.Income Tax Benefit (Expense)We are subject to
income taxes in the United States and numerous foreign jurisdictions. Our effective tax rates will vary depending on changes in the valuation of our deferred tax assets and liabilities, the
relative proportion of foreign to domestic income, use of tax credits, and changes in tax laws.Adjusted EBITDAWe define Adjusted EBITDA as net income (loss), excluding interest income;
interest expense; other income (expense), net; income tax benefit (expense); depreciation and amortization; stock-based compensation expense; payroll and other tax expense related to stock-
based compensation; and certain other items impacting net income (loss) from time to time. We consider the exclusion of these items in calculating Adjusted EBITDA to provide a useful measure
for period-to-period comparisons of our business and for investors and others to evaluate our operating results in the same manner as does our management. See &€eNon-GAAP Financial
Measuresa€ for additional information and a reconciliation of net loss to Adjusted EBITDA.32Table of ContentsDiscussion of Results of OperationsThe following table sets forth our consolidated
statements of operations data:Three Months Ended June 30,Six Months Ended June 30,2024202320242023(in thousands) Consolidated Statements of Operations

Data:Revenue$1,236,768A $1,067,669A $2,431,541A $2,056,277A Costs and expenses (1) (2):Cost of revenue588,921A 496,874A 1,163,670A 936,860A Research and

development406,196A 477,663A 855,955A 932,775A Sales and marketing266,320A 280,597A 542,354A 549,030A General and administrative229,306A 216,874A 456,769A 407,215A Total costs
and expenses1,490,743A 1,472,008A 3,018,748A 2,825,880A Operating loss(253,975)(404,339)(587,207)(769,603)Interest income36,462A 43,144A 76,360A 81,092A Interest expense(5,113)
(5,343)(9,856)(11,228)Other income (expense), net(20,792)1,323A (20,873)12,695A Loss before income taxes(243,418)(365,215)(541,576)(687,044)Income tax benefit (expense)(5,202)(12,093)
(12,134)(18,938)Net loss$(248,620)$(377,308)$(553,710)$(705,982)Adjusted EBITDA (3)$54,977A $(38,479)$100,636A $(37,666)(1)Stock-based compensation expense included in the above
line items:Three Months Ended June 30,Six Months Ended June 30,2024202320242023(in thousands)Stock-based compensation expense:Cost of

revenue$1,260A $2,365A $3,075A $4,250A Research and development171,465A 217,565A 345,984A 437,415A Sales and marketing52,208A 57,597A 106,864A 112,536A General and
administrative34,378A 40,416A 67,140A 78,673A Total$259,311A $317,943A $523,063A $632,874A (2)Depreciation and amortization expense included in the above line items:Three Months
Ended June 30,Six Months Ended June 30,2024202320242023(in thousands)Depreciation and amortization expense:Cost of revenue$1,872A $3,170A $4,022A $6,396A Research and
development22,909A 24,847A 50,507A 48,986A Sales and marketing5,084A 5,605A 9,661A 10,678A General and

administrative8,065A 6,066A 15,453A 8,848A Total$37,930A $39,688A $79,643A $74,908A (3)See 4€ceNon-GAAP Financial Measuresa€ for more information and for a reconciliation of Adjusted
EBITDA to net loss, the most directly comparable financial measure calculated and presented in accordance with GAAP.33Table of ContentsThe following table sets forth the components of our
consolidated statements of operations data for each of the periods presented as a percentage of revenue:Three Months Ended June 30,Six Months Ended June
30,2024202320242023Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:Revenue100A %100A %100A %100A %Costs and expenses:Cost of revenue48A 47A 48A 45A Research and

development33A 45A 35A 45A Sales and marketing22A 26A 22A 27A General and administrative18A 20A 19A 20A Total costs and expenses121A 138A 124A 137A Operating loss(21)(38)(24)
(37)Interest income3A 4A 3A 4A Interest expensea€”A a€”A a€”A (1)Other income (expense), net(2)a€”A (1)1A Loss before income taxes(20)(34)(22)(33)Income tax benefit (expense)a€”A (1)(1)
(1)Net 10ss(20)%(35)%(23)%(34)%Three and Six Months Ended JuneA 30, 2024 and 2023RevenueThree Months Ended June 30,Six Months Ended June 30,2024202320242023(dollars in
thousands) Revenue$1,236,768A $1,067,669A $2,431,541A $2,056,277A Revenue as a dollar change$169,099A $375,264A Revenue as a percentage changel6A %18A %Revenue for the three
and six months ended JuneA 30, 2024 increased $169.1 million and $375.3 million compared to the same periods in 2023. The increase in both periods was primarily due to a combination of
growth in advertisers, optimization efficiencies, and improvement in auction-based advertising demand. The increase in both periods was also driven by higher subscription revenue due to
growth in the number of subscribers.Cost of RevenueThree Months Ended June 30,Six Months Ended June 30,2024202320242023(dollars in thousands) Cost of

Revenue$588,921A $496,874A $1,163,670A $936,860A Cost of Revenue as a dollar changeA $92,047A $226,810A Cost of Revenue as a percentage change19A %24A %Cost of revenue for the
three and six months ended JuneA 30, 2024 increased $92.0 million and $226.8 million compared to the same periods in 2023. The increase in both periods was primarily driven by increased
infrastructure costs attributable to DAU growth and investments in machine learning and Al, partially offset by improvements to our cloud infrastructure unit costs resulting from engineering
efficiencies and pricing improvements.34Table of ContentsResearch and Development ExpensesThree Months Ended June 30,Six Months Ended June 30,2024202320242023(dollars in
thousands) Research and Development Expenses$406,196A $477,663A $855,955A $932,775A Research and Development Expenses as a dollar changeA $(71,467)$(76,820)Research and
Development Expenses as a percentage change(15)%(8)%Research and development expenses for the three and six months ended JuneA 30, 2024 decreased $71.5A million and $76.8A million
compared to the same periods in 2023. The decrease in both periods was primarily driven by lower cash and stock-based compensation expenses due to lower headcount compared to the prior
period, partially offset by $38.8A million relating to restructuring charges primarily recognized in the first quarter of 2024.Sales and Marketing ExpensesThree Months Ended June 30,Six
Months Ended June 30,2024202320242023(dollars in thousands) Sales and Marketing Expenses$266,320A $280,597A $542,354A $549,030A Sales and Marketing Expenses as a dollar
change$(14,277)$(6,676)Sales and Marketing Expenses as a percentage change(5)%(1)%Sales and marketing expenses for the three and six months ended JuneA 30, 2024 decreased $14.3
million and $6.7A million compared to the same periods in 2023. The decrease in both periods was primarily driven by lower cash and stock-based compensation expenses due to lower
headcount compared to the prior period, partially offset by $19.9 million relating to restructuring charges primarily recognized in the first quarter of 2024.General and Administrative
ExpensesThree Months Ended June 30,Six Months Ended June 30,2024202320242023(dollars in thousands) General and Administrative

Expenses$229,306A $216,874A $456,769A $407,215A General and Administrative Expenses as a dollar change$12,432A $49,554A General and Administrative Expenses as a percentage
change6A %12A %General and administrative expenses for the three and six months ended JuneA 30, 2024 increased $12.4A million and $49.6A million compared to the same periods in 2023.
The increase in both periods was primarily driven by higher spend on external professional services, increased facilities costs associated with return to office initiatives, and $10.3A million
relating to restructuring charges primarily recognized in the first quarter of 2024, partially offset by lower stock-based compensation expenses. The increase was also driven by an $8.2 million
charge in the second quarter of 2024 related to the digital services tax that was implemented by the Canadian government, the majority of which is attributable to prior periods due to the tax
applying retroactively to January 1, 2022.35Table of ContentsInterest IncomeThree Months Ended June 30,Six Months Ended June 30,2024202320242023(dollars in thousands) Interest
Income$36,462A $43,144A $76,360A $81,092A Interest Income as a dollar changeA $(6,682)$(4,732)Interest Income as a percentage change(15)%(6)%Interest income for the three and six
months ended JuneA 30, 2024 decreased $6.7A million and $4.7A million compared to the same periods in 2023. The decrease in both periods was primarily driven by lower overall invested
cash balances, partially offset by higher interest rates on U.S. government-backed securities.Interest ExpenseThree Months Ended June 30,Six Months Ended June
30,2024202320242023(dollars in thousands) Interest Expense$(5,113)$(5, 343)$(9 856)$(11,228)Interest Expense as a dollar change$230A $1,372A Interest Expense as a percentage
change(4)%(12)%Interest expense for the three and six months ended JuneA 30, 2024 decreased $0.2A million and $1.4A million compared to the same periods in 2023. Interest expense for all
periods consists primarily of amortization of debt issuance costs and contractual interest expense.Other Income (Expense), NetThree Months Ended June 30,Six Months Ended June
30,2024202320242023(dollars in thousands) (NM = Not Meaningful)Other Income (Expense), Net$(20,792)$1,323A $(20,873)$12,695A Other Income (Expense), Net as a dollar
change$(22,115)$(33,568)Other Income (Expense), Net as a percentage changeNM(264)%Other expense, net for the three months ended JuneA 30, 2024 was primarily a result of a

$15.5A million loss on extinguishment associated with the Note Repurchases and $2.0A million in unrealized losses on publicly traded securities classified as marketable securities. Other
income, net for the three months ended JuneA 30, 2023 was not material.Other expense, net for the six months ended JuneA 30, 2024 was primarily a result of a $6. 7A million net loss on
extinguishment associated with the Note Repurchases, $4.7A million in unrealized losses on publicly traded securities classified as marketable securities, and $6.8A million in net losses on
strategic investments. Other income, net for the six months ended JuneA 30, 2023 was primarily a result of $15.0A million in total gains on publicly traded securities classified as marketable
securities.36Table of ContentsIncome Tax Benefit (Expense)Three Months Ended June 30,Six Months Ended June 30,2024202320242023(dollars in thousands) Income Tax Benefit
(Expense)$(5,202)$(12,093)$(12,134)$(18,938)Income Tax Benefit (Expense) as a dollar changeA $6,891A $6,804A Income Tax Benefit (Expense) as a percentage change57A %36A %Effective
Tax Rate(2.1)%(3.3)%(2.2)%(2.8)%Income tax expense for the three and six months ended JuneA 30, 2024 was $5.2 million and $12.1 million, respectively, compared to an income tax expense
of $12.1 million and $18.9 million for the same periods in 2023. The prior periodsa€™ higher tax expense was primarily due to the integration of acquired technologies from business
acquisitions. Our effective tax rate differs from the U.S. statutory tax rate primarily due to valuation allowances on our deferred tax assets as it is more likely than not that some or all of our
deferred tax assets will not be realized.Net Loss and Adjusted EBITDAThree Months Ended June 30,Six Months Ended June 30,2024202320242023(dollars in thousands) Net
Loss$(248,620)$(377,308)$(553,710)$(705,982)Net Loss as a dollar change$128,688A $152,272A Net Loss as a percentage change34A %22A %Adjusted

EBITDA$54,977A $(38,479)$100,636A $(37,666)Adjusted EBITDA as a dollar change$93,456A $138,302A Adjusted EBITDA as a percentage changeZ43A %367A %Net loss for the three and six
months ended JuneA 30, 2024 was $248.6A million and $553.7A million, compared to $377.3A million and $706.0A million for the same periods in 2023. The decrease in net loss for both periods
was primarily the result of the changes in revenues and expenses discussed above.Adjusted EBITDA for the three and six months ended JuneA 30, 2024 was $55.0A million and $100.6A million,
compared to $(38.5)A million and $(37.7)A million for the same periods in 2023. The increase for both periods was primarily attributable to increased revenue, partially offset by higher cost of
revenue and general and administrative expenses.For a discussion of the limitations associated with using Adjusted EBITDA rather than GAAP measures and a reconciliation of this measure to
net loss, see 4€ceNon-GAAP Financial Measures.&€Liquidity and Capital ResourcesCapital ResourcesCash, cash equivalents, and marketable securities were $3.1A billion as of JuneA 30, 2024,
primarily consisting of cash on deposit with banks and highly liquid investments in U.S. government and agency securities, publicly traded equity securities, corporate debt securities,
certificates of deposit, and commercial paper. Our primary source of liquidity is cash generated through financing activities. Our primary uses of cash include operating costs such as personnel-
related costs and the infrastructure costs of the Snapchat application, facility-related capital spending, and acquisitions and investments. There are no known material subsequent events that
could have a material impact on our cash or liquidity. We may contemplate and engage in merger and acquisition activity that could materially impact our liquidity and capital resource
position.37Table of ContentsAs of JuneA 30, 2024, approximately 3.2% of our cash, cash equivalents, and marketable securities was held outside the United States. These amounts were
primarily held in the United Kingdom and are utilized to fund our foreign operations. Cash held outside the United States may be repatriated, subject to certain limitations, and would be
available to be used to fund our domestic operations. However, repatriation of funds may result in additional tax liabilities. We believe our existing cash balance in the United States is sufficient
to fund our working capital needs.In May 2022, we entered into a five-year senior unsecured revolving credit facility, or Credit Facility, with certain lenders that allows us to borrow up to
$1.05A billion to fund working capital and general corporate-purpose expenditures. Loans bear interest, at our option, at a rate equal to (i) a term secured overnight financing rate, or SOFR,
plus 0.75% or the base rate, if selected by us, for loans made in U.S. dollars, (ii) the Sterling overnight index average plus 0.7826% for loans made in Sterling, or (iii) foreign indices as stated in
the credit agreement plus 0.75% for loans made in other permitted foreign currencies. The base rate is defined as the greatest of (i) the Wall Street Journal prime rate, (ii) the greater of the (a)
federal funds rate and (b) the overnight bank funding rate, plus 0.50%, and (iii) the applicable SOFR for a period of one month (but not less than zero) plus 1.00. The Credit Facility also contains
an annual commitment fee of 0.10% on the daily undrawn balance of the facility. As of JuneA 30, 2024, we had $67.3A million in the form of outstanding standby letters of credit, with no
amounts outstanding under the Credit Facility.Material Cash RequirementsConvertible NotesIn May 2024, we entered into a purchase agreement for the sale of an aggregate of $750.0A million
principal amount of convertible senior notes due in 2030. The net proceeds from the issuance of the 2030 Notes were $671.5A million, net of debt issuance costs and the 2030 Capped Call
Transactions discussed further in Note 7 in our consolidated financial statements. The 2030 Notes mature on MayA 1, 2030 unless repurchased, redeemed, or converted in accordance with



their terms prior to such date. The sale price requirement for conversion was not satisfied as of JuneA 30, 2024 and as a result, the 2030 Notes will not be eligible for optional conversion during
the third quarter of 2024. As of JuneA 30, 2024, the outstanding principal of the 2030 Notes was $750.0A million.In February 2022, we entered into a purchase agreement for the sale of an
aggregate of $1.50A billion principal amount of convertible senior notes due in 2028. The net proceeds from the issuance of the 2028 Notes were $1.31A billion, net of debt issuance costs and
the 2028 Capped Call Transactions discussed further in Note 7 in our consolidated financial statements. The 2028 Notes mature on March 1, 2028 unless repurchased, redeemed, or converted
in accordance with their terms prior to such date. The sale price requirement for conversion was not satisfied as of JuneA 30, 2024 and as a result, the 2028 Notes will not be eligible for
optional conversion during the third quarter of 2024. As of JuneA 30, 2024, the outstanding principal of the 2028 Notes was $1.50A billion.In April 2021, we entered into a purchase agreement
for the sale of an aggregate of $1.15A billion principal amount of convertible senior notes due in 2027. The net proceeds from the issuance of the 2027 Notes were $1.05A billion, net of debt
issuance costs and the 2027 Capped Call Transactions discussed further in Note 7 in our consolidated financial statements. The 2027 Notes mature on May 1, 2027 unless repurchased,
redeemed, or converted in accordance with their terms prior to such date. The sale price requirement for conversion was not satisfied as of JuneA 30, 2024 and as a result, the 2027 Notes will
not be eligible for optional conversion during the third quarter of 2024. As of JuneA 30, 2024, the outstanding principal of the 2027 Notes was $1.15A billion.In April 2020, we entered into a
purchase agreement for the sale of an aggregate of $1.0A billion principal amount of convertible senior notes due in 2025. The net proceeds from the issuance of the 2025 Notes were

$888.6A million, net of debt issuance costs and the 2025 Capped Call Transactions discussed further in Note 7 in our consolidated financial statements. The 2025 Notes mature on May 1, 2025
unless repurchased, redeemed, or converted in accordance with their terms prior to such date. The sale price requirement for conversion was not satisfied as of JuneA 30, 2024 and as a result,
the 2025 Notes will not be eligible for optional conversion during the third quarter of 2024. As of JuneA 30, 2024, the outstanding principal of the 2025 Notes was $36.2A million.In August
2019, we entered into a purchase agreement for the sale of an aggregate of $1.265A billion principal amount of convertible senior notes due in 2026. The net proceeds from the issuance of the
2026 Notes were $1.15A billion, net of debt issuance costs and the 2026 Capped Call Transactions discussed further in Note 7 in our consolidated financial statements. The 2026 Notes mature
on August 1, 2026 unless repurchased, redeemed, or converted in accordance with their terms prior to such date. The sale price requirement for conversion was not satisfied as of JuneA 30,
2024 and as a result, the 38Table of Contents2026 Notes will not be eligible for optional conversion during the third quarter of 2024. As of JuneA 30, 2024, the outstanding principal of the 2026
Notes was $249.8A million.Contractual CommitmentsWe have non-cancelable contractual agreements primarily related to the hosting of our data processing, storage, and other computing
services, as well as lease, content and developer partner, and other commitments. We had $2.2A billion in commitments, as ofjuneA 30, 2024, primarily due within three years. For additional
discussion on our leases, see Note 9 to our consolidated financial statements.Stock RepurchasesIn October 2023, our board of directors authorized a stock repurchase program of up to
$500.0A million of our Class A common stock. We completed this program in April 2024. For the six months ended JuneA 30, 2024, we repurchased and retired 27.9A million shares of our Class
A common stock for an aggregate of $311.1A million, including costs associated with the repurchases.Note RepurchasesIn February 2024, we entered into various privately negotiated
repurchase transactions with certain holders of the 2025 Notes and 2026 Notes, pursuant to which we agreed to repurchase $100.0A million in aggregate principal of the 2025 Notes and
$351.2A million in aggregate principal of the 2026 Notes for a cash repurchase price of $440.7A million, including costs.In May 2024, we entered into various privately negotiated repurchase
transactions (collectively with the February 2024 repurchase transactions, the 4€eNote Repurchasesa€) with certain holders of the 2025 Notes and 2026 Notes, pursuant to which we agreed to
repurchase $147.9A million in aggregate principal of the 2025 Notes and approximately $237.5A million in aggregate principal of the 2026 Notes for a cash repurchase price of approximately
$418.3A million, including associated costs.ContingenciesWe are involved in claims, lawsuits, tax matters, government investigations, and proceedings arising in the ordinary course of our
business. We record a provision for a liability when we believe that it is both probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount can be reasonably estimated. We also disclose material
contingencies when we believe that a loss is not probable but reasonably possible. Significant judgment is required to determine both probability and the estimated amount. Such claims, suits,
and proceedings are inherently unpredictable and subject to significant uncertainties, some of which are beyond our control. Many of these legal and tax contingencies can take years to resolve.
Should any of these estimates and assumptions change or prove to be incorrect, it could have a material impact on our results of operations, financial position, and cash flows.We believe our
existing cash balance is sufficient to fund our ongoing working capital, investing, and financing requirements for at least the next 12 months. Our future capital requirements will depend on
many factors including our growth rate, headcount, sales and marketing activities, research and development efforts, the introduction of new features, products, and acquisitions, and continued
user engagement. We continually evaluate opportunities to issue or repurchase equity or debt securities, obtain, retire, or restructure credit facilities or financing arrangements, or declare
dividends for strategic reasons or to further strengthen our financial position.39Table of ContentsSources and Uses of Cash and Related TrendsThe following table sets forth the major
components of our consolidated statements of cash flows for the six months ended JuneA 30, 2024 and 2023:Six Months Ended June 30,20242023(in thousands)Net cash provided by (used in)
operating activities$66,975A $69,166A Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities(345,481)(20,561)Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities(438,928)(243,705)Change in cash,
cash equivalents, and restricted cash$(717,434)$(195,100)Free Cash Flow (1)$(35,535)$(15,407)(1)For information on how we define and calculate Free Cash Flow and a reconciliation to net
cash provided by (used in) operating activities to Free Cash Flow, see &€eNon-GAAP Financial Measures.a€Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Operating ActivitiesNet cash provided by operating
activities was $67.0A million for the six months ended JuneA 30, 2024, compared to $69.2A million for the same period in 2023, resulting primarily from our net loss, adjusted for non-cash
items, including stock-based compensation expense of $523.1 million and depreciation and amortization expense of $79.6A million. Net cash provided by operating activities for the six months
ended JuneA 30, 2024 was also driven by a $125.3 million decrease in accounts receivable due to higher collections and a reduction in billings in the period, partially offset by a $95.6 million
decrease in accounts payable, primarily due to the timing of payments.Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Investing Activities Net cash used in investing activities was $345.5A million for the six
months ended JuneA 30, 2024, compared to net cash used in investing activities of $20.6A million for the same period in 2023. Our investing activities for the six months ended JuneA 30, 2024
primarily consisted of purchases of marketable securities of $1.2A billion and purchases of property and equipment of $102.5A million, partially offset by maturities of marketable securities of
$832.1A million and sales of marketable securities of $166.6A million. Our investing activities for the six months ended JuneA 30, 2023 primarily consisted of purchases of marketable securities
of $1.5A billion, purchases of property and equipment of $84.6A million, and cash paid for acquisitions, net of cash acquired of $50.3A million, partially offset by maturities of marketable
securities of $1.5A billion and sales of marketable securities of $91.3A millionNet Cash Provided by (Used in) Financing ActivitiesNet cash used in financing activities was $438.9A million for
the six months ended JuneA 30, 2024, compared to net cash used in financing activities of $243.7A million for the same period in 2023. Our financing activities for the six months ended

JuneA 30, 2024 primarily consisted of the Note Repurchases for $859.0A million, repurchases of our Class A common stock for $311.1A million, and the purchase of the 2030 Capped Call
Transactions for $68.9A million, partially offset by the issuance of the 2030 Notes for net proceeds of $740.4A million and the termination of the 2025 Capped Call Transactions for proceeds of
$62.7A million. Our financing activities for the six months ended JuneA 30, 2023 primarily consisted of $244.1A million of deferred payments for acquisitions completed in prior periods.Free
Cash FlowFree Cash Flow was $(35.5) million for the six months ended JuneA 30, 2024, compared to $(15.4) million for the same period in 2023. Free Cash Flow in all periods was composed of
net cash provided by (used in) operating activities, resulting primarily from net loss, adjusted for non-cash items and changes in working capital. Free Cash Flow also included purchases of
property and equipment of $102.5 million for the six months ended JuneA 30, 2024, compared to $84.6 million for the same period in 2023. Purchases of property and equipment in all periods
are primarily related to improvements to our leased facilities to support our team workspaces. See &€ceNon-GAAP Financial Measures.a€40Table of ContentsNon-GAAP Financial MeasuresTo
supplement our consolidated financial statements, which are prepared and presented in accordance with GAAP, we use certain non-GAAP financial measures, as described below, to understand
and evaluate our core operating performance. These non-GAAP financial measures, which may be different than similarly titled measures used by other companies, are presented to enhance
investorsa€™ overall understanding of our financial performance and should not be considered a substitute for, or superior to, the financial information prepared and presented in accordance
with GAAP.We use the non-GAAP financial measure of Free Cash Flow, which is defined as net cash provided by (used in) operating activities, reduced by purchases of property and equipment.
We believe Free Cash Flow is an important liquidity measure of the cash that is available, after capital expenditures, for operational expenses and investment in our business and is a key
financial indicator used by management. Additionally, we believe that Free Cash Flow is an important measure since we use third-party infrastructure partners to host our services and
therefore we do not incur significant capital expenditures to support revenue generating activities. Free Cash Flow is useful to investors as a liquidity measure because it measures our ability to
generate or use cash. Once our business needs and obligations are met, cash can be used to maintain a strong balance sheet and invest in future growth.We use the non-GAAP financial measure
of Adjusted EBITDA, which is defined as net income (loss), excluding interest income; interest expense; other income (expense), net; income tax benefit (expense); depreciation and
amortization; stock-based compensation expense; payroll and other tax expense related to stock-based compensation; and certain other items impacting net income (loss) from time to time. We
believe that Adjusted EBITDA helps identify underlying trends in our business that could otherwise be masked by the effect of the expenses that we exclude in Adjusted EBITDA.We believe that
both Free Cash Flow and Adjusted EBITDA provide useful information about our financial performance, enhance the overall understanding of our past performance and future prospects, and
allow for greater transparency with respect to key metrics used by our management for financial and operational decision-making. We are presenting the non-GAAP measures of Free Cash Flow
and Adjusted EBITDA to assist investors in seeing our financial performance through the eyes of management, and because we believe that these measures provide an additional tool for
investors to use in comparing our core financial performance over multiple periods with other companies in our industry.These non-GAAP financial measures should not be considered in
isolation from, or as substitutes for, financial information prepared in accordance with GAAP. There are a number of limitations related to the use of these non-GAAP financial measures
compared to the closest comparable GAAP measure. Some of these limitations are that:4€¢Free Cash Flow does not reflect our future contractual commitments;a€¢Adjusted EBITDA excludes
certain recurring, non-cash charges such as depreciation of fixed assets and amortization of acquired intangible assets and, although these are non-cash charges, the assets being depreciated
and amortized may have to be replaced in the future;a€¢Adjusted EBITDA excludes stock-based compensation expense and payroll and other tax expense related to stock-based compensation,
which have been, and will continue to be for the foreseeable future, significant recurring expenses in our business and an important part of our compensation strategy; anda€¢Adjusted EBITDA
excludes income tax benefit (expense).The following table presents a reconciliation of Free Cash Flow to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities, the most comparable GAAP financial
measure, for each of the periods presented:Three Months Ended June 30,Six Months Ended June 30,2024202320242023(in thousands) Free Cash Flow reconciliation:Net cash provided by (used
in) operating activities$(21,377)$(81,936)$66,975A $69,166A Less:Purchases of property and equipment(52,062)(36,943)(102,510)(84,573)Free Cash
Flow$(73,439)$(118,879)$(35,535)$(15,407)41Table of ContentsThe following table presents a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to net loss, the most comparable GAAP financial measure, for
each of the periods presented:Three Months Ended June 30,Six Months Ended June 30,2024202320242023(in thousands) Adjusted EBITDA reconciliation:Net
10ss$(248,620)$(377,308)$(553,710)$(705,982)Add (deduct):Interest income(36,462)(43,144)(76,360)(81,092)Interest expense5,113A 5,343A 9,856A 11,228A Other (income) expense,
net20,792A (1,323)20,873A (12,695)Income tax (benefit) expense5,202A 12,093A 12,134A 18,938A Depreciation and amortization37,930A 39,688A 76,028A 74,908A Stock-based compensation
expense258,946A 317,943A 513,661A 632,874A Payroll and other tax expense related to stock-based compensation10,133A 8,229A 26,103A 24,155A Restructuring charges

(1)1,943A a€”A 72,051A a4€”A Adjusted EBITDA$54,977A $(38,479)$100,636A $(37,666)(1)Restructuring charges are primarily related to cash severance, stock-based compensation expense,
and other charges associated with the 2024 restructuring. These charges are not reflective of underlying trends in our business. Refer to Note 15 in our consolidated financial
statements.Critical Accounting Policies and EstimatesWe prepare our financial statements in accordance with GAAP. Preparing these financial statements requires us to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue, expenses, and related disclosures. We evaluate our estimates and assumptions on an ongoing basis. Our estimates
are based on historical experience and various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. Our actual results could differ from these estimates.The critical
accounting estimates, assumptions, and judgments that we believe to have the most significant impact on our consolidated financial statements are revenue recognition, stock-based
compensation, business combinations and valuation of goodwill and other acquired intangible assets, loss contingencies, and income taxes.There have been no material changes to our critical
accounting policies and estimates as described in our Annual Report.Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market RiskWe are exposed to market risks in the ordinary course of
our business. These risks primarily include interest rate risk and foreign currency risk as follows:Interest Rate RiskWe had cash and cash equivalents totaling $1.1A billion and $1.8A billion at
JuneA 30, 2024 and DecemberA 31, 2023, respectively. We had marketable securities totaling $2.0A billion and $1.8A billion at JuneA 30, 2024 and DecemberA 31, 2023, respectively. Our cash
and cash equivalents consist of cash in bank accounts and marketable securities consisting of U.S. government debt and agency securities, publicly traded equity securities, corporate debt
securities, certificates of deposit, and commercial paper. The primary objectives of our investment activities are to preserve principal and provide liquidity without significantly increasing risk.
We do not enter into investments for trading or speculative purposes. Due to the relatively short-term nature of our investment portfolio, a hypothetical 100 basis point change in interest rates
would not have a material effect on the fair value of our portfolio for the periods presented.42Table of ContentsIn May 2024, we issued the 2030 Notes with an aggregate principal amount of
$750.0A million, the full amount of which is outstanding as of JuneA 30, 2024. We carry the 2030 Notes at face value less the unamortized debt issuance costs on our consolidated balance
sheets. The 2030 Notes have a fixed interest rate; therefore, we have no financial statement risk associated with changes in interest rates with respect to the 2030 Notes. The fair value of the
2030 Notes changes when the market price of our stock fluctuates or market interest rates change.In February 2022, we issued the 2028 Notes with an aggregate principal amount of

$1.50A billion, the full amount of which is outstanding as ofjuneA 30, 2024. We carry the 2028 Notes at face value less the unamortized debt issuance costs on our consolidated balance sheets.
The 2028 Notes have a fixed interest rate; therefore, we have no financial statement risk associated with changes in interest rates with respect to the 2028 Notes. The fair value of the 2028
Notes changes when the market price of our stock fluctuates or market interest rates change.In April 2021, we issued the 2027 Notes with an aggregate principal amount of $1.15A billion, the
full amount of which is outstanding as of JuneA 30, 2024. We carry the 2027 Notes at face value less the unamortized debt issuance costs on our consolidated balance sheets. The 2027 Notes do
not bear regular interest; therefore, we have no financial statement risk associated with changes in interest rates with respect to the 2027 Notes. The fair value of the 2027 Notes changes when
the market price of our stock fluctuates or market interest rates change.In April 2020, we issued the 2025 Notes with an aggregate principal amount of $1.0A billion, of which $36.2A million
remains outstanding as of JuneA 30, 2024. We carry the 2025 Notes at face value less the unamortized debt issuance costs on our consolidated balance sheets. The 2025 Notes have a fixed
interest rate; therefore, we have no financial statement risk associated with changes in interest rates with respect to the 2025 Notes. The fair value of the 2025 Notes changes when the market
price of our stock fluctuates or market interest rates change.In August 2019, we issued the 2026 Notes with an aggregate principal amount of $1.265A billion, of which $249.8A million remains
outstanding as of JuneA 30, 2024. We carry the 2026 Notes at face value less the unamortized debt issuance costs on our consolidated balance sheets. The 2026 Notes have a fixed interest rate;
therefore, we have no financial statement risk associated with changes in interest rates with respect to the 2026 Notes. The fair value of the 2026 Notes changes when the market price of our
stock fluctuates or market interest rates change.Foreign Currency RiskFor all periods presented, our revenue and operating expenses were predominately denominated in U.S. dollars. We
therefore have not had material foreign currency risk associated with revenue and cost-based activities. However, due to fluctuations in exchange rates, we have experienced, and may in the
future experience, negative impacts to our revenue and operating expenses denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar. The functional currency of our material operating entities is
the U.S. dollar. For the periods presented, we believe the exposure to foreign currency fluctuation from operating expenses is immaterial as the related costs do not constitute a significant
portion of our total expenses. As we grow operations, our exposure to foreign currency risk will likely become more significant. For the periods presented, we did not enter into any foreign
currency exchange contracts. We may, however, enter into foreign currency exchange contracts for purposes of hedging foreign exchange rate fluctuations on our business operations in future
operating periods as our exposures are deemed to be material. For additional discussion on foreign currency risk, see &€aeRisk Factorsa€ elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.Item



4. Controls and ProceduresEvaluation of Disclosure Controls and ProceduresOur management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated
the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended), as of the end of the period
covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Based on such evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that, as of JuneA 30, 2024, our disclosure
controls and procedures were effective to provide reasonable assurance that the information required to be disclosed by us in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q was (a) reported within the
time periods specified by SEC rules and regulations, and (b) communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, to allow timely decisions
regarding any required disclosure.43Table of ContentsChanges in Internal ControlThere were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting identified in managementa€™s
evaluation pursuant to Rules 13a-15(d) or 15d-15(d) of the Exchange Act during the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to
materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls and ProceduresIn designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures,
management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives. In
addition, the design of disclosure controls and procedures must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints and that management is required to apply judgment in evaluating the benefits
of possible controls and procedures relative to their costs.44Table of ContentsPART II - OTHER INFORMATIONItem 1. Legal ProceedingsOn November 11, 2021, we, and certain of our officers,
were named as defendants in a federal securities class-action lawsuit filed in the U.S. District Court Central District of California. The lawsuit was purportedly brought on behalf of purchasers of
our Class A common stock. The lawsuit alleges that we and certain of our officers made false or misleading statements and omissions concerning the impact that Applea€™s App Tracking
Transparency framework would have on our business. Defendants seek monetary damages and other relief. We believe we have meritorious defenses to the lawsuit, and continue to defend it
vigorously, but litigation is inherently uncertain and an unfavorable outcome could seriously harm our business.Beginning on January 20, 2022, we were named as defendants in various federal
and state courts by plaintiffs alleging that the design and use of our platform, and those of our competitors, is addictive and harmful to minor usersa€™ mental health. The majority of cases
have been consolidated in either a federal Multi-District Litigation pending in the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of California, or MDL, or a California Judicial Council Coordinated
Proceeding, or JCCP, pending in the Complex Division of the Los Angeles County Superior Court. Numerous school districts and other municipalities have filed public nuisance claims based on
similar allegations, which also have been consolidated in either the MDL or JCCP, and we have received similar claims in Canada. The Nevada Attorney General also filed a lawsuit against us in
Nevada state court making similar allegations. We are also subject to government investigations and inquiries from multiple regulators concerning the use of our products and features, and the
alleged mental and physical health and safety impacts on teen users in particular. We believe we have meritorious defenses to these lawsuits, and continue to defend them vigorously, but
litigation is inherently uncertain and an unfavorable outcome could seriously harm our business.On October 13, 2022, we were named as a defendant in a lawsuit in Los Angeles Superior Court
alleging that we should be responsible for the deaths of young people who died from ingesting fatal doses of fentanyl after communicating on Snapchat with drug dealers concerning drug
transactions. Other similar lawsuits were filed on behalf of other families, which were coordinated with the first-filed case and assigned to the same judge. On January 2, 2024, the judge granted
in part and overruled in part our demurrer to the lawsuit, allowing several of the claims to proceed. We believe we have meritorious defenses to these lawsuits, and plan to continue to defend
them vigorously, but litigation is inherently uncertain and an unfavorable outcome could seriously harm our business.We are currently involved in, and may in the future be involved in, legal
proceedings, claims, inquiries, and investigations in the ordinary course of our business, including claims for infringing intellectual property rights related to our products and the content
contributed by our users and partners. Although the results of these proceedings, claims, inquiries, and investigations cannot be predicted with certainty, we do not believe that the final
outcome of these matters is reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, or results of operations. Regardless of final outcomes, however, any such
proceedings, claims, inquiries, and investigations may nonetheless impose a significant burden on management and employees and may come with costly defense costs or unfavorable
preliminary and interim rulings.45Table of ContentsItem 1A. Risk FactorsYou should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties described below, together with all the other information in
this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including &€ceManagementa€™s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operationsé€ and the consolidated financial statements and
the related notes. If any of the following risks actually occurs (or if any of those discussed elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q occurs), our business, reputation, financial condition,
results of operations, revenue, and future prospects could be seriously harmed. The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones we face. Additional risks and uncertainties that
we are unaware of, or that we currently believe are not material, may also become important factors that adversely affect our business. Unless otherwise indicated, references to our business
being seriously harmed in these risk factors will include harm to our business, reputation, financial condition, results of operations, revenue, and future prospects. In that event, the market
price of our Class A common stock could decline, and you could lose part or all of your investment. Risk Factor SummaryOur business is subject to significant risks and uncertainties that make
an investment in us speculative and risky. Below we summarize what we believe are the principal risk factors but these risks are not the only ones we face, and you should carefully review and
consider the full discussion of our risk factors in the section titled &€ceRisk Factors,&€ together with the other information in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. 1.A A A A Our Strategy and
Advertising BusinessWe operate in a highly competitive and rapidly changing environment so we must continually innovate our products and evolve our business model for us to succeed. We
emphasize rapid innovation and prioritize long-term user engagement over short-term financial conditions or results if we believe that it will benefit the aggregate user experience and improve
our financial performance over the long term. Although we have achieved profitability in certain periods, we have a history of operating losses and, as a result of our long-term focus, we may
prioritize investments and expenses we believe are necessary for our long-term growth over achieving short-term profitability. Investments in our future, including through new products or
acquisitions, are inherently risky and may not pay off, which would adversely affect our ability to settle the principal and interest payments on our outstanding convertible senior notes or other
indebtedness when due, and further delay or hinder our ability to sustain profitability. This in turn would hinder our ability to secure additional financing to meet our current and future
financial needs on favorable terms, or at all. We generate substantially all of our revenue from advertising. Our advertising business is most effective when our advertisers succeed. Driving their
success requires continual investment in our advertising products and may be hindered by competitive challenges and various legal, regulatory, and operating system changes that make it more
difficult for us to achieve and demonstrate a meaningful return for our advertisers. For example, on-going changes to privacy and data protection laws and mobile operating systems continue to
present issues for us in measuring the effectiveness of advertisements on our services. Additionally, individuals are becoming increasingly resistant to the processing of personal data to deliver
behavioral, interest-based, or targeted advertisements, and regulators are likewise scrutinizing such data processing activities, which could reduce the demand for our products and services
and threaten our primary revenue stream. Alternative methods, to the extent we can develop such methods in compliance with current or future privacy and data protection laws, mobile
operating system requirements, and other requirements, may take time to develop and be adopted by our advertisers and users, and may not be as effective as prior methods. We believe that
this impact on our targeting, measurement, and optimization capabilities has negatively affected and may continue to negatively affect our operating results. In addition, our advertising
business is seasonal, volatile, and cyclical, which could result in fluctuations in our quarterly revenues and operating results, including the expectations of our business prospects.Our business
and operations have been, and in the future could be, adversely affected by events beyond our control, such as health epidemics and geo-political events and conflicts. In addition,
macroeconomic factors like labor shortages and disruptions, supply chain disruptions, banking instability, and inflation continue to cause logistical challenges, increased input costs, and
inventory constraints for our advertisers, which in turn may also halt or decrease advertising spending, and harm our business.46Table of Contents2.A A A A Our Community and CompetitionWe
need to continually innovate and create new products, and enhance our existing products, to attract, retain, and grow our global community. Products that we create may fail to attract or retain
users or partners, or to generate meaningful revenue, if any. In addition, we have and expect to continue to expand organically and through acquisitions, including in international markets,
which we may not be able to effectively manage or scale. If our community does not see the value in our products or brand, or if competitors offer better alternatives, our community could
easily switch to other services. Although we have experienced rapid growth in our community over the last few years, we have also experienced declines and there can be no assurance that
declines won&€ ™t happen again. Many of our competitors have significantly more resources and larger market shares than we do, which gives them advantages over us that can make it more
difficult for us to succeed.3.A A A A Our PartnersWe primarily rely on Google, Apple, and Amazon to provide their mobile operating systems and other services for our applications and other
core services, including our platform. If these partners do not provide their services as we expect, terminate their services, or change the terms, or their interpretation of the terms, of our
agreements, or change the functionality of their mobile operating systems in ways that are adverse to us, our service may be interrupted and our product experience could be degraded, which
may harm our reputation, increase our costs, or make it harder for us to sustain profitability. Many other parts of our business depend on partners, including content partners and advertising
partners, so our success depends on our ability to attract and retain these partners.4.A A A A Our Technology and RegulationOur business is complex and success depends on our ability to
rapidly innovate, the interoperability of our service on many different smartphones and mobile operating systems, and our ability to handle sensitive user data with the care our users expect.
Because our systems and our products are constantly changing, we are susceptible to data breaches, cyberattacks, security incidents, bugs, and other vulnerabilities and errors in how our
products work and are measured. We may also fail to maintain effective processes that report our metrics or financial results. Given the complexity of the systems involved and the rapidly
changing nature of mobile devices and operating systems, we expect to encounter issues, particularly if we continue to expand in parts of the world where mobile data systems and connections
are less stable.We are also subject to complex and evolving federal, state, local, and foreign laws and regulations regarding privacy, data protection, biometric processing, content, artificial
intelligence, or Al, taxes, and other matters, which are subject to change and have uncertain interpretations. Given the nature of our business, we are particularly susceptible to changes in such
laws regarding privacy and data protection, which may require us to change our products and may impact our revenue stream. Any actual or perceived failure to comply with such legal and
regulatory obligations, including in connection with our consent decree with the U.S. Federal Trade Commission, may lead to costly litigation or otherwise adversely impact our business.We
also must actively protect our intellectual property. We are subject to various legal proceedings, claims, class actions, inquiries, and investigations related to our intellectual property, which
may be costly or distract management. We also rely on a variety of statutory and common-law frameworks for the content we provide our users, including the Digital Millennium Copyright Act,
the Communications Decency Act, and the fair-use doctrine, each of which has been subject to adverse judicial, political, and regulatory scrutiny in recent times.5.A A A A Our Team and Capital
StructureWe need to attract and retain a high caliber team to maintain our competitive position. We may incur significant costs and expenses in maintaining and growing our team, and may
lose valuable members of our team as we compete globally, including with our competitors, for key talent. A substantial portion of our employment costs is paid in our common stock, the price
of which has been volatile, and our ability to attract and retain talent may be adversely affected if our shares decline in value.Our two co-founders, who serve as our Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Technology Officer, control over 99% of the voting power of our outstanding capital stock, which means they control substantially all outcomes submitted to stockholders. Class A common
stockholders have no voting rights, unless required by Delaware law. This concentrated 47Table of Contentscontrol may result in our co-founders voting their shares in their best interest, which
might not always be in the interest of our stockholders generally.Risk FactorsRisks Related to Our Business and IndustryOur ecosystem of users, advertisers, and partners depends on the
engagement of our user base. Our user base growth rate has declined in the past and it may do so again in the future. If we fail to retain current users or add new users, or if our users engage
less with Snapchat, our business would be seriously harmed.We had 432 million daily active users, or DAUs, on average in the quarter ended JuneA 30, 2024. We view DAUs as a critical
measure of our user engagement, and adding, maintaining, and engaging DAUs have been and will continue to be necessary. Our DAUs and DAU growth rate have declined in the past and they
may decline in the future due to various factors, including as the size of our active user base increases, as we achieve higher market penetration rates, as we face continued competition for our
users and their time, or if there are performance issues with our service. In addition, as we achieve maximum market penetration rates among younger users in developed markets, future
growth in DAUs will need to come from older users in those markets or from developing markets, which may not be possible or may be more difficult, expensive, or time-consuming for us to
achieve. While we may experience periods when our DAUs increase due to products and services with short-term popularity, we may not always be able to attract new users, retain existing
users, or maintain or increase the frequency and duration of their engagement if current or potential new users do not perceive our products to be fun, engaging, or useful. In addition, because
our products typically require high bandwidth data capabilities for users to benefit from all of the features and capabilities of our application, many of our users live in countries with high-end
mobile device penetration and high bandwidth capacity cellular networks with large coverage areas. We therefore do not expect to experience rapid user growth or engagement in regions with
either low smartphone penetration or a lack of well-established and high bandwidth capacity cellular networks. As our DAU growth rate continues to slow or if the number of DAUs becomes
stagnant, or we have a decline in DAUSs, our financial performance will increasingly depend on our ability to elevate user activity or increase the monetization of our users.Snapchat is free and
easy to join, the barrier to entry for new entrants in our business is low, and the switching costs to another platform are also low. Moreover, the majority of our users are 18-34 years old. This
demographic may be less brand loyal and more likely to follow trends, including viral trends, than other demographics. These factors may lead users to switch to another product, which would
negatively affect our user retention, growth, and engagement. Snapchat also may not be able to penetrate other demographics in a meaningful manner. Falling user retention, growth, or
engagement could make Snapchat less attractive to advertisers and partners, which may seriously harm our business. In addition, we continue to compete with other companies to attract and
retain our usersa€™ attention. There are many factors that could negatively affect user retention, growth, and engagement, including if:a€¢users engage more with competing products instead
of ours;a€¢our competitors continue to mimic our products or improve on them;a€¢we fail to introduce new and exciting products and services or those we introduce or modify are poorly
received;a€¢our products fail to operate effectively or compatibly on the iOS or Android mobile operating systems;a€¢we are unable to continue to develop products that work with a variety of
mobile operating systems, networks, and smartphones;a€¢we do not provide a compelling user experience because of the decisions we make regarding the type and frequency of advertisements
that we display or the structure and design of our products;a€¢we are unable to combat bad actors, spam, or other hostile or inappropriate usage on our products;a€¢there are changes in user
sentiment about the quality or usefulness of our products in the short-term, long-term, or both;a€¢there are concerns about the privacy implications, safety, or security of our products and our
processing of personal data;a€¢our content partners do not create content that is engaging, useful, or relevant to users;a€¢our content partners decide not to renew agreements or devote the
resources to create engaging content, or do not provide content exclusively to us;48Table of Contentsa€¢advertisers and partners display ads that are untrue, offensive, or otherwise fail to
follow our guidelines;a€¢our products are subject to increased regulatory scrutiny or approvals, including from foreign privacy regulators, or there are changes in our products that are
mandated or prompted by legislation, regulatory authorities, executive actions, or litigation, including settlements or consent decrees, that adversely affect the user experience;a€¢technical or
other problems frustrate the user experience or negatively impact users' trust in our service, including by providers that host our platforms, particularly if those problems prevent us from
delivering our product experience in a fast and reliable manner, or cyberattacks, breaches, or other security incidents that compromise our sensitive user data;a€¢we fail to provide adequate
service to users, advertisers, or partners;a€¢we do not provide a compelling user experience to entice users to use the Snapchat application on a daily basis, or our users dona€ ™t have the
ability to make new friends to maximize the user experience; 4&€¢we, our partners, or other companies in our industry segment are the subject of adverse media reports or other negative
publicity, some of which may be inaccurate or include confidential information that we are unable to correct or retract;a€¢we do not maintain our brand image or our reputation is damaged;
ord€¢our current or future products reduce user activity on Snapchat by making it easier for our users to interact directly with our partners.Any decrease to user retention, growth, or
engagement could render our products less attractive to users, advertisers, or partners, and would seriously harm our business.We generate substantially all of our revenue from advertising.
The failure to attract new advertisers, the loss of advertisers, or a reduction in how much they spend could seriously harm our business.Substantially all of our revenue is generated from third
parties advertising on Snapchat. For the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, advertising revenue accounted for approximately 96%, 99%, and 99% of our total revenue,
respectively. Even though we have introduced other revenue streams, including a subscription model for one of our products, we still expect this trend to continue for the foreseeable future.



Most advertisers do not have long-term advertising commitments with us, and our efforts to establish long-term commitments may not succeed. Our advertising customers range from small
businesses to well-known brands, and may include advertising resellers. Many of our customers spend a relatively small portion of their overall advertising budget with us, but some customers
have devoted meaningful budgets that contribute more significantly to our total revenue. In addition, advertisers may view some of our advertising solutions as experimental and unproven, or
prefer certain of our products over others. Advertisers, including our customers who have devoted meaningful advertising budgets to our product, will not continue to do business with us if we
do not deliver advertisements in an effective manner, or if they do not believe that their investment in advertising with us will generate a competitive return relative to other alternatives. As our
business continues to develop, there may be new or existing customers, including from different geographic regions, that contribute more significantly to our total revenue, and a loss of such
customers or a significant reduction in how much they spend with us could adversely impact our business. Any economic or political instability, whether as a result of the macroeconomic
climate, war or other armed conflict, terrorism, or otherwise, in a specific country or region, may negatively impact the global or local economy, advertising ecosystem, our customers and their
budgets with us, or our ability to forecast our advertising revenue, and could seriously harm our business.Moreover, we rely heavily on our ability to collect, process, and disclose data and
metrics to our customers so we can attract new customers and retain existing customers. Any restriction, whether by law, regulation, policy, or other reason, on our ability to collect, process,
and disclose data and metrics that our customers find useful would impede our ability to attract and retain advertisers. Regulators in many countries in which we operate or have users are
increasingly scrutinizing and regulating the collection, use, and sharing of personal data related to advertising, which could materially impact our revenue and seriously harm our business.
Many of these laws and regulations expand the rights of individuals to control how their personal data is collected and processed, and place restrictions on the use of personal data of teens. The
processing of personal data for personalized advertising continues to be under increased scrutiny from regulators, which includes ongoing regulatory action against large technology companies
like ours, the outcomes of which may be uncertain and subject to appeal. These laws may prohibit us and our customers from targeting advertising to teens, including based on the profiling of
personal data. Other legislative proposals and present laws and regulations may also apply to our or our 49Table of Contentsadvertisersa€™ activities and require significant operational
changes to our business. These laws and regulations could have a material impact on the development and deployment of Al and machine learning in the context of our targeted advertising
activities. Other laws to which we are or may become subject further regulate behavioral, interest-based, or targeted advertising, making certain online advertising activities more difficult and
subject to additional scrutiny. These laws grant users the right to opt-out of sharing of their personal data for certain advertising purposes in exchange for money or other valuable
consideration, or require parental consent to be obtained for the processing of personal data of users under a certain age and restrict tracking and use of teensa€™ data, including for
advertising. Regulators have issued significant monetary fines in certain circumstances where the regulators alleged that appropriate consent was not obtained in connection with targeted
advertising activities. In addition, legislative proposals and present laws and regulations in countries where we operate regulate the use of cookies and other tracking technologies, electronic
communications, and marketing.Furthermore, in April 2021, Apple issued an iOS update that imposed heightened restrictions on our access and use of user data by allowing users to more
easily opt-out of tracking of activity across devices. Additionally, Google announced that it will implement similar changes with respect to its Android operating system, and major web browsers,
like Firefox, Safari, and Chrome, have or plan to make similar changes as well. The implemented changes have had, and the announced or planned changes likely will have, an adverse effect on
our targeting, measurement, and optimization capabilities, and in turn our ability to target advertisements and measure the effectiveness of advertisements on our services. This has resulted in,
and in the future is likely to continue to result in, reduced demand and pricing for our advertising products and could seriously harm our business. The longer-term impact of these changes on
the overall mobile advertising ecosystem, our competitors, our business, and the developers, partners, and advertisers within our community remains uncertain, and depending on how we, our
competitors, and the overall mobile advertising ecosystem adjusts, and how our partners, advertisers, and users respond, our business could be seriously harmed. Any alternative solutions we
implement are subject to rules and standards set by the owners of such mobile operating systems which may be unclear, change, or be interpreted in a manner adverse to us and require us to
halt or change our solutions, any of which could seriously harm our business. In addition, if we are unable to mitigate or respond to these and future developments, and alternative solutions do
not become widely adopted by our advertisers, then our targeting, measurement, and optimization capabilities will be materially and adversely affected, which would in turn continue to
negatively impact our advertising revenue. Our advertising revenue could also be seriously harmed by many other factors, including:4€¢diminished or stagnant growth, or a decline, in the total
or regional number of DAUs on Snapchat; a€¢our inability to deliver advertisements to all of our users due to legal restrictions or hardware, software, or network limitations; a€¢a decrease in
the amount of time spent on Snapchat, a decrease in the amount of content that our users share, or decreases in usage of our Camera, Visual Messaging, Map, Stories, and Spotlight
platforms;a€¢our inability to create new products that sustain or increase the value of our advertisements;a€¢changes in our user demographics that make us less attractive to advertisers;a€
¢lack of ad creative availability by our advertising partners;a€¢a decline in our available content, including if our content partners do not renew agreements, devote the resources to create
engaging content, or provide content exclusively to us;a€¢decreases in the perceived quantity, quality, usefulness, or relevance of the content provided by us, our community, or partners;a€
¢increases in resistance by users to our collecting, using, and sharing their personal data for advertising-related purposes;a€¢changes in our analytics and measurement solutions, including
what we are permitted to collect and disclose under the terms of Applea€™s and Googlea€™ s mobile operating systems, that demonstrate the value of our advertisements and other commercial
content;a€¢competitive developments or advertiser perception of the value of our products that change the rates we can charge for advertising or the volume of advertising on Snapchat;a€
¢product changes or advertising inventory management decisions we may make that change the type, size, frequency, or effectiveness of advertisements displayed on Snapchat or the method
used by advertisers to purchase advertisements;50Table of Contentsa€¢adverse legal developments relating to advertising, including changes mandated or prompted by legislation, regulation,
executive actions, or litigation regarding the collection, use, and sharing of personal data for certain advertising-related purposes;a€¢adverse media reports or other negative publicity involving
us, our founders, our partners, or other companies in our industry;a€¢advertiser or user perception that content published by us, our users, or our partners is objectionable;a€¢the degree to
which users skip advertisements and therefore diminish the value of those advertisements to advertisers;a€¢changes in the way advertising is priced or its effectiveness is measured;a€¢our
inability, or perceived inability, to achieve an advertisera€™s intended performance metric, measure the effectiveness of our advertising, or target the appropriate audience for
advertisements;a€¢our inability to access, collect, and disclose usera€™s personal data, including advertising or similar deterministic identifiers that new and existing advertisers may find
useful;a€¢difficulty and frustration from advertisers who may need to reformat or change their advertisements to comply with our guidelines; a€¢volatility in the equity markets, which may
reduce our advertisersa€™ capacity or desire for aggressive advertising spending towards growth; anda€¢the political, economic, and macroeconomic climate and the status of the advertising
industry in general, including impacts related to labor shortages and disruptions, supply chain disruptions, banking instability, inflation, and as a result of war, terrorism, or armed
conflict.Moreover, individuals are also becoming increasingly aware of and resistant to the collection, use, and sharing of personal data in connection with advertising. Individuals are becoming
more aware of options and certain rights related to consent and other options to opt-out of such data processing, including through media attention about privacy and data protection. Some
users have opted out of allowing Snap to combine certain data from third-party apps and websites with certain data from Snapchat for advertising purposes, which has negatively impacted our
ability to collect or use certain user data and our advertising partnersa€™ ability to deliver relevant content, all of which could negatively impact our business.These and other factors could
reduce demand for our advertising products, which may lower the prices we receive, or cause advertisers to stop advertising with us altogether. Either of these would seriously harm our
business.Snapchat depends on effectively operating with mobile operating systems, hardware, networks, regulations, and standards that we do not control. Changes in our products or to those
mobile operating systems, hardware, networks, regulations, or standards may seriously harm our user retention, growth, and engagement.Because Snapchat is used primarily on mobile devices,
the application must remain interoperable with popular mobile operating systems, primarily Android and iOS, application stores, and related hardware, including mobile-device cameras. The
owners and operators of such mobile operating systems and application stores, primarily Google and Apple, each have approval authority over whether to feature our core products on their
application stores and make available to consumers third-party products that compete with ours. Furthermore, there is no guarantee that any approval previously provided by such owner or
operator will not be rescinded in the future. Additionally, mobile devices and mobile-device cameras are manufactured by a wide array of companies. Those companies have no obligation to test
the interoperability of new mobile devices, mobile-device cameras, or related devices with Snapchat, and may produce new products that are incompatible with or not optimal for Snapchat. We
have no control over these mobile operating systems, application stores, or hardware, and any changes may degrade our productsa€™ functionality, or give preferential treatment to competitive
products. For instance, Applea€™s iOS 18 may make it more difficult for us to access a Snapchattera€™s contact book, which in turn could make it more difficult for us to connect Snapchatters
with their close friends, potentially reducing engagement on our platform. If these changes do not apply to Applea€™s iMessage app, it may give it more of a competitive advantage. Actions by
government authorities may also impact our access to these systems or hardware and could seriously harm Snapchat usage. Our competitors that control the mobile operating systems and
related hardware could make interoperability of our products more difficult or display their competitive offerings more prominently than ours. Additionally, our competitors that control the
standards for the application stores could make Snapchat, or certain features of Snapchat, inaccessible for a potentially significant period of time or require us to make changes to maintain
access. We plan to continue to introduce new products and features regularly, including some features that may only work on the latest 51Table of Contentssystems and hardware, and have
experienced that it takes significant time to optimize new products and features to function with the variety of existing mobile operating systems, hardware, and standards, impacting the
popularity of such products, and we expect this trend to continue.Moreover, our products require high-bandwidth data capabilities. If the costs of data usage increase or access to cellular
networks is limited, our user retention, growth, and engagement may be seriously harmed. Additionally, to deliver high-quality video and other content over mobile cellular networks, our
products must work well with a range of mobile technologies, systems, networks, regulations, and standards that we do not control and which may be subject to future changes. In addition, the
proposal or adoption of any laws, regulations, or initiatives that adversely affect the growth, popularity, or use of the internet, including laws governing internet neutrality, could decrease the
demand for our products, including by impairing our ability to retain existing users or attract new users, make Snapchat a less attractive alternative to our competitorsa€™ applications, and
increase our cost of doing business.We may not successfully cultivate relationships with key industry participants or develop products that operate effectively with these technologies, systems,
networks, regulations, or standards. If it becomes more difficult for our users to access and use Snapchat, if our users choose not to access or use Snapchat, or if our users choose to use
products that do not offer access to Snapchat, our business and user retention, growth, and engagement could be seriously harmed.We rely on Google Cloud and Amazon Web Services, or AWS,
for the vast majority of our computing, storage, bandwidth, and other services. Any disruption of or interference with our use of either platform would negatively affect our operations and
seriously harm our business.Google and Amazon provide distributed computing infrastructure platforms for business operations, commonly referred to as a &€ceclouda€ computing service. We
currently run the vast majority of our computing on Google Cloud and AWS and have built our software and computer systems to use computing, storage capabilities, bandwidth, and other
services provided by Google and AWS. Our systems are not fully redundant on the two platforms. Any transition of the cloud services currently provided by either Google Cloud or AWS to the
other platform or to another cloud provider would be difficult to implement and would cause us to incur significant time and expense. Given this, any significant disruption of or interference
with Google Cloud or AWS, whether temporary, regular, or prolonged, would negatively impact our operations and our business would be seriously harmed. If our users or partners are not able
to access Snapchat or specific Snapchat features, or encounter difficulties in doing so, due to issues or disruptions with Google Cloud or AWS, we may lose users, partners, or advertising
revenue. The level of service provided by Google Cloud and AWS or similar providers may also impact our usersa€™, advertisersa€™, and partnersa€™ usage of and satisfaction with Snapchat
and could seriously harm our business and reputation if the level of service decreases. Hosting costs also have and will continue to increase as our user base and user engagement grows and
may seriously harm our business if we are unable to grow our revenues faster than the cost of utilizing the services of Google Cloud, AWS, or similar providers.In addition, Google or Amazon
may take actions beyond our control that could seriously harm our business, including:a€¢discontinuing or limiting our access to its cloud platform;a€¢increasing pricing terms;a€¢terminating
or seeking to terminate our contractual relationship altogether;a€¢establishing more favorable relationships or pricing terms with one or more of our competitors; ora€¢modifying or
interpreting its terms of service or other policies in a manner that impacts our ability to run our business and operations.If we are unable to protect our intellectual property, the value of our
brand and other intangible assets may be diminished, and our business may be seriously harmed. If we need to license or acquire new intellectual property, we may incur substantial costs.We
aim to protect our confidential proprietary information, in part, by entering into confidentiality agreements and invention assignment agreements with our employees, consultants, advisors, and
third parties who access or contribute to our proprietary know-how, information, or technology. We, however, cannot assure you that these agreements will be effective in controlling access to,
or preventing unauthorized distribution, use, misuse, misappropriation, reverse engineering, or disclosure of our proprietary information, know-how, and trade secrets. These agreements may
be 52Table of Contentsbreached, and we may not have adequate remedies for any such breach. Enforcing a claim that a party illegally disclosed or misappropriated a trade secret or know-how
can be difficult, expensive, and time-consuming, and the outcome can be unpredictable. Furthermore, these agreements do not prevent our competitors or partners from independently
developing offerings that are substantially equivalent or superior to ours.We also rely on trademark, copyright, patent, trade secret, and domain-name protection laws to protect our proprietary
rights. In the United States and internationally, we have filed various applications to protect aspects of our intellectual property, and we currently hold a number of issued patents, trademarks,
and copyrights in multiple jurisdictions. In the future, we may acquire additional patents or patent portfolios in the future, which could require significant cash expenditures. However, third
parties may knowingly or unknowingly infringe our proprietary rights, third parties may challenge proprietary rights held by us, third parties may design around our proprietary rights or
independently develop competing technology, and pending and future trademark, copyright, and patent applications may not be approved. Moreover, we cannot ensure that the claims of any
granted patents will be sufficiently broad to protect our technology or platform and provide us with competitive advantages. Additionally, failure to comply with applicable procedural,
documentary, fee payment, and other similar requirements could result in abandonment or lapse of the affected patent, trademark, or copyright application or registration.Moreover, a portion
of our intellectual property has been acquired or licensed from one or more third parties. While we have conducted diligence with respect to such acquisitions and licenses, because we did not
participate in the development or prosecution of much of the acquired intellectual property, we cannot guarantee that our diligence efforts identified and remedied all issues related to such
intellectual property, including potential ownership errors, potential errors during prosecution of such intellectual property, and potential encumbrances that could limit our ability to enforce
such intellectual property rights.Further, the laws of certain foreign countries do not provide the same level of protection of corporate proprietary information and assets such as intellectual
property, trade secrets, know-how, and records as the laws of the United States. For instance, the legal systems of certain countries, particularly certain developing countries, do not favor the
enforcement of patents and other intellectual property protection. As a result, we may be exposed to material risks of theft of our proprietary information and other intellectual property,
including technical data, manufacturing processes, data sets, or other sensitive information, and we may also encounter significant problems in protecting and defending our intellectual
property or proprietary rights abroad. In any of these cases, we may be required to expend significant time and expense to prevent infringement or to enforce our rights. Our efforts to enforce
our intellectual property rights may be met with defenses, counterclaims, and countersuits attacking the validity and enforceability of our intellectual property rights, and, if such defenses,
counterclaims, and countersuits are successful, we could lose valuable intellectual property rights. Our inability to protect our proprietary technology against unauthorized copying or use, as
well as any costly litigation or diversion of our managementa€™s attention and resources, could impair the functionality of our platform, delay introductions of enhancements to our platform,
result in our substituting inferior or more costly technologies into our platform, or harm our reputation and brand. In addition, we may be required to license additional technology from third
parties to develop and market new platform features, which may not be on commercially reasonable terms, or at all, and would adversely affect our ability to compete. Although we have taken
measures to protect our proprietary rights, there can be no assurance that others will not offer products, brands, content, or concepts that are substantially similar to ours and compete with our
business. If we are unable to protect our proprietary rights or prevent unauthorized use or appropriation by third parties, the value of our brand and other intangible assets may be diminished,



and competitors may be able to more effectively mimic our service and methods of operations. Any of these events could seriously harm our business.Our two co-founders have control over all
stockholder decisions because they control a substantial majority of our voting stock.Our two co-founders, Evan Spiegel and Robert Murphy, control over 99% of the voting power of our
outstanding capital stock as of JuneA 30, 2024, and Mr. Spiegel alone can exercise voting control over a majority of our outstanding capital stock. As a result, Mr. Spiegel and Mr. Murphy, or in
many instances Mr. Spiegel acting alone, have the ability to control the outcome of all matters submitted to our stockholders for approval, including the election, removal, and replacement of
our directors and any merger, consolidation, or sale of all or substantially all of our assets. If Mr. Spiegela€™s or Mr. Murphya€™s employment with us is terminated, they will continue to have
the ability to exercise the same significant voting power and potentially control the outcome of all matters submitted to our stockholders for approval. Either of our co-foundersa€™ shares of
Class C common stock will automatically convert into Class B common stock, on a one-to-one basis, nine months following his death or on the date on which the number of outstanding shares of
53Table of ContentsClass C common stock held by such holder represents less than 30% of the Class C common stock held by such holder on the closing of our IPO, or 32,383,178 shares of
Class C common stock. Should either of our co-foundersa€™ Class C common stock be converted to Class B common stock, the remaining co-founder will be able to exercise voting control over
our outstanding capital stock. Moreover, Mr. Spiegel and Mr. Murphy have entered into a proxy agreement under which each has granted to the other a voting proxy with respect to all shares
of our Class B common stock and Class C common stock that each may beneficially own from time to time or have voting control over. The proxy would become effective on either foundera€™s
death or disability. Accordingly, on the death or incapacity of either Mr. Spiegel or Mr. Murphy, the other could individually control nearly all of the voting power of our outstanding capital
stock.In addition, in October 2016, we issued a dividend of one share of non-voting Class A common stock to all our equity holders, which will prolong our co-foundersa€™ voting control
because our co-founders are able to liquidate their holdings of non-voting Class A common stock without diminishing their voting control. Furthermore, in July 2022, our board of directors
approved the future declaration and payment of a special dividend of one share of Class A common stock on each outstanding share of Snapa€™s common stock, subject to certain triggering
conditions, which triggering conditions were modified in connection with the effectiveness the settlement of a class action lawsuit in February 2024. In the future, our board of directors may,
from time to time, decide to issue additional special or regular stock dividends in the form of Class A common stock, and if we do so our co-foundersa€™ control could be further prolonged. This
concentrated control could delay, defer, or prevent a change of control, merger, consolidation, or sale of all or substantially all of our assets that our other stockholders support. Conversely, this
concentrated control could allow our co-founders to consummate such a transaction that our other stockholders do not support. In addition, our co-founders may make long-term strategic
investment decisions for the company and take risks that may not be successful and may seriously harm our business.As our Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Spiegel has control over our day-to-day
management and the implementation of major strategic investments of our company, subject to authorization and oversight by our board of directors. As board members and officers, Mr.
Spiegel and Mr. Murphy owe a fiduciary duty to our stockholders and must act in good faith in a manner they reasonably believe to be in the best interests of our stockholders. As stockholders,
even controlling stockholders, Mr. Spiegel and Mr. Murphy are entitled to vote their shares, and shares over which they have voting control, in their own interests, which may not always be in
the interests of our stockholders generally. We have not elected to take advantage of the 4€cecontrolled companya€ exemption to the corporate governance rules for companies listed on the
New York Stock Exchange, or NYSE.Macroeconomic uncertainties, including labor shortages and disruptions, supply chain disruptions, banking instability, inflation, and recession risks, have in
the past and may continue to adversely impact our business. Global economic and business activities continue to face widespread macroeconomic uncertainties, including labor shortages and
disruptions, supply chain disruptions, banking instability, inflation, and recession risks, which may continue for an extended period, and some of which have adversely impacted, and may
continue to adversely impact, many aspects of our business.As some of our advertisers experienced downturns or uncertainty in their own business operations and revenue, they halted or
decreased or may halt, decrease, or continue to decrease, temporarily or permanently, their advertising spending or may focus their advertising spending more on other platforms, all of which
may result in decreased advertising revenue. Labor shortages and disruptions, supply chain disruptions, banking instability, and inflation continue to cause logistical challenges, increased input
costs, inventory constraints, and liquidity uncertainty for our advertisers, which in turn may also halt or decrease advertising spending and may make it difficult to forecast our advertising
revenue. Any decline in advertising revenue or the collectability of our receivables could seriously harm our business.As a result of macroeconomic uncertainties, our partners and community
who provide content or services to us may experience delays or interruptions in their ability to create content or provide services, if they are able to do so at all. Members of our community may
also alter their usage of our products and services, particularly relative to prior periods when travel restrictions were in place. A decrease in the amount or quality of content available on
Snapchat, or an interruption in the services provided to us, could lead to a decline in user engagement, which could seriously harm our business.To the extent that macroeconomic uncertainties
continue to impact our business, many of the other risks described in these risk factors may be exacerbated.54Table of ContentsExposure to geo-political conflicts and events could put our
employees and partners at substantial risk, interrupt our operations, increase costs, create additional regulatory burdens, and have significant negative macroeconomic effects, any of which
could seriously harm our business.Significant geo-political conflicts and events have had, and will likely continue to have, a substantial effect on our business and operations. We have had, and
will likely continue to have, team members and their families in impacted regions who face substantial personal risk, unprecedented disruption of their lives, and uncertainty as to the future. We
have provided emergency assistance and support to these team members and their families, and we expect to continue this support in the future. In addition, we have offices, hardware, and
other assets in impacted regions that may be at risk of destruction or theft. We have incurred, and will likely continue to incur, costs to support our team members and reorganize our
operations to address these ongoing challenges. In addition, our management has spent significant time and attention on these and related events. The ongoing disruptions to our team
members, our management, and our operations could seriously harm our business.Generally, during times of war and other major conflicts, we, the third parties on which we rely, and our
partners are vulnerable to a heightened risk of cyberattacks, including retaliatory cyberattacks, that could seriously disrupt our business. We have experienced, and may continue to experience,
attempted cyberattacks on our products, systems, and networks, which we believe are related to conflicts. We may also face retaliatory attacks by governments, entities, or individuals who do
not agree with our public expressions with regards to any conflicts or support for team members. Any such attack could cause disruption to our platform, systems, and networks, result in
security breaches or data loss, damage our brand, or reduce demand for our services or advertising products. In addition, we may face significant costs (including legal and litigation costs) to
prevent, correct, or remediate any such breaches. We may also be forced to expend additional resources monitoring our platform for evidence of disinformation or misuse in connection with the
ongoing conflict.Geo-political conflicts and events are inherently unpredictable, evolve quickly, and may have negative long-term impacts. On a macroeconomic level, geo-political conflicts may
disrupt trade, intensify problems in the global supply chain, and contribute to inflationary pressures. All of these factors may negatively impact the demand for advertising as companies face
limited product availability, restricted sales opportunities, and condensed margins. Any pause or reduction in advertising spending in connection with geo-political conflicts or events could
negatively impact our revenue and harm our business.If we do not develop successful new products or improve existing ones, our business will suffer. We may also invest in new lines of
business that could fail to attract or retain users or generate revenue.Our ability to engage, retain, and increase our user base and to increase our revenue will depend heavily on our ability to
successfully create new products, both independently and together with third parties. We may introduce significant changes to, or discontinue, our existing products or develop and introduce
new and unproven products and services, including technologies with which we have little or no prior development or operating experience. These new products and updates may fail to
increase the engagement of our users, advertisers, or partners, may subject us to increased regulatory requirements or scrutiny, and may even result in short-term or long-term decreases in
such engagement by disrupting existing user, advertiser, or partner behavior or by introducing performance and quality issues. For example, in January 2023, we made changes to our
advertising platform, which we believe will lay the foundation for future growth, but which have been disruptive to our customers and how some of them utilized our platform. The short- and
long-term impact of any major change, or even a less significant change such as a refresh of the application or a feature change, is difficult to predict. Although we believe that these decisions
will benefit the aggregate user experience and improve our financial performance over the long term, we may experience disruptions or declines in our DAUSs or user activity broadly or
concentrated on certain portions of our application. Product innovation is inherently volatile, and if new or enhanced products fail to engage our users, advertisers, or partners, or if we fail to
give our users meaningful reasons to return to our application, we may fail to attract or retain users or to generate sufficient revenue, operating margin, or other value to justify our
investments, any of which may seriously harm our business in the short-term, long-term, or both. Because our products created new ways of communicating, they have often required users to
learn new behaviors to use our products, or to use our products repeatedly to receive the most benefit. These new behaviors, such as swiping and tapping in the Snapchat application, are not
always intuitive to users. This can create a lag in adoption of new products and new user additions related to new products. We believe this has not hindered our user growth or engagement,
but that may be the result of a large portion of our user base being in a younger demographic and more willing to invest the time to learn to use our products most effectively. To the extent that
future users, including those in older demographics, are less willing to invest the time to learn to use our products, and if we are unable to make our products easier to learn to use, our 55Table
of Contentsuser growth or engagement could be affected, and our business could be harmed. We may also develop new products or initiatives that increase user engagement and costs without
increasing revenue in the short- or long-term.In addition, we have invested, and expect to continue to invest, in new lines of business, new products, evolving the user experience, and other
initiatives to increase our user base and user activity, and attempt to monetize the platform. For example, in 2020, we launched Spotlight, an entertainment platform for user-generated content
within Snapchat, in 2022, we launched Snapchat+, a subscription product that gives subscribers access to exclusive, experimental, and pre-release features, and Snapchat for Web, a browser-
based product that brings Snapchata€™ s signature capabilities to the web, and in 2023, we launched My Al, an artificial intelligence powered chatbot. Such new lines of business, new products,
evolving user experiences, and other initiatives may be costly, difficult to operate and monetize, increase regulatory scrutiny and product liability and litigation risk, and divert
managementa€™s attention, and there is no guarantee that they will be positively received by our community, attract or retain users, generate sufficient revenue or operating margin, or
provide positive returns on our investment. We frequently launch new products and the products that we launch may have technical issues that diminish the performance of our application,
experience product failures, or become subject to product recalls. These performance issues or issues that we encounter in the future could impact our user engagement. In addition, new
products or features that we launch may ultimately prove unsuccessful or no longer fit with our priorities, and may be eliminated in the future. Such eliminations may require us to reduce our
workforce and incur significant expenses. In certain cases, new products that we develop may require regulatory approval prior to launch or may require us to comply with additional
regulations or legislation, including laws that are rapidly changing. There is no guarantee that we will be able to obtain such regulatory approval, and our efforts to comply with these laws and
regulations could be costly and divert managementa€™s time and effort and may still not guarantee compliance. If we do not successfully develop new approaches to monetization or meet the
expectations of our users or partners, we may not be able to maintain or grow our revenue as anticipated or recover any associated development costs, and our business could be seriously
harmed. Our business is highly competitive. We face significant competition that we anticipate will continue to intensify. If we are not able to maintain or improve our market share, our
business could suffer.We face significant competition in almost every aspect of our business both domestically and internationally, especially because our products and services operate across a
broad list of categories, including camera, visual messaging, content, and augmented reality. Our competitors range from smaller or newer companies to larger, more established companies
such as Alphabet (including Google and YouTube), Apple, ByteDance (including TikTok), Kakao, LINE, Meta (including Facebook, Instagram, Threads, and WhatsApp), Naver (including Snow),
Pinterest, Tencent, and X (formerly Twitter). Our competitors also include platforms that offer, or will offer, a variety of products, services, content, and online advertising offerings that
compete or may compete with Snapchat features or offerings. For example, Instagram, a competing application owned by Meta, has incorporated many of our features, including a &€oestoriesa€
feature that largely mimics our Stories feature and may be directly competitive. Meta has introduced, and likely will continue to introduce, more private ephemeral products into its various
platforms which mimic other aspects of Snapchatd€™s core use case. We also compete for users and their time, so we may lose users or their attention not only to companies that offer products
and services that specifically compete with Snapchat features or offerings, but to companies with products or services that target or otherwise appeal to certain demographics, such as Discord
or Roblox. Moreover, in emerging international markets, where mobile devices often lack large storage capabilities, we may compete with other applications for the limited space available on a
usera€™s mobile device. We also face competition from traditional and online media businesses for advertising budgets. We compete broadly with the products and services of Alphabet, Apple,
ByteDance, Meta, Pinterest, and X (formerly Twitter), and with other, largely regional, social media platforms that have strong positions in particular countries. As we introduce new products,
as our existing products evolve, or as other companies introduce new products and services, we may become subject to additional competition. Many of our current and potential competitors
have significantly greater resources and broader global recognition, and occupy stronger competitive positions in certain market segments, than we do. These factors may allow our competitors
to respond to new or emerging technologies and changes in market requirements better than we can, undertake more far-reaching and successful product development efforts or marketing
campaigns, or adopt more aggressive pricing policies. In addition, ongoing changes to privacy and data protection laws and mobile operating systems have made it more difficult for us to target
and measure advertisements effectively, and advertisers may prioritize the solutions of larger, more established companies. As a result, our competitors may, and in some cases will, acquire and
engage users or generate advertising or other revenue at the expense of our own efforts, which would negatively affect our business. Advertisers may use information that our users share
through Snapchat to develop or work with competitors to develop products or features that compete with us. Certain competitors, including Alphabet, Apple, and Meta, could use strong or
dominant 56Table of Contentspositions in one or more market segments to gain competitive advantages against us in areas where we operate, including by:a€¢integrating competing social
media platforms or features into products they control such as search engines, web browsers, artificial intelligence services, advertising networks, or mobile operating systems;a€¢making
acquisitions for similar or complementary products or services; ora€¢impeding Snapchata€™s accessibility and usability by modifying existing hardware and software on which the Snapchat
application operates.Certain acquisitions by our competitors may result in reduced functionality of our products and services, provide our competitors with valuable insight into the performance
of our and our partnersa€™ businesses, and provide our competitors with a pipeline of future acquisitions to maintain a dominant position. As a result, our competitors may acquire and engage
users at the expense of our user base, growth, or engagement, which may seriously harm our business.We believe that our ability to compete effectively depends on many factors, many of which
are beyond our control, including:a€¢the usefulness, novelty, performance, and reliability of our products compared to our competitorsa€™ products;a€¢the number and demographics of our
DAUSs;a€¢the timing and market acceptance of our products, including developments and enhancements of our competitorsa€™ products;a€¢our ability to monetize our products and services,
including new products and services;a€¢the availability of our products to users;a€¢the effectiveness of our advertising and sales teams;a€¢the effectiveness of our advertising products;a€¢our
ability to establish and maintain advertisersa€™ and partnersa€™ interest in using Snapchat;a€¢the frequency, relative prominence, and type of advertisements displayed on our application or
by our competitors;a€¢the effectiveness of our customer service and support efforts;a€¢the effectiveness of our marketing activities;a€¢actual or proposed legislation, regulation, executive
actions, or litigation, including settlements and consent decrees, some of which may have a disproportionate effect on us;a€¢acquisitions or consolidation within our industry segment;a€¢our
ability to attract, retain, and motivate talented team members, particularly engineers, designers, and sales personnel;a€¢our ability to successfully acquire and integrate companies and
assets;a€¢the security, or perceived security, of our products and data protection measures compared to our competitors' products;a€¢our ability to cost-effectively manage and scale our
operations; anda€¢our reputation and brand strength relative to our competitors.If we cannot effectively compete, our user engagement may decrease, which could make us less attractive to
users, advertisers, and partners and seriously harm our business.We have incurred operating losses in the past, and may not be able to attain and sustain profitability.We began commercial
operations in 2011 and we have historically experienced net losses and negative cash flows from operations. As of JuneA 30, 2024, we had an accumulated deficit of $12.6A billion and for the
three months ended JuneA 30, 2024, we had a net loss of $248.6A million. We expect our operating expenses to increase in the future as we expand our operations. We may incur significant
losses in the future for many reasons, including due to the other risks and 57Table of Contentsuncertainties described in this report. Additionally, we may encounter unforeseen expenses,
operating delays, or other unknown factors that may result in losses in future periods. If our revenue does not grow at a greater rate than our expenses, our business may be seriously harmed



and we may not be able to attain and sustain profitability.The loss of one or more of our key personnel, or our failure to attract and retain other highly qualified personnel in the future, could
seriously harm our business.We depend on the continued services and performance of our key personnel, including Mr. Spiegel and Mr. Murphy. Although we have entered into employment
agreements with Mr. Spiegel and Mr. Murphy, the agreements are at-will, which means that they may resign or could be terminated for any reason at any time. Mr. Spiegel and Mr. Murphy are
high profile individuals who have received threats in the past and are likely to continue to receive threats in the future. Mr. Spiegel, as Chief Executive Officer, has been responsible for our
companya€™s strategic vision and Mr. Murphy, as Chief Technology Officer, developed the Snapchat applicationa€™s technical foundation. Should either of them stop working for us for any
reason, it is unlikely that the other co-founder would be able to fulfill all of the responsibilities of the departing co-founder nor is it likely that we would be able to immediately find a suitable
replacement. The loss of key personnel, including members of management and key engineering, product development, marketing, and sales personnel, could disrupt our operations, adversely
impact employee retention and morale, and seriously harm our business.We cannot guarantee we will continue to attract and retain the personnel we need to maintain our competitive position.
We face significant competition in hiring and attracting qualified engineers, designers, and sales personnel, and the change by companies to offer a remote or hybrid work environment may
increase the competition for such employees from employers outside of our traditional office locations. In February 2023, we implemented our return to office plan that requires greater in-office
attendance. While we intend to continue offering flexible work arrangements based on the different needs of teams across our company on a case-by-case basis, we may face difficulty in hiring
and retaining our workforce as a result of this shift to have greater in-office attendance. Further, labor is subject to external factors that are beyond our control, including our industrya€™s
highly competitive market for skilled workers and leaders, inflation, other macroeconomic uncertainties, and workforce participation rates. In addition, if our reputation were to be harmed,
whether as a result of our strategic decisions or media, legislative, or regulatory scrutiny or otherwise, it could make it more difficult to attract and retain personnel that are critical to the
success of our business. Further, negative perception of our DEI initiatives, whether due to our perceived over- or under-pursuit of such initiatives, may result in issues hiring or retaining
employees, as well as potential litigation or other adverse impacts.As we continue to adapt and update our business model and priorities, or if our stock price declines, our equity awards may
not be as effective an incentive to attract, retain, and motivate team members. Stock price declines may also cause us to offer additional equity awards to our existing team members to aid in
retention. Furthermore, if we issue significant equity to attract and retain team members, we would incur substantial additional stock-based compensation expense and the ownership of our
existing stockholders would be further diluted. If we do not succeed in attracting, hiring, and integrating excellent personnel, or retaining and motivating existing personnel, we may be unable
to grow or effectively manage our business and our business could be seriously harmed.We have a continually evolving business model, which makes it difficult to evaluate our prospects and
future financial results and increases the risk that we will not be successful.We began commercial operations in 2011, began meaningfully monetizing Snapchat in 2015, and we launched
Snapchat+, a paid subscription product, in 2022. We have a continually evolving business model, which makes it difficult to effectively assess our future prospects. Accordingly, we believe that
investorsa€™ future perceptions and expectations, which can be idiosyncratic and vary widely, and which we do not control, will affect our stock price. For example, investors may believe our
timing and path to increased monetization will be faster or more effective than our current plans or than actually takes place. You should consider our business and prospects in light of the
many challenges we face, including the ones discussed in this report.If the security of our information technology systems or data is compromised or if our platform is subjected to attacks that
frustrate or thwart our usersa€™ ability to access our products and services, our users, advertisers, and partners may cut back on or stop using our products and services altogether, which
could seriously harm our business.In the ordinary course of business, we collect, store, use, and share personal data and other sensitive information, including proprietary and confidential
business data, trade secrets, third-party sensitive information, and intellectual property (collectively, sensitive information). Our efforts to protect our sensitive information, including
information that 58Table of Contentsour users, advertisers, and partners have shared with us, may be unsuccessful due to the actions of third parties, including traditional &€ceblack hata€
hackers, nation states, nation-state supported groups, organized criminal enterprises, hacktivists, and our personnel and contractors (through theft, misuse, or other risk). We and the third
parties on which we rely are subject to a variety of evolving threats, including social-engineering attacks (for example by fraudulently inducing employees, users, or advertisers to disclose
information to gain access to our sensitive information, including data or our usersa€™ or advertisersa€™ data, such as through the use of deep fakes, which may be increasingly more difficult
to identify as fake), malware, malicious code, hacking, credential stuffing, denial of service, and other threats, including attacks enhanced or facilitated by artificial intelligence. While certain of
these threats have occurred in the past, they have become more prevalent and sophisticated in our industry, and may occur in the future. Because of our prominence and value of our sensitive
information, we believe that we are an attractive target for these sorts of attacks. In particular, severe cyber extortion incidents, including ransomware attacks, are becoming increasingly
prevalent. To alleviate the financial, operational, and reputational impact of these incidents, it may be preferable to make extortion payments, but we may be unwilling or unable to do so,
including, for example, if applicable laws or regulations prohibit such payments. And, even if we make such payments, cyber threat actors may still disclose data, engage in further extortion, or
otherwise harm our systems or data. Moreover, for certain employees we permit a hybrid work environment, which has increased risks to our information technology systems and data, as our
employees utilize network connections, computers, and devices outside our premises or network, including working at home, while in transit and in public locations.In addition, cyber threat
actors have also increased the complexity of their attempts to compromise user and advertiser accounts, despite our defenses and detection mechanisms to prevent these account takeovers.
User credentials may be obtained on- or off-platform, including through breaches of third-party platforms and services, password stealing malware, social engineering, or other tactics and
techniques like credential harvesting, and used to launch individual, group, or coordinated enterprise-wide attacks. Some of these attacks may be hard to detect, including if they are at scale,
and may result in cyber threat actors using our service to spam or abuse other users, access user personal data, further compromise additional user accounts, or engage in fraudulent
advertising. Some of these attacks could also compromise employee credentials or involve socially engineering employees into granting access to systems or otherwise enabling or assisting in
the cyber threat actorsa€™ goals.We rely on third parties and technologies to operate critical business systems to process sensitive information in a variety of contexts, including cloud-based
infrastructure, data center facilities, Al, encryption and authentication technology, employee email, content delivery, and other functions. We may also rely on third parties to provide other
products or services to operate our business or enable features in our platform. Additionally, some advertisers and partners store sensitive information that we share with them. Our ability to
monitor these third partiesa€™ information security practices is limited, and these third parties may not have adequate information security measures in place despite their contractual
representations to implement such measures and our third-party service provider vetting process. If these third parties fail to implement adequate data security practices or fail to comply with
our terms, policies, or contractual obligations, our sensitive information may be improperly accessed or disclosed, and we may experience adverse consequences. And even if these third parties
take all of these steps, their networks may still suffer a breach, which could compromise our sensitive information. We or our third-party providers may also experience failures or malfunctions
of hardware or software, the loss of technology assets, or the loss of data that, while not caused by threat actors, may have a similar impact and risk to our business. While we may be entitled to
damages if the third parties on whom we rely fail to satisfy their privacy or security-related obligations to us, or cause the loss of our data or prolonged downtime, any award may be insufficient
to cover our damages, or we may be unable to recover such award.Moreover, supply chain attacks have increased in frequency and severity, and we cannot guarantee that third parties in our
supply chain have not been compromised or that their systems, networks, or code are free from exploitable defects or bugs that could result in a breach of or disruption to our platform, systems,
and networks or the systems and networks of third parties that support us and our services. We are also reliant on third-party and open source software to operate our platform and to assist in
the operation of our business, which software may contain, now or in the future, bugs, vulnerabilities, or errors that could be discovered or disclosed publicly before a patch or fix is available
and exploited by internal or external cyber threat actors.While we have implemented security measures designed to protect against security incidents, there can be no assurance that these
measures will be effective. We take steps designed to detect and remediate vulnerabilities in our information systems (such as our hardware and software, including that of third parties upon
which we rely), and we work with security researchers through our bug bounty program to help us identify vulnerabilities. We may not, however, detect, become aware of, and remediate all
such vulnerabilities including on a timely basis, and there is no guarantee security 59Table of Contentsresearchers will disclose all vulnerabilities they become aware of or do so responsibly.
Further, we may experience delays in developing or deploying remedial measures and patches designed to address identified vulnerabilities. Vulnerabilities could be exploited and result in a
security or privacy incident.If any of these or similar events occur, our or our third-party partnersa€™ sensitive information and information technology systems could be accessed, acquired,
modified, destroyed, lost, altered, encrypted, or disclosed in an unauthorized, unlawful, accidental, or other improper manner, resulting in a security incident or other interruption. It may be
difficult and costly to detect, investigate, mitigate, contain, and remediate a security incident. Our efforts to do so may not be successful. Actions taken by us or the third parties with whom we
work to detect, investigate, mitigate, contain, and remediate a security incident could result in outages, data losses, and disruptions of our business. Threat actors may also gain access to other
networks and systems after a compromise of our networks and systems.We may expend significant resources or modify our business activities to adopt additional measures designed to protect
against security incidents. Certain data privacy and security obligations may require us to implement and maintain specific security measures or industry-standard or reasonable security
measures to protect our systems and sensitive information. While we have implemented security measures designed to protect against security incidents, there can be no assurance that these
measures will be effective. We have previously suffered the loss of sensitive information related to employee error, insider threats, and vendor breaches. Any security incident experienced by us
or our third-party partners could damage our reputation and our brand, and diminish our competitive position. Applicable privacy and security obligations may require us, or we may choose, to
notify relevant stakeholders, including affected individuals, customers, regulators, and investors, of security incidents, or take other actions. Such disclosures and related actions are costly and
the failure to comply with applicable legal requirements could lead to adverse consequences. Governments and regulatory agencies (including the Securities and Exchange Commission, or the
SEC) have and may continue to enact new disclosure requirements for cybersecurity events. In addition, affected users or government authorities could initiate legal or regulatory action against
us, including class-action claims, mass arbitration demands, investigations, penalties, and audits, which could be time-consuming and cause us to incur significant expense and liability or result
in orders or consent decrees forcing us to modify our business practices. We could also experience loss of user or advertiser confidence in the security of our platform, additional reporting
requirements or oversight, restrictions on processing sensitive information, claims by our partners or other relevant parties that we have failed to comply with contractual obligations or our
policies, and indemnification obligations. We could also spend material resources to investigate or correct the incident and to prevent future incidents. Maintaining the trust of our users is
important to sustain our growth, retention, and user engagement. Concerns over our privacy and security practices, whether actual or unfounded, could damage our reputation and brand and
deter users, advertisers, and partners from using our products and services. Any of these occurrences could seriously harm our business. Our contracts may not contain limitations of liability,
and even where they do, there can be no assurance that limitations of liability in our contracts are sufficient to protect us from liabilities, damages, or claims related to our data privacy and
security obligations. We cannot be sure that our insurance coverage will be adequate or sufficient to protect us from or to mitigate liabilities arising out of our privacy and security practices,
that such coverage will continue to be available on commercially reasonable terms or at all, or that such coverage will pay future claims. In addition to experiencing a security incident, third
parties may gather, collect, or infer sensitive information about us from public sources, data brokers, or other means that reveals competitively sensitive details about our organization and
could be used to undermine our competitive advantage or market position. Our user metrics and other estimates are subject to inherent challenges in measurement, and real or perceived
inaccuracies in those metrics may seriously harm and negatively affect our reputation and our business.We regularly review and share metrics, including our DAUs and ARPU metrics, with our
investors, advertisers, and partners to evaluate growth trends, measure our performance, and make strategic decisions. These metrics are calculated using internal company data gathered on
an analytics platform that we developed and operate and our methodologies have not in all instances been validated by an independent third party. In addition, we may change the way we
measure and report metrics from time to time in connection with changes to our products, making comparisons to prior periods more difficult. While these metrics are based on what we believe
to be reasonable estimates for the applicable period of measurement, there are inherent challenges in measuring how our products are used across large populations globally that may require
significant judgment and are subject to technical errors. For example, there may be individuals who attempt to create accounts for malicious purposes, including at scale, even though we forbid
that in our Terms of 60Table of ContentsService and Community Guidelines. We implement measures in our user registration process and through other technical measures to prevent, detect,
and suppress that behavior, although we have not determined the number of such accounts, or the effectiveness of such measures. Our user metrics are also affected by technology on certain
mobile devices that automatically runs in the background of our Snapchat application when another phone function is used, and this activity can cause our system to miscount the user metrics
associated with such account. Some of our demographic data may be incomplete or inaccurate. For example, because users self-report their dates of birth, our age-demographic data may differ
from our usersa€™ actual ages. And because users who signed up for Snapchat before June 2013 were not asked to supply their date of birth, we may exclude those users from age
demographics or estimate their ages based on a sample of the self-reported ages we do have. If our users provide us with incorrect or incomplete information regarding their age or other
attributes, then our estimates may prove inaccurate and fail to meet investor or advertiser expectations.Errors or inaccuracies in our metrics or data could also result in incorrect business
decisions and inefficiencies. For instance, if a significant understatement or overstatement of active users were to occur, we may expend resources to implement unnecessary business measures
or fail to take required actions to attract a sufficient number of users to satisfy our growth strategies. We count a DAU when a user visits Snapchat through our applications or websites, and
only once per user per day. We have multiple pipelines of user data that we use to determine whether a user has visited Snapchat through our applications or websites during a particular day,
becoming a DAU. This provides redundancy in the event one pipeline of data were to become unavailable for technical reasons, and also gives us redundant data to help measure how users
interact with our application. However, we believe that we do not capture all data regarding our active users, which has in the past and may in the future result in understated metrics. This
generally occurs because of technical issues, for instance when our systems do not record data from a usera€™ s application or when a user opens the Snapchat application and contacts our
servers but is not recorded as an active user. We continually seek to address these technical issues and improve our measurement processes and accuracy, such as comparing our active users
and other metrics with data received from other pipelines, including data recorded by our servers and systems. But given the complexity of the systems involved and the rapidly changing nature
of mobile devices and systems, we expect these issues to continue, particularly if we continue to expand in parts of the world where mobile data systems and connections are less stable. If we
fail to maintain an effective analytics platform, our metrics calculations may be inaccurate. We regularly review, have adjusted in the past, and are likely to adjust in the future our processes for
calculating our internal metrics to improve their accuracy. As a result of such adjustments, our DAUs or other metrics may not be comparable to those in prior periods. Our measures of DAU
may also differ from estimates published by third parties or from similarly titled metrics of our competitors due to differences in methodology or data used. If advertisers, partners, or investors
do not perceive our user, geographic, other demographic metrics, or measurements of advertising effectiveness to be accurate, or if we discover material inaccuracies in our metrics, our
reputation may be seriously harmed. Our advertisers and partners may also be less willing to allocate their budgets or resources to Snapchat, which could seriously harm our business. In
addition, we calculate average DAUs for a particular quarter by adding the number of DAUs on each day of that quarter and dividing that sum by the number of days in that quarter. This
calculation may mask any individual days or months within the quarter that are significantly higher or lower than the quarterly average.Improper or illegal use of Snapchat could seriously harm
our business and reputation.We cannot be certain that the technologies that we have developed to repel spamming attacks will be able to eliminate all spam messages from our products.
Spammers attempt to use our products to send targeted and untargeted spam messages to users, which may embarrass, offend, threaten, or annoy users and make our products less user
friendly. Our actions to combat spam may also divert significant time and focus from improving our products. As a result of spamming activities, our users may use our products less or stop
using them altogether, and result in continuing operational cost to us.Similarly, terrorists, criminals, and other bad actors may use our products to promote their goals and encourage users to
engage in terror and other illegal activities discussed in our Transparency Report. We expect that as more people use our products, these bad actors will increasingly seek to misuse our
products. Although we invest resources to combat these activities, including by suspending or terminating accounts we believe are violating our Terms of Service and Community Guidelines, we



expect these bad actors will continue to seek ways to act inappropriately and illegally on Snapchat. Maintaining a safe platform, including by combating these bad actors, requires us to incur
costs, which may be significant. In addition, we may not be able to control or stop Snapchat from becoming the preferred application of use by these bad actors, which may seriously harm our
reputation or lead to lawsuits or attention from regulators. If these activities 61Table of Contentscontinue on Snapchat, our reputation, user growth and user engagement, and operational cost
structure could be seriously harmed.Because we store, process, and use data, some of which contains personal data, we are subject to complex and evolving federal, state, local and foreign
laws, regulations, executive actions, rules, contractual obligations, policies, and other obligations regarding privacy, data protection, content, the use of Al, and other matters. Many of these
obligations are subject to change and uncertain interpretation, and our actual or perceived failure to comply with such obligations could result in investigations, claims (including class actions),
mass arbitration demands, changes to our business practices, increased cost of operations, and declines in user growth, retention, or engagement, or other adverse consequences, any of which
could seriously harm our business.In the ordinary course of business, we collect, store, use, and share personal data and other sensitive information, including proprietary and confidential
business data, trade secrets, third-party sensitive information, and intellectual property. Accordingly, we are subject to a variety of laws, regulations, industry standards, policies, contractual
requirements, executive actions, and other obligations relating to privacy, security, and data protection. We also are or may in the future be subject to many federal, state, local, and foreign
laws and regulations, including those related to privacy, rights of publicity, content, data protection, Al, intellectual property, health and safety, competition, protection of minors, consumer
protection, employment, money transmission, import and export restrictions, gift cards, electronic funds transfers, anti-money laundering, advertising, algorithms, encryption, and
taxation.Under certain of these laws, we could face temporary or definitive bans on data processing and other corrective actions, substantial monetary fines, or private litigation related to
processing of personal data brought by classes of data subjects or consumer protection organizations authorized to represent their interests. The transfer of personal data continues to be under
increased regulatory attention and scrutiny, and certain jurisdictions in which we operate have significantly limited the lawful basis on which personal data can be transferred to other
jurisdictions and increased the assessments required to do so. We have attempted to structure our operations in a manner designed to help us partially avoid some of these concerns; however,
we still transfer some data using mechanisms that comply with applicable law. Some of these mechanisms are subject to legal challenges, and there is no assurance that we can satisfy or rely on
these mechanisms to lawfully transfer personal data in the future. If there is no lawful manner for us to transfer personal data, or if the requirements for a legally compliant transfer are too
onerous, we could face significant adverse consequences, including the interruption or degradation of our operations, the need to relocate part of or all of our business or data processing
activities to other jurisdictions at significant expense, increased exposure to regulatory actions, substantial fines and penalties, the inability to transfer data and work with partners, vendors,
and other third parties, and injunctions against our processing or transferring of personal data necessary to operate our business. Regulators may seek to restrict our data processing activities
if they believe we have violated cross-border data transfer limitations, which would seriously harm our business. Additionally, companies like us that transfer personal data between
jurisdictions, particularly to the United States, are subject to increased scrutiny from regulators, individual litigants, and activist groups. Legislation in certain of the countries in which we
operate has imposed extensive obligations, and potential monetary fines, on entities like us that are categorized in various contexts as online service providers (including, as the case may be,
social media platforms, electronic communications providers, or other similar categorizations) who enable the sharing of usera€‘generated content, to identify, mitigate, and manage the risks of
harm to users from illegal and harmful content, such as terrorism, child sexual exploitation and abuse, and harassment or stalking. In addition, the privacy of teensa€™ personal data collected
online, and use of commercial websites, applications, online services, or other interactive platforms, generally, are also becoming increasingly scrutinized. Regulations focused on online safety
and protection of teensa€™ privacy online have and may in the future require us to change our services and incur costs to do so. Moreover, various laws to restrict or govern the use of
commercial websites, applications, online services, or other interactive platforms by teens have passed or have been proposed, including laws prohibiting showing teens advertising, requiring
age verification, limiting the use of minorsa€™ personal data, and requiring parental consent or providing for other parental rights. These laws may be, or in some cases already have been,
subject to legal challenges and changing interpretations, which may further complicate our efforts to comply with laws applicable to us. These new laws may result in restrictions on the use of
certain of our products or services by teens, the inability to offer certain products and services to teens, decrease DAUs or user engagement in those jurisdictions, require changes to our
products and services to achieve compliance, decrease our advertising and subscription revenue, and increase legal risk and compliance costs for us and our third-party partners, any of which
could seriously harm our business. Laws and regulations focused on privacy, security, and data protection, including data breach notification laws, personal data privacy laws, consumer
protection laws, wiretapping laws, invasion of privacy laws, and other similar laws 62Table of Contentshave imposed obligations on companies that collect personal data from users, including
providing specific disclosures in privacy notices, expanding the requirements for handling personal data, requiring consents to process personal data in certain circumstances, and affording
residents with certain rights concerning their personal data. Such rights may include the right to access, correct, or delete certain personal data, and to opt-out of certain data processing
activities, such as targeted advertising, profiling, and automated decision-making. The exercise of these rights may impact our business and ability to provide our products and services, and our
inability or failure to obtain consent or otherwise identify a lawful basis for data processing that is acceptable to a regulator, where required, could result in adverse consequences, including
class-action litigation, regulatory enforcement, and mass arbitration demands. Certain of these laws also impose stricter requirements for processing certain personal data, including sensitive
information, such as conducting data privacy impact assessments. These laws also allow for statutory fines for noncompliance and, in some instances, provide for civil penalties for violations
and a private right of action for data breaches, which may increase the likelihood and cost of data breach litigation, and could seriously harm our business.Additionally, several jurisdictions in
which we operate have enacted statutes banning or restricting the collection of biometric information. Certain of these laws provide for substantial penalties and statutory damages and have
generated significant class-action activity. Although we maintain the position that our technologies do not collect any biometric information, we have in the past, and may in the future, settle
these disputes to avoid potentially costly litigation and have in certain instances made changes to our products in an abundance of caution. We use Al, including generative Al, in consumer-
facing features of our products and services, such My Al, and in the operation of our business. The development and use of Al presents various privacy and security risks that may impact our
business. Al is subject to privacy and data security laws, as well as increasing regulation and scrutiny. Several countries in which we operate or have users have proposed or enacted, or are
considering, laws governing AI, which we are or may be subject to. The legal landscape around intellectual property rights in Al, and the use, training, implementation, privacy, and safety of Al,
is evolving, including ongoing litigation against our peers relating to the use of data protected by global intellectual property and privacy laws. These obligations may make it harder for us to
use Al in our products or services, lead to regulatory fines or penalties, or require us to change our business practices, retrain our Al, or prevent or limit our use of Al. For example, we were
subject to an investigation by the UK Information Commissionera€™s Office, or ICO, which was concluded by the ICO in May 2024 and resulted in the ICO issuing its final non-infringement
decision regarding My Al in June 2024, meaning no fines or other enforcement actions were imposed. However, we remain subject to other regulatory inquiries relating to the use and operation
of My Al Given the current unsettled nature of the legal and regulatory environment surrounding Al, our or our partnersa€™ Al features and use, training, and implementation of Al could
subject us to regulatory action, product restrictions, fines, litigation, and reputational harm, and require us to expend significant resources, all of which may seriously harm our business.
Additionally, if our AI products fail to perform as intended, or produce outputs that are harmful, misleading, inaccurate, or biased, in addition to the risks above, our reputation and user
engagement may be harmed, and we may be required to change our business practices, retrain our Al, or limit our use of Al. Furthermore, certain enacted and proposed regulations related to
Al could impose onerous obligations related to the use of Al-related systems and may require us to change our products or business practices to comply with such obligations if they are
applicable.Privacy advocates and industry groups have proposed, and may propose in the future, standards with which we are legally or contractually obligated to comply. Moreover, we are also
bound by contractual obligations related to data privacy and security, and our efforts to comply with such obligations may not be successful. We also publish privacy policies, marketing
materials, and other statements regarding data privacy and security, including statements relied on by our users, advertisers, and business partners. If these policies, materials, or statements
are found to be deficient, lacking in transparency, deceptive, unfair, or misrepresentative of our practices, we may be subject to investigation, enforcement actions by regulators, or other
adverse consequences, including class-action litigation or mass arbitration demands.The implementation and enforcement, including through private rights of action, of these increasingly
complex, onerous, or divergent laws and regulations, and the introduction, interpretation, or revision of any new such laws or regulations, with respect to privacy, security, data protection, and
our industry are uncertain and may further complicate compliance efforts, lead to fragmentation of the service, and may increase legal risk and compliance costs for us and our third-party
partners. Many of these obligations are becoming increasingly stringent and subject to rapid change and uncertain interpretation. Preparing for and complying with these obligations requires
us to devote significant resources, and there is no guarantee that our compliance efforts to date, or in the future, will be deemed compliant or sufficient. These obligations may necessitate
changes to our products and services, information technologies, systems, and practices and to those of any third parties that process personal data on our behalf. In addition, these obligations
may require us to change our business model. Our business model materially depends on our ability to process personal data in connection with our 63Table of Contentsadvertising offerings, so
we are particularly exposed to the risks associated with the rapidly changing legal landscape regarding privacy, security, and data protection. For example, privacy regulators have targeted us
and some of our competitors, including by investigating data processing activities and in the past have issued large fines to our competitors. Such enforcement actions may cause us to revise
our business plans and operations. Moreover, we believe a number of investigations into other technology companies are currently being conducted by federal, state, and foreign legislative and
regulatory bodies. We therefore may be at heightened risk of regulatory scrutiny, as regulators focus their attention on data processing activities of companies like us, and any changes in the
regulatory framework or enforcement actions, whether against us or our competitors, could require us to fundamentally change our business model, and seriously harm our business.We may at
times fail, or be perceived to have failed, in our efforts to comply with our privacy, security, and data protection obligations. Moreover, despite our efforts, our personnel or third parties on
whom we rely may fail to comply with such obligations, which could negatively impact our business operations. If we or the third parties on which we rely fail, or are perceived to have failed, to
address or comply with applicable privacy, security, or data protection obligations, we could face significant consequences, including government enforcement actions (such as investigations,
claims, audits, and penalties), litigation (including class-action litigation) and mass arbitration demands, additional reporting requirements or oversight, bans on processing personal data,
negative publicity, and orders to destroy or not use or transfer personal data. Certain regulators may prohibit our use of certain personal data as a result of enforcement actions or similar
proceedings. Plaintiffs have become increasingly more active in bringing privacy-related claims against companies, including class claims and mass arbitration demands. Some of these claims
allow for the recovery of statutory damages on a per violation basis, and, if viable, carry the potential for monumental statutory damages, depending on the volume of data and the number of
violations. Any of these events could have a material adverse effect on our business, including loss of users and advertisers, inability to process personal data or operate in certain jurisdictions,
changes to our business practices, increased cost of operations, and declines in user growth, retention, or engagement, any of which could seriously harm our business.We have in the past been
subject to enforcement actions, investigations, proceedings, orders, or various government inquiries regarding our data privacy and security practices and processing. For example, in
December 2014, the Federal Trade Commission, or FTC, resolved an investigation into some of our early practices by issuing a final order. That order requires, among other things, that we
establish a robust privacy program to govern how we treat user data. During the 20-year term of the order, we must complete biennial independent privacy audits. In addition, in June 2014, we
entered into a 10-year assurance of discontinuance with the Attorney General of Maryland implementing similar practices, including measures to prevent minors under the age of 13 from
creating accounts and providing annual compliance reports. Violating existing or future regulatory orders or consent decrees could subject us to substantial monetary fines and other penalties
that could seriously harm our business.Our financial condition and results of operations will fluctuate from quarter to quarter, which makes them difficult to predict.Our quarterly results of
operations have fluctuated in the past and will fluctuate in the future. Additionally, we have a limited operating history with the current scale of our business, which makes it difficult to forecast
our future results. As a result, you should not rely on our past quarterly results of operations as indicators of future performance. You should take into account the risks and uncertainties
frequently encountered by companies in rapidly evolving market segments. Our financial condition and results of operations in any given quarter can be influenced by numerous factors, many of
which we are unable to predict or are outside of our control, including:a€¢our ability to maintain and grow our user base and user engagement;a€¢the development and introduction of new or
redesigned products or services by us or our competitors;a€¢the ability of our cloud service providers to scale effectively and timely provide the necessary technical infrastructure to offer our
service;a€¢our ability to attract and retain advertisers in a particular period;a€¢seasonal or other fluctuations in spending by our advertisers and product usage by our users, each of which may
change as our product offerings evolve or as our business grows or as a result of unpredictable events such as labor shortages and disruptions, supply chain disruptions, banking instability,
inflationary pressures, or geo-political conflicts;a€¢restructuring or other charges and unexpected costs or other operating expenses; a€¢the number of advertisements shown to users;64Table
of Contentsa€¢the pricing of our advertisements and other products;a€¢the effectiveness, and our ability to demonstrate to advertisers the effectiveness, of our advertisements;a€¢the
diversification and growth of revenue sources beyond current advertising;a€¢increases in marketing, sales, research and development, and other operating expenses that we may incur to grow
and expand our operations and to remain competitive;a€¢our ability to maintain operating margins, cash provided by operating activities, and Free Cash Flow;a€¢our ability to accurately
forecast consumer demand for our physical products and adequately manage inventory;a€¢system failures or security incidents, and the costs associated with such incidents and
remediations;a€¢inaccessibility of Snapchat, or certain features within Snapchat, due to third-party or governmental actions;a€¢stock-based compensation expense;a€¢our ability to effectively
incentivize our workforce;a€¢adverse litigation judgments, settlements, or other litigation-related costs, or product recalls;a€¢changes in the legislative or regulatory environment, including
with respect to privacy, rights of publicity, content, data protection, intellectual property, health and safety, competition, protection of minors, consumer protection, employment, money
transmission, import and export restrictions, gift cards, electronic funds transfers, anti-money laundering, advertising, algorithms, encryption, and taxation, enforcement by government
regulators, including fines, orders, sanctions, or consent decrees, or the issuance of executive orders or other similar executive actions that may adversely affect our revenues or restrict our
business;a€¢new privacy, data protection, and security laws and other obligations and increased regulatory scrutiny on our or our competitorsa€™ data processing activities and privacy and
information security practices, including through enforcement actions potentially resulting in large penalties or other severe sanctions and increased restrictions on the data processing
activities and personal data transfers critical to the operation of our current business model;a€¢fluctuations in currency exchange rates and changes in the proportion of our revenue and
expenses denominated in foreign currencies;a€¢fluctuations in the market values of our portfolio investments and interest rates or impairments of any assets on our consolidated balance
sheet;a€¢changes in our effective tax rate;a€¢announcements by competitors of significant new products, licenses, or acquisitions;a€¢our ability to make accurate accounting estimates and
appropriately recognize revenue for our products;a€¢our ability to meet minimum spending commitments in agreements with our infrastructure providers;a€¢changes in accounting standards,
policies, guidance, interpretations, or principles;a€¢the effect of war or other armed conflict on our workforce, operations, or the global economy; anda€¢changes in domestic and global
business or macroeconomic conditions, including as a result of inflationary pressures, banking instability, geo-political conflicts, terrorism, or responses to these events.If we are unable to
continue to maintain or successfully grow our user base and further monetize our products, our business will suffer.We have made, and are continuing to make, investments to enable users,
partners, and advertisers to create compelling content and deliver advertising to our users. Existing and prospective Snapchat users and advertisers may not be successful in creating content
that leads to and maintains user engagement. We are continuously seeking to balance the objectives of our users and advertisers with our desire to provide an optimal user experience. We do
not seek to monetize all of our products nor do we solely focus our efforts on users with higher ARPU, and we may not be successful in achieving a balance that continues to attract and retain
users and advertisers. We focus on growing engagement across our service, and from time to time our efforts may reduce user activity with certain monetizable products in favor of other
products we do not currently monetize. If we are not successful in our efforts to grow or effectively and timely monetize our user base, or if we are unable to build and maintain good relations
with our advertisers, our user growth and user 65Table of Contentsengagement and our business may be seriously harmed. In addition, we may expend significant resources to launch new



products that we are unable to monetize, which may seriously harm our business.Additionally, we may not succeed in further monetizing Snapchat. We currently primarily monetize Snapchat by
displaying advertisements sold by us and our partners. As a result, our financial performance and ability to grow revenue could be seriously harmed if:4€¢we fail to increase or maintain DAUSs,
especially in regions where we have higher monetization;a€¢our user growth outpaces our ability to monetize our users, including if we dona€™t attract sufficient advertisers or if our user
growth occurs in markets that are not as monetizable; &€¢we fail to increase or maintain the amount of time spent on Snapchat, the amount of content that our users share, or the usage of our
Camera, Visual Messaging, Map, Stories, and Spotlight platforms;a€¢partners and users do not create sufficient engaging content for users or partners do not renew their agreements with
us;a€¢we fail to attract sufficient advertisers to utilize our self-serve platform to make the best use of our advertising inventory;a€¢advertisers do not continue to introduce engaging
advertisements;a€ ¢advertisers reduce their advertising on Snapchat;a€¢we fail to maintain good relationships with advertisers or attract new advertisers, or demonstrate to advertisers the
effectiveness of advertising on Snapchat; 4€¢the content on Snapchat does not maintain or gain popularity; ora€¢we fail to attract prospective subscribers to Snapchat+, retain existing
subscribers, or effectively continue to monetize Snapchat+.We cannot assure you that we will effectively manage our growth or changes to our business.The growth and expansion of our
business, headcount, and products create significant challenges for our management, including managing multiple relationships with users, advertisers, partners, and other third parties, and
constrain operational and financial resources. If our operations or the number of third-party relationships continues to grow, our information-technology systems and our internal controls and
procedures may not adequately support our operations and may require significant investments of time and capital to improve. In addition, some members of our management do not have
significant experience managing large global business operations, so our management may not be able to manage such growth effectively. To effectively manage our growth, we must continue
to improve our operational, financial, and management processes and systems and effectively expand, train, and manage our employee base. However, the actions we take to achieve such
improvements may not have the intended effect and may instead result in disruptions, delays in new products, employee turnover, declines in revenue, and other adverse effects.As we continue
to adapt and update our business model and priorities and we are required to implement more complex organizational management structures, we may also find it increasingly difficult to
maintain the benefits of our corporate culture, including our ability to quickly develop and launch new and innovative products. This could negatively affect our business performance and
seriously harm our business. We periodically make changes to our business and priorities. Recently, we undertook a broad strategic reprioritization to focus on our top priorities, improve cost
efficiencies, and drive toward profitability and positive free cash flow. As we continue to adapt and update our business model and priorities, we may make additional restructurings,
reprioritizations, or workforce reductions in the future. Any such changes could disrupt our operations, increase costs, make it harder to service our users or customers, adversely impact
employee retention, hiring, and morale, negatively impact our reputation, or distract management, any of which could seriously harm our business.Our costs may increase faster than our
revenue, which could seriously harm our business or increase our losses.Providing our products to our users is costly, and we expect our expenses, including those related to people, research
and development, and hosting, to grow in the future. This expense growth will continue as we broaden our user base, as users increase the number of connections and amount of content they
consume and share, as we develop and 66Table of Contentsimplement new product features that require more computing infrastructure or products that are not revenue generating, and as we
grow our business. Historically, our costs have increased each year due to these factors, and we expect to continue to incur increasing costs. Our costs are based on development and release of
new products and the addition of users and may not be offset by a corresponding growth in our revenue. We will continue to invest in our global infrastructure to provide our products quickly
and reliably to all users around the world, including in countries where we do not expect significant short-term monetization, if any. Our expenses may be greater than we anticipate, and our
investments to make our business and our technical infrastructure more efficient may not succeed and may outpace monetization efforts. In addition, we expect to increase marketing, sales, and
other operating expenses to grow and expand our operations and to remain competitive. Increases in our costs without a corresponding increase in our revenue would increase our losses and
could seriously harm our business and financial performance.Our business depends on our ability to maintain and scale our technology infrastructure. Any significant disruption to our service
could damage our reputation, result in a potential loss of users and decrease in user engagement, and seriously harm our business.Our reputation and ability to attract, retain, and serve users
depends on the reliable performance of Snapchat and our underlying technology infrastructure. We have in the past experienced, and may in the future experience, interruptions in the
availability or performance of our products and services from time to time. Our systems may not be adequately designed with the necessary reliability and redundancy to avoid performance
delays or outages caused by us or other service providers that could seriously harm our business. If Snapchat is unavailable when users attempt to access it, or if it does not load as quickly as
they expect, users may not return to Snapchat as often in the future, or at all. As our user base and the volume and types of information shared on Snapchat grow, we will need an increasing
amount of technology infrastructure, including network capacity and computing power, to continue to satisfy our usersa€™ needs which could significantly increase our costs. It is possible that
we may fail to effectively scale and grow our technology infrastructure to accommodate these increased demands, or that improving our current technology infrastructure will require
significant resources and delay or hinder the development of other products or services. In addition, our business is subject to interruptions, delays, and failures resulting from earthquakes,
other natural disasters, geo-political conflicts, terrorism, pandemics, and other catastrophic events. Global climate change could also result in natural disasters occurring more frequently or
with more intense effects, which could cause business interruptions. Wars or other armed conflicts could damage or diminish our access to our technology infrastructure or regional networks
and disrupt our services, which could seriously harm our business and financial performance.As discussed in these risk factors, substantially all of our network infrastructure is provided by
third parties, including Google Cloud and AWS. We also rely on third parties for other technology related services, including certain AI functions. Any disruption or failure in the services we
receive from these providers could harm our ability to handle existing or increased traffic and could seriously harm our business. Any financial or other difficulties these providers face may
seriously harm our business. And because we exercise little control over these providers, we are vulnerable to problems with the services they provide and increases in the costs of these
services.We periodically augment and enhance our financial systems and we may experience difficulties in managing our systems and processes, which could disrupt our operations, the
management of our finances, and the reporting of our financial results, which in turn, may result in our inability to manage the growth of our business and to accurately forecast and report our
results, each of which could seriously harm our business. Our business emphasizes rapid innovation and prioritizes long-term user engagement over short-term financial condition or results of
operations. That strategy may yield results that sometimes dona€™t align with the marketa€™s expectations. If that happens, our stock price may be negatively affected.Our business is growing
and becoming more complex, and our success depends on our ability to quickly develop and launch new and innovative products. We believe our culture fosters this goal. Our focus on
innovations and quick reactions could result in unintended outcomes or decisions that are poorly received by our users, advertisers, or partners. We have made, and expect to continue to make,
significant investments to develop and launch new products and services and we cannot assure you that users will purchase or use such new products and services in the future. We will also
continue to attempt to find effective ways to show our community new and existing products and alert them to events, holidays, relevant content, and meaningful opportunities to connect with
their friends. These methods may provide temporary increases in engagement that may ultimately fail to attract and retain users. Our culture also prioritizes our long-term user engagement
over short-term financial condition or results of operations. We frequently make decisions that may reduce our short-term revenue or profitability if we believe that the decisions benefit the
aggregate user experience and 67Table of Contentsimprove our financial performance over the long term. For example, we monitor how advertising on Snapchat affects our usersa€™
experiences to attempt to ensure we do not deliver too many advertisements to our users, and we may decide to decrease the number of advertisements to increase our usersa€™ satisfaction in
the product. In addition, we improve Snapchat based on feedback provided by our users, advertisers, and partners. These decisions may not produce the long-term benefits that we expect, in
which case our user growth, retention and engagement on our service or on certain platforms, our relationships with advertisers and partners, and our business could be seriously harmed.Some
of our software and systems contain open source software, which may pose particular risks to our proprietary applications. We use software licensed to us by third-party developers under
4€ceopen sourced€ licenses in connection with the development or deployment of our products and expect to continue to use open source software in the future. Some open source licenses
contain express requirements or impose conditions, which may be triggered under certain circumstances, with respect to the exploitation of proprietary source code or other intellectual
property by users of open source software. While we employ practices designed to monitor our compliance with the licenses of third-party open source software and to avoid using the open
source software in a manner that would put our valuable proprietary source code at risk, there is a risk that we could have used, or may in the future use, open source software in a manner
which could require us to release our proprietary source code to users of our software or to the public, require us to license our proprietary software for purposes of making modifications or
derivative works, or prohibit us from charging fees for the use of our proprietary software. This could result in loss of revenue, and allow our competitors to create similar offerings with lower
development costs, and ultimately could result in a loss of our competitive advantages. Furthermore, there is an increasing number of open source software license types, almost none of which
have been tested in a court of law, resulting in guidance regarding the proper legal interpretation of such licenses and there is a risk that these licenses could be construed in a way that could
impose unanticipated conditions or restrictions on our ability to provide or distribute our products. If we were to receive a claim of non-compliance with the terms of any of our open source
licenses, we may be required to publicly release certain portions of our proprietary source code or expend substantial time and resources to re-engineer some or all of our software, which may
divert resources away from our product development efforts and, as a result, adversely affect our business. In addition, we could be required to seek licenses from third parties to continue
offering our products for certain uses, or cease offering the products associated with such software, which may be costly.In addition, our use of open source software may present greater risks
than use of other third-party commercial software, as open source licensors generally do not provide support, warranties, indemnification or other contractual protections regarding
infringement claims or the quality of the code. To the extent that our e-commerce capabilities and other business operations depend on the successful and secure operation of open source
software, any undetected or unremediated vulnerabilities, errors, or defects in open source software that we use could prevent the deployment or impair the functionality of our systems and
injure our reputation. In addition, the public availability of such software may make it easier for others to compromise our systems. Any of these risks could be difficult to eliminate or manage
and, if not addressed, could have an adverse effect on our business.If our users do not continue to contribute content or their contributions are not perceived as valuable to other users, we may
experience a decline in user growth, retention, and engagement on Snapchat, which could result in the loss of advertisers and revenue.Our success depends on our ability to provide Snapchat
users with engaging content, which in part depends on the content contributed by our users. If users, including influential users such as world leaders, government officials, celebrities, athletes,
journalists, sports teams, media outlets, and brands, do not continue to contribute engaging content to Snapchat, our user growth, retention, and engagement may decline. That, in turn, may
impair our ability to maintain good relationships with our advertisers or attract new advertisers, which may seriously harm our business.Differing government initiatives and restrictions in
regions in which our products and services are offered could seriously harm our business.Foreign data protection, privacy, consumer protection, content regulation, and other laws and
regulations are often more restrictive than those in the United States. In addition, federal, state, and local governments in the United States have taken increasingly divergent approaches to
legislating, regulating, and taking enforcement action with respect to technologies that are related to our products and services, including considering or passing laws and regulations that are
different than those applicable to other regions in the United States. Foreign governments may censor Snapchat in their countries, restrict access to Snapchat from their countries entirely,
impose age-based restrictions on access to Snapchat, 68Table of Contentsimpose other restrictions that may affect their citizensa€™ ability to access Snapchat for an extended period of time or
even indefinitely, require data localization, or impose other laws or regulations that we cannot comply with, would be difficult for us to comply with, or would require us to rebuild our products
or the infrastructure for our products. Federal, state, or local governments in the United States have taken and may continue to take similar steps. Such restrictions may also be implemented or
lifted selectively to target or benefit other companies or products, which may result in sudden or unexpected fluctuations in competition in regions where we operate. In addition, geo-political
conflicts may cause countries to target and restrict our operations, or to promote other companiesa€™ products in place of ours. Any restriction on access to Snapchat due to government
actions or initiatives, or any withdrawal by us from certain countries or regions because of such actions or initiatives, or any increased competition due to actions and initiatives of governments
would adversely affect our DAUS, including by giving our competitors an opportunity to penetrate geographic markets that we cannot access or to which they previously did not have access. As
a result, our user growth, retention, and engagement may be seriously harmed, and we may not be able to maintain or grow our revenue as anticipated and our business could be seriously
harmed.Our users may increasingly engage directly with our partners and advertisers instead of through Snapchat, which may negatively affect our revenue and seriously harm our
business.Using our products, some partners and advertisers not only can interact directly with our users but can also direct our users to content on third-party websites or downloads of third-
party applications. In addition, our users may generate content by using Snapchat features, but then share, use, or post the content on a different platform. The more our users engage with
third-party websites and applications, the less engagement we may get from them, which would adversely affect the revenue we could earn from them. Although we believe that Snapchat reaps
significant long-term benefits from increased user engagement with content on Snapchat provided by our partners, these benefits may not offset the possible loss of advertising revenue, in
which case our business could be seriously harmed.If events occur that damage our brand or reputation, our business may be seriously harmed.We have developed a brand that we believe has
contributed to our success. We also believe that maintaining and enhancing our brand is critical to expanding our user base, advertisers, and partners. Because many of our users join Snapchat
on the invitation or recommendation of a friend or family member, one of our primary focuses is on ensuring that our users continue to view Snapchat and our brand favorably so that these
referrals continue. Maintaining and enhancing our brand will depend largely on our ability to continue to provide useful, novel, fun, reliable, trustworthy, and innovative products, which we may
not do successfully. We may introduce new products, make changes to existing products and services, or require our users to agree to new terms of service related to new and existing products
that users do not like, which may negatively affect our brand in the short-term, long-term, or both. Additionally, our partnersa€™ actions may affect our brand if users do not appreciate what
those partners do on Snapchat. We may also fail to adequately support the needs of our users, advertisers, or partners, which could erode confidence in our brand. Maintaining and enhancing
our brand may require us to make substantial investments and these investments may not be successful. If we fail to successfully promote and maintain our brand or if we incur excessive
expenses in this effort, our business may be seriously harmed.In the past, we have experienced, and we expect that we will continue to experience, media, legislative, and regulatory scrutiny.
Negative public perception regarding us (including regarding our privacy or security practices, products, illicit use of our products, litigation, or employee matters, or regarding the actions of
our founders, our partners, our users, or other companies in our industry) or unfavorable legislative, litigation, or regulatory actions could seriously harm our reputation and brand, and result in
decreased revenue, fewer application installs (or increased application un-installs), or declining engagement or growth rates. For example, new laws may increase the minimum age at which
individuals are able to access our products or require parental consent for the use of our products. In addition, parental or general public perception of our industry or Snapchat in particular
could adversely affect the size, demographics, engagement, and loyalty of our user base, any of which could seriously harm our business.Expanding and operating in international markets
requires significant resources and management attention. If we are not successful in expanding and operating our business in international markets, we may incur significant costs, damage our
brand, or need to lay off team members in those markets, any of which may seriously harm our business.We have expanded to new international markets and are growing our operations in
existing international markets, which may have very different cultures and commercial, legal, and regulatory systems than where we predominantly operate. In connection with our international
expansion and growth, we also hire new team members in many of these markets. This international expansion may:69Table of Contentsa€¢impede our ability to continuously monitor the
performance of all of our team members;a€¢result in hiring of team members who may not yet fully understand our business, products, and culture; ora€¢cause us to expand in markets that
may lack the culture and infrastructure needed to adopt our products.These issues may eventually lead to turnover or layoffs of team members in these markets and may harm our ability to
grow our business in these markets. In addition, scaling our business to international markets imposes complexity on our business, and requires additional financial, legal, and management
resources. We may not be able to manage growth and expansion effectively, which could damage our brand, result in significant costs, and seriously harm our business. For example, we
recently undertook a broad strategic reprioritization to focus on our top priorities, improve cost efficiencies, and drive toward profitability and positive free cash flow. As we continue to adapt



and update our business model and priorities, we may make additional restructurings, reprioritizations, or workforce reductions in the future. Any such changes could disrupt our operations,
increase costs, make it harder to service our users or customers, adversely impact employee retention, hiring and morale, negatively impact our reputation, or distract management, any of
which could seriously harm our business.Additionally, because we have team members internationally, we are exposed to political, social, and economic instability in additional countries and
regions. Our products are highly technical and may contain undetected software vulnerabilities, bugs, or hardware errors, which could manifest in ways that could seriously harm our reputation
and our business.Our products are highly technical and complex. Snapchat, our other products, or products we may introduce in the future, may contain undetected software bugs, hardware
errors, and other vulnerabilities. These bugs and errors can manifest in any number of ways in our products, including through diminished performance, security vulnerabilities, malfunctions, or
even permanently disabled products. We have a practice of updating our products, but some errors in our products may be discovered only after a product has been released or shipped and
used by users, and may in some cases be detected only under certain circumstances or after extended use. While we maintain an application security program designed to detect and remediate
bugs and vulnerabilities in our products prior to their launch and a bug bounty program to allow security researchers to assist us in identifying vulnerabilities in our products before they are
exploited by malicious threat actors, there is no guarantee that we will be able to discover and remediate vulnerabilities or threats to our products, including in a timely manner. We may be
unable to detect bugs, vulnerabilities or threats because no testing can reveal all bugs and vulnerabilities in highly technical and complex products that are constantly evolving, cyber threat
actors are developing sophisticated and often undisclosed exploit development tools and techniques, and vulnerabilities in open source and third-party software that may be included in our
products are disclosed daily. Any errors, bugs, or vulnerabilities discovered in our products or code (particularly after release) could damage our reputation, result in a security incident (and
attendant consequences), drive away users, lower revenue, and expose us to litigation claims or regulatory investigations or enforcement actions, any of which could seriously harm our
business. We may also experience delays in developing and deploying remedial measures and patches designed to address identified vulnerabilities.Spectacles, as an eyewear product, is
regulated by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or the FDA, and may malfunction in a way that results in physical harm to a user or others around the user. We offer a limited one-year
warranty in the United States and a limited two-year warranty in Europe, and any such defects discovered in our products after commercial release could result in a loss of sales and users,
which could seriously harm our business. Moreover, certain jurisdictions in which we operate require manufacturers of connected devices to comply with legal and contractual obligations that
govern the way data generated by such connected devices is shared and used. If we are unable to comply with these requirements in a timely manner, or if we face technical difficulties in the
implementation of some requirements, we could become subject to investigations and enforcement actions, which could require additional financial and management resources.We may face
claims for product liability, tort, or breach of warranty, or experience product recalls. For example, in the first quarter of 2024, we voluntarily decided to recall our Pixy drone product and
refund consumers after determining that, in a very small number of cases, the batteries overheated. The product had been discontinued in August 2022. Our product contracts with users
contain provisions relating to warranty disclaimers and liability limitations, which may not be upheld. In addition, our liability insurance coverage may prove inadequate or future coverage may
be unavailable on acceptable terms or at all. The occurrence of any of these events could increase our costs, divert management attention, and seriously harm our reputation and our
business.70Table of ContentsWe have been, are currently, and may in the future be subject to regulatory inquiries, investigations, and proceedings which could cause us to incur substantial
costs or require us to change our business practices in a way that could seriously harm our business.We have been, are currently, and may in the future be subject to inquiries, investigations,
and proceedings instituted by government entities on a variety of topics, including data privacy, Al, safety, law enforcement, consumer protection, civil rights, content moderation, and the use
of our platform for illegal purposes. We regularly report information about our business to federal, state, and foreign regulators in the ordinary course of operations and have, and may in the
future, receive additional requests for information regarding our business practices. These actions, including any potential unfavorable outcomes, and our compliance with any associated
regulatory orders, consent decrees, or settlements, may require us to change our products, product offerings and features, policies or practices, subject us to substantial monetary fines or other
penalties or sanctions, result in increased operating costs, divert managementa€™s attention, harm our reputation, and require us to incur significant legal and other expenses, any of which
could seriously harm our business.We are currently, and expect to be in the future, party to patent lawsuits and other intellectual property claims that are expensive and time-consuming. If
resolved adversely, these lawsuits and claims could seriously harm our business.Companies in the mobile, camera, communication, media, internet, and other technology-related industries own
large numbers of patents, copyrights, trademarks, trade secrets, and other intellectual property rights, and frequently enter into litigation based on allegations of infringement,
misappropriation, or other violations of intellectual property or other rights. In addition, various 4€cenon-practicing entitiesa€ and other entities that own patents, copyrights, trademarks, trade
secrets, and other intellectual property rights often attempt to aggressively assert their rights to extract value from technology companies. Furthermore, from time to time we may introduce
new products or make other business changes, including in areas where we currently do not compete, which could increase our exposure to patent, copyright, trademark, trade secret, and
other intellectual property rights claims from competitors and non-practicing entities. We have been subject to, and expect to continue to be subject to, claims and legal proceedings from
holders of patents, trademarks, copyrights, trade secrets, and other intellectual property rights alleging that some of our products or content infringe their rights. An unfavorable outcome in
any of these lawsuits could seriously harm our business. If these or other matters continue in the future or we need to enter into licensing arrangements, which may not be available to us or on
terms favorable to us, it may increase our costs and decrease the value of our products, and our business could be seriously harmed. If a third party does not offer us a license to its intellectual
property on commercially reasonable terms, or at all, we may be required to develop, acquire or license alternative, non-infringing technology, which could require significant time, effort, and
expense, and may ultimately not be successful. Any of these events would adversely affect our business.Moreover, we may not be aware if our platform is infringing, misappropriating, or
otherwise violating third-party intellectual property rights, and third parties may bring claims alleging such infringement, misappropriation, or violation. Because patent applications can take
years to issue and are often afforded confidentiality for some period of time, there may currently be pending applications, unknown to us, that later result in issued patents that could cover one
or more of our products and there is also a risk that we could adopt a technology without knowledge of a pending patent application, which technology would infringe a third-party patent once
that patent is issued. Moreover, the law continues to evolve and be applied and interpreted by courts in novel ways that we may not be able to adequately anticipate, and such changes may
subject us to additional claims and liabilities. In a patent infringement claim against us, we may assert, as a defense, that we do not infringe the relevant patent claims, that the patent is invalid
or both. The strength of our defenses will depend on the patents asserted, the interpretation of these patents and our ability to invalidate the asserted patents. However, we could be
unsuccessful in advancing non-infringement or invalidity arguments in our defense. In the United States, issued patents enjoy a presumption of validity, and the party challenging the validity of
a patent claim must present clear and convincing evidence of invalidity, which is a high burden of proof. Conversely, the patent owner need only prove infringement by a preponderance of the
evidence, which is a lower burden of proof. Intellectual property claims, whether or not successful, could divert management time and attention away from our business and harm our reputation
and financial condition. Moreover, there could be public announcements of the results of hearings, motions or other interim proceedings or developments and if securities analysts or investors
perceive these results to be negative, it could have a substantial adverse effect on our business.We are currently, and expect to be in the future, party to lawsuits contending that we should be
legally responsible for content created by our users or harms experienced by our users. These lawsuits can be expensive and time-consuming. If resolved adversely, these lawsuits and claims
could seriously harm our business.We rely on a variety of Constitutional, statutory, and common-law frameworks that provide that we are not legally responsible for content created by our
users, including the Digital Millennium Copyright Act, the Communications 71Table of ContentsDecency Act, or CDA, the First Amendment, and the fair-use doctrine. However, these provisions,
statutes, and doctrines are subject to uncertain judicial interpretation and regulatory and legislative amendments. For example, the U.S. Congress amended the CDA in 2018 in ways that could
expose some Internet platforms to an increased risk of litigation. In addition, the U.S. Congress and the Executive branch have proposed further changes or amendments to the CDA each year
since 2019 including, among other things, proposals that would narrow the scope of CDA protection, expand government enforcement power relating to content moderation concerns, or repeal
the CDA altogether. Some U.S. states have also enacted or proposed legislation that would undercut, or conflict with, the CDA&€™ s protections and implicate U.S. constitutional protections.
Some of these state-specific laws grant individuals a private right of action to sue to enforce these laws, with statutory damages. Although such state laws have been or can be expected to be
challenged in court, if these laws were upheld or if additional similar laws or the changes or amendments to the CDA proposed by the U.S. Congress and the Executive branch were enacted,
such changes may decrease the protections provided by the CDA or previously accepted U.S. constitutional protections and expose us to lawsuits, penalties, and additional compliance
obligations. If courts begin to interpret the CDA more narrowly than they have historically done, this could expose us to additional lawsuits and potential judgments and seriously harm our
business. Moreover, some of these statutes and doctrines that we rely on provide protection only or primarily in the United States. If the rules around these doctrines change, if international
jurisdictions refuse to apply similar protections, or if a court were to disagree with our application of those rules to our service, we could incur liability or be required to make significant
changes to our products, business practices, or operations, and our business could be seriously harmed.Notwithstanding these Constitutional, statutory, and common-law protections, we have
faced, currently face, and will continue to face claims relating to information that is published or made available on our products, including Snapchat. In particular, the nature of our business
exposes us to claims related to defamation, intellectual property rights, rights of publicity and privacy, and personal injury torts. For example, we do not monitor or edit the vast majority of
content that is communicated through Snapchat, and such content has, and may in the future, expose us to lawsuits. Specifically, we are currently facing several lawsuits alleging that we are
liable for allowing users to communicate with each other, and that those communications sometimes result in harm. In addition, other lawsuits allege that the design of our platform and those of
our competitors is addictive and harmful to minor usersa€™ mental health. Other plaintiffs have argued that we should be legally responsible for fentanyl overdoses or poisoning if
communications about a drug transaction occurred on our platform. We believe we have meritorious defenses to these lawsuits, but litigation is inherently uncertain. Unfavorable outcomes
could seriously harm our business. These actions, including any potential unfavorable outcomes, and our compliance with any associated court orders or settlements, may require us to change
our policies or practices, subject us to substantial monetary judgments, fines, penalties, or sanctions, result in increased operating costs, divert managementa€™s attention, harm our
reputation, and require us to incur significant legal and other expenses, any of which could seriously harm our business. Even if the outcome of any such litigation or claim is favorable,
defending against such lawsuits is costly and can impose a significant burden on management and employees. We may also receive unfavorable preliminary, interim, or final rulings in the
course of litigation.This risk is enhanced in certain jurisdictions outside the United States where our protection from liability for third-party actions may be less than the protection that exists in
the United States. For example, in April 2019, the European Union passed a directive expanding online platform liability for copyright infringement and regulating certain uses of news content
online, which member states were required to implement by June 2021. In addition, legislation in Germany may impose significant fines for failure to comply with certain content removal and
disclosure obligations. Numerous other countries in Europe, the Middle East, Asia-Pacific, and Latin America are considering or have implemented similar legislation imposing penalties for
failure to remove certain types of content or follow certain processes.We could incur significant costs investigating and defending such claims and, if we are found liable, significant damages, or
license costs. We could also face fines or orders restricting or blocking our services in particular geographies as a result of content hosted on our services. If any of these events occur, we may
incur significant costs or be required to make significant changes to our products, business practices, or operations and our business could be seriously harmed.From time to time, we are
involved in class-action lawsuits and other litigation matters that are expensive and time-consuming and could seriously harm our business.We are involved in numerous lawsuits, including
putative class-action lawsuits brought by users and investors, some of which may claim statutory damages. We anticipate that we will continue to be a target for lawsuits in the future. Because
we have millions of users, class-action lawsuits against us that are purportedly filed by or on behalf of users typically claim enormous monetary damages in the aggregate even if the alleged per-
user harm is small or non-existent. 72Table of ContentsSimilarly, because we have a large number of stockholders, class-action lawsuits on securities theories typically claim enormous monetary
damages in the aggregate even if the alleged loss per stockholder is small. For example, in November 2021, we, and certain of our officers, were named as defendants in a securities class-action
lawsuit in federal court purportedly brought on behalf of purchasers of our Class A common stock. The lawsuit alleges that we and certain of our officers made false or misleading statements
and omissions concerning the impact that Applea€™s App Tracking Transparency, or ATT, framework would have on our business.We believe we have meritorious defenses to these lawsuits,
but litigation is inherently uncertain and an unfavorable outcome could seriously harm our business. Any litigation to which we are a party may result in an onerous or unfavorable judgment
that might not be reversed on appeal, or we may decide to settle lawsuits on adverse terms. Any such negative outcome could result in payments of substantial monetary damages or fines, or
changes to our products or business practices, and seriously harm our business. Even if the outcome of any such litigation or claim is favorable, defending against such lawsuits is costly and can
impose a significant burden on management and employees. We may also receive unfavorable preliminary, interim, or final rulings in the course of litigation.We plan to continue expanding our
international operations, including in markets where we have limited operating experience and may be subject to increased business and economic risks that could seriously harm our
business.We plan to continue expanding our business operations abroad and to enter new international markets and expand our operations in existing international markets, where in some
cases we have limited or no experience in marketing, selling, and deploying our products and advertisements. Our limited experience and infrastructure in such markets, or the lack of a critical
mass of users in such markets, may make it more difficult for us to effectively monetize any increase in DAUs in those markets, and may increase our costs without a corresponding increase in
revenue. If we fail to deploy or manage our operations in international markets successfully, our business may suffer. We do not currently enter into foreign currency exchange contracts, which
means our business, financial condition, and operating results may be impacted by fluctuations in the exchange rates of the currencies in which we do business. In the future, as our
international operations increase, or more of our revenue agreements or operating expenses are denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar, these impacts may become material. In
addition, as our international operations and sales continue to grow, we are subject to a variety of risks inherent in doing business internationally, including:a€¢political, social, and economic
instability, including war and other armed conflict, and significant political developments or disruptions in foreign jurisdictions, such as the ongoing legal and regulatory changes in the United
Kingdom as a result of the withdrawal of the United Kingdom from the European Union;a€¢risks related to the legal and regulatory environment in foreign jurisdictions, including with respect
to privacy, rights of publicity, content, data protection, cybersecurity, intellectual property, health and safety, competition, protection of minors, consumer protection, employment, money
transmission, import and export restrictions, gift cards, electronic funds transfers, anti-money laundering, advertising, algorithms, encryption, and taxation, and unexpected changes in laws,
regulatory requirements, and enforcement;a€¢potential damage to our brand and reputation due to compliance with local laws, including potential censorship and requirements to provide user
information to local authorities;a€¢fluctuations in currency exchange rates;a€¢higher levels of credit risk and payment fraud;4€¢complying with tax requirements of multiple jurisdictions;a€
¢enhanced difficulties of integrating any foreign acquisitions;a€¢complying with a variety of foreign laws, including certain employment laws requiring national collective bargaining
agreements that set minimum salaries, benefits, working conditions, and termination requirements;a€¢complying with a variety of foreign disclosure and reporting obligations, including those
related to environmental, social, and corporate governance impacts and security breaches; a€¢reduced protection for intellectual-property rights in some countries;a€¢difficulties in staffing and
managing global operations and the increased travel, infrastructure, and compliance costs associated with multiple international locations;a€¢regulations that might add difficulties in
repatriating cash earned outside the United States and otherwise preventing us from freely moving cash;73Table of Contentsa€¢import and export restrictions and changes in trade
regulation;a€¢complying with statutory equity requirements;a€¢complying with the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, the U.K. Bribery Act, and similar laws in other jurisdictions; anda€
¢export controls and economic sanctions administered by the Department of Commerce Bureau of Industry and Security, the Treasury Departmenta€™s Office of Foreign Assets Control, or
other similar foreign regulatory bodies.If we are unable to expand internationally and manage the complexity of our global operations successfully, our business could be seriously harmed.We
plan to continue to make acquisitions and strategic investments in other companies, which could require significant management attention, disrupt our business, dilute our stockholders, and
seriously harm our business.As part of our business strategy, we have made and intend to make acquisitions to add specialized team members and complementary companies, products, and



technologies, as well as investments in public and private companies in furtherance of our strategic objectives. Our ability to acquire and successfully integrate larger or more complex
companies, products, and technologies is unproven. In the future, we may not be able to find other suitable acquisition or investment candidates, and we may not be able to complete
acquisitions or investments on favorable terms, if at all. Our previous and future acquisitions and investments may not achieve our goals, and any future acquisitions or investments we complete
could be viewed negatively by users, advertisers, partners, or investors. In addition, if we fail to successfully close transactions, integrate new teams, or integrate the products, technologies,
and systems associated with these acquisitions into our company, our business could be seriously harmed. Any integration process may require significant time and resources, and we may not
be able to manage the process successfully. For example, future or past business transactions could expose us to additional cybersecurity risks and vulnerabilities, as our systems could be
negatively affected by vulnerabilities present in acquired or integrated entitiesa€™ systems and technologies. We may not successfully evaluate or use the acquired products, technology, and
personnel, or accurately forecast the financial impact of an acquisition or investment transaction, including accounting charges. We may also incur unanticipated liabilities and litigation
exposure that we assume as a result of acquiring companies. We may have to pay cash, incur debt, or issue equity securities to pay for any acquisition or investment, any of which could
seriously harm our business. Selling or issuing equity to finance or carry out any such acquisition or investment would also dilute our existing stockholders. Incurring debt would increase our
fixed obligations and could also include covenants or other restrictions that would impede our ability to manage our operations.In addition, it generally takes several months after the closing of
an acquisition to finalize the purchase price allocation. Therefore, it is possible that our valuation of an acquisition may change and result in unanticipated write-offs or charges, impairment of
our goodwill, or a material change to the fair value of the assets and liabilities associated with a particular acquisition, any of which could seriously harm our business. The strategic investments
we make in public and private companies around the world range from early-stage companies still defining their strategic direction to mature companies with established revenue streams and
business models. Many of the instruments in which we invest are non-marketable and illiquid at the time of our initial investment, and our ability to realize a return on our investment, if any, is
typically dependent on the issuer participating in a liquidity event, such as a public offering or acquisition. We are not always able to achieve a return on our investments in a timely fashion, if at
all, even for those companies that have achieved a liquidity event. To the extent any of the companies in which we invest are not successful, which can include failures to achieve business
objectives as well as bankruptcy, we could recognize an impairment or lose all or part of our investment. Our acquisition and investment strategy may not succeed if we are unable to remain
attractive to target companies or expeditiously close transactions. For example, if we develop a reputation for being a difficult acquirer or having an unfavorable work environment, or target
companies view our non-voting Class A common stock unfavorably, we may be unable to source and close acquisition targets. In addition, members of the U.S. administration and Congress have
proposed new legislation, and the U.S. Federal Trade Commission and Department of Justice have adopted new procedures, that could limit, hinder, or delay the acquisition process and target
opportunities. If we are unable to consummate key acquisition transactions essential to our corporate strategy, it may limit our ability to grow or compete effectively and our business may be
seriously harmed. 74Table of ContentsIf our goodwill or intangible assets become impaired, we may be required to record a significant charge to earnings, which could seriously harm our
business.Under U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, or GAAP, we review our intangible assets for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value
may not be recoverable. Goodwill is required to be tested for impairment at least annually. As of JuneA 30, 2024, we had recorded a total of $1.8 billion of goodwill and intangible assets, net
related to our acquisitions. An adverse change in market conditions, particularly if such change has the effect of changing one of our critical assumptions or estimates, could result in a change
to the estimation of fair value that could result in an impairment charge to our goodwill or intangible assets. Any such material charges may seriously harm our business.Our use of equity
awards to compensate and motivate our employees causes dilution to existing stockholders. Efforts to manage this dilution are likely to reduce the amount of cash we have available for other
purposes.We use equity awards that vest over multiple years to compensate and motivate our employees. When our employee equity awards vest, we typically withhold taxes and remit them,
along with any employee and employer social security contributions, to relevant taxing authorities on behalf of team members and, where applicable, their employers. While the issuance of
stock-based compensation to our employees does not deplete our cash balance, it is dilutive to existing stockholders. To help manage and mitigate this dilution, we can choose to use our
existing cash to fund the withholding and remittance obligations on equity awards when they vest (instead of selling a portion of the vested equity award on behalf of our employees), or engage
in stock repurchases. However, doing so would reduce the amount of cash we have available to fund working capital, capital expenditures, strategic acquisitions or business opportunities, and
other general corporate purposes and may increase stock price volatility. If we were to elect to satisfy tax withholding and remittance obligations in whole or in part by drawing on our revolving
credit facility, our interest expense and principal repayment requirements could increase significantly, which could seriously harm our business.There are numerous risks associated with our
internal and contract manufacturing of our physical products and components. If we encounter problems with either our internal or contract manufacturing, we may not deliver our products
within specifications or on time, which may seriously harm our business.Manufacturing processes are highly complex, require advanced and costly equipment, and must be continuously
modified to improve yields and performance. We largely rely on third-party suppliers and contract manufacturers in connection with the production of our own physical products and
components. We and our contract manufacturers are all vulnerable to capacity constraints and reduced component availability, and have limited control over delivery schedules, manufacturing
yields, and costs, particularly when components are in short supply, or if we introduce a new product or feature. In addition, we have limited control over our suppliersa€™ and
manufacturersa€™ quality systems and controls, and therefore must rely on them to meet our quality and performance standards and specifications. Delays, component shortages, including
custom components that are manufactured for us at our direction, global trade conditions and agreements, and other manufacturing and supply problems could impair the distribution of our
products and ultimately our brand. For example, the United States has threatened tougher trade terms with China and other countries, leading to the imposition, or potential future imposition,
of substantially higher U.S. Section 301 tariffs on certain imports from China, which may adversely affect our products and seriously harm our business.Furthermore, any adverse change in our
suppliersa€™ or contract manufacturersa€™ financial or business condition or our relationship with them could disrupt our ability to supply our products. If we change our suppliers or contract
manufacturers, or shift to more internal manufacturing operations, we may lose revenue, incur increased costs, and damage our reputation and brand. Qualifying and commencing operations
with a new supplier or contract manufacturer is expensive and time-consuming. In addition, if we experience increased demand for our products, we may need to increase our material or
component purchases, internal or contract-manufacturing capacity, and internal test and quality functions. The inability of our suppliers or contract manufacturers to provide us with adequate
high-quality materials and products could delay our order fulfillment, and may require us to change the design of our products to meet this increased demand. Any redesign may require us to
re-qualify our products with any applicable regulatory bodies or customers, which would be costly and time-consuming. This may lead to unsatisfied customers and users and increase costs to
us, which could seriously harm our business. As we increase or acquire additional manufacturing capacity, we are subject to many complex and evolving environmental, health, and safety laws,
regulations, and rules in each jurisdiction in which we operate. If we fail to comply with any such laws and regulations, then we could incur regulatory penalties, fines, and legal liabilities,
suspension of production, significant compliance requirements, alteration of our manufacturing processes, or restrictions on our ability to modify or expand our facilities, any of which could
seriously harm our business. 75Table of ContentsIn addition, any errors or defects in any parts or technology incorporated into our products could result in product failures or recalls that could
seriously harm our business. Further, any defect in manufacturing, design, or other could cause our products to fail or render them permanently inoperable. As a result of such product failures
or recalls, we may have to replace or offer refunds for these products at our sole cost and expense, face litigation, including class-action lawsuits, or be subject to other liabilities. Should we
have a widespread problem of this kind, the reputational damage and the cost of replacing these products, or other liabilities, could seriously harm our business.Some of our products are in
regulated industries. Clearances to market regulated products can be costly and time-consuming, and we may not be able to obtain these clearances or approvals on a timely basis, or at all, for
future products.The FDA and other state and foreign regulatory agencies regulate Spectacles. We may develop future products that are regulated as medical devices by the FDA or regulated by
other governmental agencies. Government authorities, primarily the FDA and corresponding regulatory agencies, regulate the medical device industry. Unless there is an exemption, we must
obtain regulatory approval from the FDA and corresponding agencies, or other applicable governmental authorities, before we can market or sell a new regulated product or make a significant
modification to an existing product. Obtaining regulatory clearances to market a medical device or other regulated products can be costly and time-consuming, and we may not be able to obtain
these clearances or approvals on a timely basis, or at all, for future products. Any delay in, or failure to receive or maintain, clearance or approval for any products under development could
prevent us from launching new products. We could seriously harm our business and the ability to sell our products if we experience any product problems requiring reporting to governmental
authorities, if we fail to comply with applicable federal, state, or foreign agency regulations, or if we are subject to enforcement actions such as fines, civil penalties, injunctions, product recalls,
or failure to obtain regulatory clearances or approvals.We have faced inventory risk with respect to our physical products.We have been and may in the future be exposed to inventory risks
related to our physical products as a result of rapid changes in product cycles and pricing, defective merchandise, changes in consumer demand and consumer spending patterns, changes in
consumer tastes with respect to our products, and other factors. We try to accurately predict these trends and avoid overstocking or understocking inventory. Demand for products, however,
can change significantly between the time inventory or components are ordered and the date of sale. The acquisition of certain types of inventory or components may require significant lead-
time and prepayment and they may not be returnable. Failure to manage our inventory, supplier commitments, or customer expectations could seriously harm our business.Risks Related to
Credit and FinancingWe have offered and may continue to offer credit to our partners to stay competitive, and as a result we may be exposed to credit risk of some of our partners, which may
seriously harm our business.We engage in business with some of our partners on an open credit basis. While we attempt to monitor individual partner payment capability when we grant open
credit arrangements and maintain allowances we believe are adequate to cover exposure for doubtful accounts, we cannot assure investors these programs will be effective in managing our
credit risks in the future. This may be especially true as our business grows and expands, we engage with partners that have limited operating history, or we engage with partners that we may
not be familiar with. If we are unable to adequately control these risks, our business could be seriously harmed.Operating our business requires a significant amount of cash, and we may not
have sufficient cash flow from our business to pay the Convertible Notes, and any other debt when due, which may seriously harm our business.Our ability to make principal or interest
payments on, or to refinance, the Convertible Notes or other indebtedness depends on our future performance, which is subject to many factors beyond our control. Our business may not
generate sufficient cash flow from operations in the future to service our debt and business. If we are unable to generate such cash flow, we may be required to adopt one or more alternatives,
such as selling assets, restructuring debt, obtaining additional debt financing, or issuing additional equity securities, any of which may be on terms that are not favorable to us or, in the case of
equity securities, highly dilutive to our stockholders. The Convertible Notes will mature beginning in May 2025, unless earlier converted, redeemed, or repurchased. Our ability to repay or
refinance the Convertible Notes or our other indebtedness will depend on various factors, including the accessibility of capital markets, our business, and our financial condition at such time.
We may not be able to engage in any of these activities or on desirable terms, which could result in a default on our debt obligations. In addition, our existing and future debt agreements,
including the Convertible Notes and 76Table of ContentsCredit Facility, may contain restrictive covenants that may prohibit us from adopting any of these alternatives. Our failure to comply
with these covenants could result in an event of default which, if not cured or waived, could result in the acceleration of our debt, and would seriously harm our business.In addition, holders of
the Convertible Notes have the right to require us to repurchase all or a portion of the Convertible Notes on the occurrence of a fundamental change at a repurchase price equal to 100% of the
principal amount of the Convertible Notes to be repurchased, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding, the fundamental change repurchase date. Further, if a make-whole
fundamental change as defined in each of the indentures governing the Convertible Notes, or the Indentures, occurs prior to the maturity date of the Convertible Notes, we will in some cases be
required to increase the conversion rate for a holder that elects to convert its Convertible Notes in connection with such make-whole fundamental change. On the conversion of the Convertible
Notes, unless we elect to deliver solely shares of our Class A common stock to settle such conversion (other than paying cash in lieu of delivering any fractional share), we will be required to
make cash payments for the Convertible Notes being converted. However, we may not have enough available cash or be able to obtain financing at the time we are required to make such
repurchases of the Convertible Notes surrendered or pay cash with respect to the Convertible Notes being converted.If we default on our credit obligations, our operations may be interrupted
and our business could be seriously harmed.We have a Credit Facility that we may draw on to finance our operations, acquisitions, and other corporate purposes. If we default on these credit
obligations, our lenders may:a€¢require repayment of any outstanding amounts drawn on our Credit Facility;a€¢terminate our Credit Facility; ora€¢require us to pay significant damages.If any
of these events occur, our operations may be interrupted and our ability to fund our operations or obligations, as well as our business, could be seriously harmed. In addition, our Credit Facility
contains operating covenants, including customary limitations on the incurrence of certain indebtedness and liens, restrictions on certain intercompany transactions, and limitations on the
amount of dividends and stock repurchases. Our ability to comply with these covenants may be affected by events beyond our control, and breaches of these covenants could result in a default
under the Credit Facility and any future financial agreements into which we may enter. If not waived, defaults could cause our outstanding indebtedness under our outstanding Convertible
Notes or our Credit Facility, including any future financing agreements that we may enter into, to become immediately due and payable. For more information on our Credit Facility, see
a€eManagementa€™s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operationsa€”Liquidity and Capital Resources.d€We cannot be certain that additional financing will be
available on reasonable terms when needed, or at all, which could seriously harm our business.We have historically incurred net losses and negative cash flow from operations, and we may not
attain and sustain profitability in future periods. As a result, we may need additional financing. Our ability to obtain additional financing, if and when required, will depend on investor demand,
our operating performance, our credit rating, the condition of the capital markets, and other factors. To the extent we use available funds or draw on our Credit Facility, we may need to raise
additional funds and we cannot assure investors that additional financing will be available to us on favorable terms when required, or at all. If we raise additional funds through the issuance of
equity, equity-linked, or debt securities, those securities may have rights, preferences, or privileges senior to the rights of our Class A common stock, and our existing stockholders may
experience dilution. In the event that we are unable to obtain additional financing on favorable terms, our interest expense and principal repayment requirements could increase significantly,
which could seriously harm our business. In addition, our ability to draw on our Credit Facility relies on our lenders under that facilityd€™ s continued operation and ability to fund.77Table of
ContentsRisks Related to TaxesExisting, new, and proposed tax laws and regulations that would affect the U.S. or foreign taxation of business activities, including the imposition of, or increase
in, tax based on gross revenue, could seriously harm our business, or the financial markets and the market price of our Class A common stock.Reforming the taxation of international businesses
has been a priority for politicians at a global level, and a wide variety of changes have been proposed or enacted. Due to the large and expanding scale of our international business activities,
any changes in the taxation of such activities may increase our tax expense, the amount of taxes we pay, or both, and seriously harm our business. For example, legislation commonly referred to
as the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act, which was enacted in December 2017, significantly reformed the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the Code. The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act put into
effect significant changes to U.S. taxation of international business activities, including lowering U.S. federal corporate income tax rates, changing the utilization of future net operating loss
carryforwards, allowing certain capital expenditures to be expensed, eliminating the option to currently deduct research and development expenditures and requiring taxpayers to capitalize and
amortize U.S.-based and non-U.S.-based research and development expenditures over five and fifteen years, respectively. In August 2022, the Inflation Reduction Act, or the IRA, was enacted,
the provisions of which include a minimum tax equal to 15% of the adjusted financial statement income of certain large corporations, as well as a 1% excise tax on certain share buybacks by
public corporations that would be imposed on such corporations. It is possible that changes or interpretations under the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act, the IRA, or other tax legislation could increase
our future tax liability, which could in turn adversely impact our business and future profitability. In addition, many jurisdictions and intergovernmental organizations have implemented or are
in the process of implementing proposals that have changed (or are likely to change) various aspects of the existing framework under which our tax obligations are determined in many of the
jurisdictions in which we do business and in which our users are located. Some jurisdictions have enacted, in some cases with retroactive effect, and others have proposed, taxes on digital
services that are based on gross receipts generated from users or customers in those jurisdictions, regardless of profitability. In addition, the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and



Development, or the OECD, has led international efforts to devise, and to implement on a permanent basis, a two-pillar solution to address the tax challenges arising from the digitalization of
the economy. Pillar One focuses on nexus and profit allocation, and Pillar Two provides for a global minimum effective corporate tax rate of 15%. Pillar One would apply to multinational
enterprises with annual global revenue above 20 billion euros and profitability above 10%, with the revenue threshold potentially reduced to 10 billion euros in the future. While it remains
uncertain whether Pillar One will be adopted, based on these thresholds, we currently expect to be outside the scope of the Pillar One proposals, though we anticipate that we will be subject to
Pillar One in the future if it is ultimately adopted and if our global revenue exceeds the Pillar One thresholds. A number of countries, including the United Kingdom, have enacted legislation to
implement core elements of the Pillar Two proposal from the start of 2024. Further widespread implementation of Pillar Two is anticipated, with incremental aspects of the legislation
potentially starting in 2025. While we do not expect a resulting material change to our income tax provision for the current year, such implementation could impact the amount of tax we have to
pay and cause us to incur additional material costs and expenditures in the future to ensure compliance with any such rules in each of the relevant jurisdictions within which we carry on our
business.We continue to examine the impact these and other tax reforms may have on our business. The impact of these and other tax reforms is uncertain and one or more of these or similar
measures could seriously harm our business.We may have exposure to greater-than-anticipated tax liabilities, which could seriously harm our business.Our income tax obligations are based on
our corporate operating structure and third-party and intercompany arrangements, including the manner in which we develop, value, and use our intellectual property and the valuations of our
intercompany transactions. The tax laws applicable to our international business activities, including the laws of the United States and other jurisdictions, are subject to change and uncertain
interpretation. The taxing authorities of the jurisdictions in which we operate may challenge our methodologies for valuing developed technology, intercompany arrangements, or transfer
pricing, which could increase our worldwide effective tax rate and the amount of taxes we pay and seriously harm our business. Taxing authorities may also determine that the manner in which
we operate our business is not consistent with how we report our income, which could increase our effective tax rate and the amount of taxes we pay and seriously harm our business. In
addition, our future income taxes could fluctuate because of earnings being lower than anticipated in jurisdictions that have lower statutory tax rates and higher than anticipated in jurisdictions
that have higher statutory tax rates, by changes in the valuation of our deferred tax assets and liabilities, or by changes in tax laws, regulations, or accounting principles. We are subject to
regular review and audit by U.S. federal and state and foreign tax authorities. Any adverse outcome from a review or audit could seriously harm our business. In addition, determining our
worldwide 78Table of Contentsprovision for income taxes and other tax liabilities requires significant judgment by management, and there are many transactions where the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain. Although we believe that our estimates are reasonable, the ultimate tax outcome may differ from the amounts recorded in our financial statements for such periods
and may seriously harm our business.Our ability to use our net operating loss carryforwards and certain other tax attributes may be limited, each of which could seriously harm our business.As
of December 31, 2023, we had U.S. federal net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $6.7A billion and state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $4.5A billion, as well as
U.K. net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $4.5A billion. We also accumulated U.S. federal and state research tax credits of $816.6A million and $478.9A million, respectively, as of
December 31, 2023. Under Sections 382 and 383 of the Code, if a corporation undergoes an a&€ceownership change,a€ the corporationa€™ s ability to use its pre-change net operating loss
carryforwards and other pre-change tax attributes, such as research tax credits, to offset its post-change income and taxes may be limited. In general, an &€ceownership changea€ occurs if
there is a cumulative change in our ownership by 4€0e5% shareholdersa€ that exceeds 50 percentage points over a rolling three-year period. Similar ownership change rules may apply under
U.S. state tax laws, as well as in the United Kingdom and other jurisdictions where we have loss carryforwards. In the event that we experience one or more ownership changes as a result of
transactions in our stock, then we may be limited in our ability to use our net operating loss carryforwards and other tax assets to reduce taxes owed on the net taxable income that we earn.For
U.S. federal income tax purposes, net operating losses arising in tax years beginning before January 1, 2018 can be carried forward to the earlier of the next subsequent twenty tax years or
until such losses are fully utilized. Net operating losses arising in tax years beginning after December 31, 2017 are not subject to the twenty-year limitation, but our use of such net operating
losses in a tax year may not exceed 80% of such yeara€™s taxable income. Certain U.S. states have imposed additional limitations on the use of state net operating loss carryforwards. U.S.
federal research tax credits can be carried forward to the earlier of the next subsequent twenty tax years or until such credits are fully utilized, and use of those credits generally cannot exceed
75% of the net income tax liability for such tax year. In the United Kingdom, net operating loss carryforwards can be carried forward indefinitely; however, use of such carryforwards in a given
year is generally limited to 50% of such yeara€™s taxable income and may be subject to ownership change rules that restrict the use of net operating loss carryforwards.Any limitations on the
ability to use our net operating loss carryforwards and other tax assets, as well as the timing of any such use, could seriously harm our business.Our operating results may be negatively affected
if we are required to pay additional sales and use tax, value added tax, digital services tax, or other transaction taxes, and we could be subject to liability with respect to all or a portion of past
or future sales.We currently collect and remit sales and use, value added and other transaction taxes in certain of the jurisdictions where we do business based on our assessment of the amount
of taxes owed by us in such jurisdictions. However, in some jurisdictions in which we do business, we do not believe that we owe such taxes, and therefore we currently do not collect and remit
such taxes in those jurisdictions or record contingent tax liabilities in respect of those jurisdictions. A successful assertion that we are required to pay additional taxes in connection with sales of
our products and solutions, or the imposition of new laws or regulations or the interpretation of existing laws and regulations requiring the payment of additional taxes, would result in
increased costs and administrative burdens for us. If we are subject to additional taxes, including digital services taxes, and determine to offset such increased costs by collecting and remitting
such taxes from our customers, or otherwise passing those costs through to our customers, companies may be discouraged from purchasing our products and solutions. Any increased tax
burden may decrease our ability or willingness to compete in relatively burdensome tax jurisdictions, result in substantial tax liabilities related to past or future sales or otherwise seriously
harm our business.Risks Related to Ownership of Our Class A Common StockHolders of Class A common stock have no voting rights. As a result, holders of Class A common stock will not have
any ability to influence stockholder decisions.Class A common stockholders have no voting rights, unless required by Delaware law. As a result, all matters submitted to stockholders will be
decided by the vote of holders of Class B common stock and Class C common stock. As of JuneA 30, 2024, Mr. Spiegel and Mr. Murphy control over 99% of the voting power of our capital stock,
and Mr. Spiegel 79Table of Contentsalone may exercise voting control over our outstanding capital stock. Mr. Spiegel and Mr. Murphy voting together, or in many instances, Mr. Spiegel acting
alone, will have control over all matters submitted to our stockholders for approval. In addition, because our Class A common stock carries no voting rights (except as required by Delaware
law), the issuance of the Class A common stock in future offerings, in future stock-based acquisition transactions, or to fund employee equity incentive programs could prolong the duration of
Mr. Spiegela€™s and Mr. Murphya€™s current relative ownership of our voting power and their ability to elect certain directors and to determine the outcome of all matters submitted to a vote
of our stockholders. This concentrated control eliminates other stockholdersa€™ ability to influence corporate matters and, as a result, we may take actions that our stockholders do not view as
beneficial. As a result, the market price of our Class A common stock could be adversely affected.Our capital structure may adversely impact our stock price. Although other U.S.-based
companies have publicly traded classes of non-voting stock, to our knowledge, we were the first company to only list non-voting stock on a U.S. stock exchange. Some indexes have since
determined that they will exclude non-voting stock, like our Class A common stock, from their membership. For example, FTSE Russell, a provider of widely followed stock indexes, requires new
constituents of its indexes to have at least five percent of their voting rights in the hands of public stockholders. The S&P Dow Jones, another provider of widely followed stock indexes,
previously excluded companies with multiple share classes, but subsequently reversed course to remove that exclusion. As a result, our Class A common stock is not eligible for stock indexes
with these or similar restrictions. We cannot assure you that other stock indexes will not take a similar approach to FTSE Russell in the future. Exclusion from indexes could make our Class A
common stock less attractive to investors and, as a result, the market price of our Class A common stock could be adversely affected. Additionally, the exclusion of our Class A common stock
from these indexes may limit the types of investors who invest in our Class A common stock and could make the trading price of our Class A common stock more volatile.Because our Class A
common stock is non-voting, we and our stockholders are exempt from certain provisions of U.S. securities laws. This may limit the information available to holders of our Class A common
stock.Because our Class A common stock is non-voting, significant holders of our common stock are exempt from the obligation to file reports under Sections 13(d), 13(g), and 16 of the
Exchange Act. These provisions generally require periodic reporting of beneficial ownership by significant stockholders, including changes in that ownership. For example, we believe that
Tencent Holdings Limited, together with its affiliates, may hold greater than 10% of our Class A common stock based in part on Tencent Holdings Limited&€™ s public reporting. As a result of
our capital structure, holders are not obligated to disclose changes in ownership of our Class A common stock, so there can be no assurance that you, or we, will be notified of any such changes.
Our directors and officers are required to file reports under Section 16 of the Exchange Act. Our significant stockholders, other than directors and officers, are exempt from the a€ceshort-
swinga€ profit recovery provisions of Section 16 of the Exchange Act and related rules with respect to their purchases and sales of our securities. As such, stockholders will be unable to bring
derivative claims for disgorgement of profits for trades by significant stockholders under Section 16(b) of the Exchange Act unless the significant stockholders are also directors or officers.
Since our Class A common stock is our only class of stock registered under Section 12 of the Exchange Act and that class is non-voting, we are not required to file proxy statements or
information statements under Section 14 of the Exchange Act, unless a vote of the Class A common stock is required by applicable law. Accordingly, legal causes of action and remedies under
Section 14 of the Exchange Act for inadequate or misleading information in proxy statements may not be available to holders of our Class A common stock. If we do not deliver any proxy
statements, information statements, annual reports, and other information and reports to the holders of our Class B common stock and Class C common stock, then we will similarly not provide
any of this information to holders of our Class A common stock. Because we are not required to file proxy statements or information statements under Section 14 of the Exchange Act, any proxy
statement, information statement, or notice of our annual meeting may not include all information under Section 14 of the Exchange Act that a public company with voting securities registered
under Section 12 of the Exchange Act would be required to provide to its stockholders. Most of that information, however, will be reported in other public filings. For example, any disclosures
required by Part III of Form 10-K as well as disclosures required by the NYSE for the year ended December 31, 2023 that are customarily included in a proxy statement are instead included in
our Annual Report. But some information required in a proxy statement or information statement is not required in any other public filing. For example, we are not required to comply with the
proxy access rules or the 4€cepay versus performancea€ disclosure rules under Section 14 of the Exchange Act. If we take any action in an extraordinary meeting of stockholders where the
holders of Class A common stock are not entitled to vote, we will not be required to provide the information required under Section 14 of the Exchange Act. Nor will we be required to file a
preliminary proxy statement under Section 14 of the Exchange Act. Since 80Table of Contentsthat information is also not required in a Form 10-K, holders of Class A common stock may not
receive the information required under Section 14 of the Exchange Act with respect to extraordinary meetings of stockholders. In addition, we are not subject to the &€cesay-on-paya€ and
4€cesay-on-frequencya€ provisions of the Dodda€“Frank Act. As a result, our stockholders do not have an opportunity to provide a non-binding vote on the compensation of our executive
officers. Moreover, holders of our Class A common stock will be unable to bring matters before our annual meeting of stockholders or nominate directors at such meeting, nor can they submit
stockholder proposals under Rule 14a-8 of the Exchange Act.The trading price of our Class A common stock has been and will likely continue to be volatile. The trading price of our Class A
common stock has been and is likely to continue to be volatile. From July 1, 2022 to JuneA 30, 2024, the trading price of our Class A common stock ranged from $7.33 to $17.90. Declines or
volatility in our trading price could make it more difficult to attract and retain talent, adversely impact employee retention and morale, and has required, and may continue to require, us to
issue more equity to incentivize team members which is likely to dilute stockholders. The market price of our Class A common stock may fluctuate or decline significantly in response to
numerous factors, many of which are beyond our control, including:a€¢actual or anticipated fluctuations in our user growth, retention, engagement, revenue, or other operating results;a€
¢variations between our actual operating results and the expectations of investors and the financial community;a€¢the accuracy of our financial guidance or projections;a€¢any forward-looking
financial or operating information we may provide, any changes in this information, or our failure to meet expectations based on this information;a€¢actions of investors who initiate or maintain
coverage of us, changes in financial estimates by any investors who follow our company, or our failure to meet these estimates or the expectations of investors;a€¢significant acquisitions or
divestitures of our stock by investors, whether voluntarily or to comply with regulatory or other requirements;a€ ¢whether our capital structure is viewed unfavorably, particularly our non-voting
Class A common stock and the significant voting control of our co-founders;a€¢additional shares of our common stock being sold into the market by us or our existing stockholders, or the
anticipation of such sales, including if we issue shares to satisfy equity-related tax obligations;a€¢stock repurchase programs, or repurchases of the Convertible Notes, undertaken by us;a€
¢announcements by us or our competitors of significant products or features, technical innovations, acquisitions, strategic partnerships, joint ventures, or capital commitments;a€
¢announcements by us or estimates by third parties of actual or anticipated changes in the size of our user base or the level of user engagement;a€¢changes in operating performance and stock
market valuations of technology companies in our industry segment, including our partners and competitors;a€¢price and volume fluctuations in the overall stock market, including as a result of
trends in the economy as a whole, inflationary pressures, banking instability, war or other armed conflict, terrorism, or responses to these events;a€¢lawsuits threatened or filed against us;a€
¢developments in new legislation and pending lawsuits, executive actions, or regulatory actions, including interim or final rulings by judicial or regulatory bodies, whether such developments
may impact us or our competitors; anda€¢other events or factors, including those resulting from war, incidents of terrorism, pandemics, or responses to these events.In addition, extreme price
and volume fluctuations in the stock markets have affected and continue to affect many technology companiesa€™ stock prices, including ours. Often, their stock prices have fluctuated in ways
unrelated or disproportionate to the companiesa€™ operating performance. In the past, stockholders have filed securities class-action litigation following periods of market volatility. For
example, in November 2021, we, and certain of our officers, were named as defendants in a securities class-action lawsuit in federal court purportedly brought on behalf of purchasers of our
81Table of ContentsClass A common stock. The lawsuit alleges that we and certain of our officers made false or misleading statements and omissions concerning the impact that Applea€™s ATT
framework would have on our business. We believe we have meritorious defenses to this lawsuit, but an unfavorable outcome could seriously harm our business. Any litigation could subject us
to substantial costs, divert resources and the attention of management from our business, and seriously harm our business.We may not realize the anticipated long-term stockholder value of any
stock repurchase program undertaken by us and any failure to repurchase our Class A common stock after we have announced our intention to do so may negatively impact our stock price.Our
board of directors has in the past and may from time to time in the future authorize stock repurchase programs, pursuant to which repurchases of Class A common stock may be made either
through open market transactions (including pre-set trading plans) or through other transactions in accordance with applicable securities laws. Any repurchase programs may be modified,
suspended, or terminated at any time. Any failure to repurchase stock after we have announced our intention to do so may negatively impact our reputation and investor confidence in us and
may negatively impact our stock price.The existence of a stock repurchase program could cause our stock price to trade higher than it otherwise would be and could potentially reduce the
market liquidity for our stock. Although stock repurchase programs are intended to enhance long-term stockholder value, there is no assurance they will do so because the market price of our
Class A common stock may decline below the levels at which we repurchased shares and short-term stock price fluctuations could reduce the effectiveness of any such program.Repurchasing
our Class A common stock reduces the amount of cash we have available to fund working capital, capital expenditures, strategic acquisitions or business opportunities, and other general
corporate purposes, and we may fail to realize the anticipated long-term stockholder value of any stock repurchase program.Conversions or exchanges of the Convertible Notes may dilute the
ownership interest of our stockholders or may otherwise affect the market price of our Class A common stock.The conversion of some or all of the Convertible Notes may dilute the ownership
interests of our stockholders. On conversion of the Convertible Notes, we have the option to pay or deliver, as the case may be, cash, shares of our Class A common stock, or a combination of
cash and shares of our Class A common stock. If we elect to settle our conversion obligation in shares of our Class A common stock or a combination of cash and shares of our Class A common
stock, any sales in the public market of our Class A common stock issuable on such conversion could adversely affect prevailing market prices of our Class A common stock. In addition, the
existence of the Convertible Notes may encourage short selling by market participants because the conversion of the Convertible Notes could be used to satisfy short positions, or anticipated
conversion of the Convertible Notes into shares of our Class A common stock, any of which could depress the market price of our Class A common stock.We have in the past and may continue to



engage in exchanges, repurchases, or induced conversions of the Convertible Notes. Holders of the Convertible Notes that participate in any of these exchanges, repurchases, or induced
conversions may enter into or unwind various derivatives with respect to our Class A common stock or sell shares of our Class A common stock in the open market to hedge their exposure in
connection with these transactions. These activities could decrease (or reduce the size of any increase in) the market price of our Class A common stock or the Convertible Notes, or dilute the
ownership interests of our stockholders. In addition, the market price of our Class A common stock is likely to be affected by short sales of our Class A common stock or the entry into or unwind
of economically equivalent derivative transactions with respect to our Class A common stock by investors that do not participate in the exchange transactions and by the hedging activity of the
counterparties to our Capped Call Transactions or their respective affiliates. Furthermore, repurchases of the Convertible Notes reduce the amount of cash we have available to fund working
capital, capital expenditures, strategic acquisitions or business opportunities, and other general corporate purposes.We may still incur substantially more debt or take other actions that would
diminish our ability to make payments on the Convertible Notes when due. Our ability to repay our debt depends on our future performance, which is subject to economic, financial, competitive,
and other factors beyond our control. We and our subsidiaries may incur substantial additional debt in the future, subject to the restrictions contained in our current and future debt
instruments. We are not restricted under the terms of the Indentures governing the Convertible 82Table of ContentsNotes from incurring additional debt, securing existing or future debt,
repurchasing our stock, making investments, paying dividends, recapitalizing our debt, or taking a number of other actions that could have the effect of diminishing our ability to make
payments on the Convertible Notes when due. Our ability to pay our debt when due or to refinance our indebtedness, including the Convertible Notes, depends on our financial condition at such
time, the condition of capital markets, and our future performance, which is subject to economic, financial, competitive, and other factors beyond our control.The conditional conversion feature
of the Convertible Notes, if triggered, may adversely affect our financial condition and operating results.The Convertible Notes are convertible at the option of the holder. In the event the
conditions for optional conversion of the 2025 Notes, 2026 Notes, 2027 Notes, 2028 Notes, or 2030 Notes by holders are met before the close of business on the business day immediately
preceding February 1, 2025, May 1, 2026, February 1, 2027, December 1, 2027, or May 1, 2030, respectively, holders of the applicable Convertible Notes will be entitled to convert the
Convertible Notes at any time during specified periods at their option. If one or more holders elect to convert their Convertible Notes, unless we elect to satisfy our conversion obligation by
delivering solely shares of our Class A common stock (other than paying cash in lieu of delivering any fractional share), we may settle all or a portion of our conversion obligation in cash, which
could adversely affect our liquidity. In addition, even if holders do not elect to convert their Convertible Notes, we could be required under applicable accounting rules to reclassify all or a
portion of the outstanding principal of the Convertible Notes as a current rather than long-term liability, which would result in a material reduction of our net working capital and may seriously
harm our business.We entered into certain hedging positions that may affect the value of the Convertible Notes and the volatility and value of our Class A common stock.In connection with the
issuance of the Convertible Notes, we entered into certain hedging positions with certain financial institutions. These hedging positions are expected generally to reduce potential dilution of our
Class A common stock on any conversion of the Convertible Notes or offset any cash payments we are required to make in excess of the principal amount of such converted Convertible Notes,
as the case may be, with such reduction or offset subject to a cap. The counterparties to these hedging positions or their respective affiliates may modify their hedge positions by entering into
or unwinding various derivatives with respect to our Class A common stock or purchasing or selling our Class A common stock in secondary market transactions prior to the maturity of the
Convertible Notes (and are likely to do so during any observation period related to a conversion of Convertible Notes or following any repurchase of Convertible Notes by us on any fundamental
change repurchase date or otherwise). This activity could cause or avoid an increase or a decrease in the market price of our Class A common stock or the Convertible Notes. In addition, if any
such hedging positions fail to become effective, the counterparties to these hedging positions or their respective affiliates may unwind their hedge positions, which could adversely affect the
value of our Class A common stock. Delaware law and provisions in our certificate of incorporation and bylaws, as well as our Indentures, could make a merger, tender offer, or proxy contest
difficult or more expensive, thereby depressing the trading price of our Class A common stock.Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws contain provisions that could depress the trading price
of our Class A common stock by acting to discourage, delay, or prevent a change of control of our company or changes in our management that the stockholders of our company may deem
advantageous. These provisions include the following:a€¢our certificate of incorporation provides for a tri-class capital structure. As a result of this structure, Mr. Spiegel and Mr. Murphy
control all stockholder decisions, and Mr. Spiegel alone may exercise voting control over our outstanding capital stock. This includes the election of directors and significant corporate
transactions, such as a merger or other sale of our company or our assets. This concentrated control could discourage others from initiating any potential merger, takeover, or other change-of-
control transaction that other stockholders may view as beneficial. As noted above, the issuance of the Class A common stock dividend, and any future issuances of Class A common stock
dividends, could have the effect of prolonging the influence of Mr. Spiegel and Mr. Murphy on the company;83Table of Contentsa€¢our board of directors has the right to elect directors to fill a
vacancy created by the expansion of our board of directors or the resignation, death, or removal of a director, which prevents stockholders from being able to fill vacancies on our board of
directors;a€¢our certificate of incorporation prohibits cumulative voting in the election of directors. This limits the ability of minority stockholders to elect directors; anda€¢our board of
directors may issue, without stockholder approval, shares of undesignated preferred stock. The ability to issue undesignated preferred stock makes it possible for our board of directors to issue
preferred stock with voting or other rights or preferences that could impede the success of any attempt to acquire us.Any provision of our certificate of incorporation, bylaws, or Delaware law
that has the effect of delaying or deterring a change in control could limit the opportunity for our stockholders to receive a premium for their shares of our common stock, and could also affect
the price that some investors are willing to pay for our Class A common stock.Furthermore, certain provisions in the Indentures governing the Convertible Notes may make it more difficult or
expensive for a third party to acquire us. For example, the Indentures require us, at the holdersa€™ election, to repurchase the Convertible Notes for cash on the occurrence of a fundamental
change and, in certain circumstances, to increase the conversion rate for a holder that converts its Convertible Notes in connection with a make-whole fundamental change. A takeover of us
may trigger the requirement that we repurchase the Convertible Notes or increase the conversion rate, which could make it more costly for a third party to acquire us. The Indentures also
prohibit us from engaging in a merger or acquisition unless, among other things, the surviving entity assumes our obligations under the Convertible Notes and the Indentures. These and other
provisions in the Indentures could deter or prevent a third party from acquiring us even when the acquisition may be favorable to holders of the Convertible Notes or our stockholders.Future
sales of shares by existing stockholders could cause our stock price to decline.If our existing stockholders, including employees and service providers who obtain equity, sell, or indicate an
intention to sell, substantial amounts of our Class A common stock in the public market, the trading price of our Class A common stock could decline. As a result of our capital structure, holders
who are not required to file reports under Section 16 of the Exchange Act are not obligated to disclose changes in ownership of our Class A common stock, so there can be no assurance that
you, or we, will be notified of any such changes. All of our outstanding shares are eligible for sale in the public market, except shares held by directors, executive officers, and other affiliates
that are subject to volume limitations under Rule 144 of the Securities Act. Our employees, other service providers, and directors are subject to our quarterly trading window closures. In
addition, we have reserved shares for issuance under our equity incentive plans. We may also issue shares of our Class A common stock or securities convertible into our Class A common stock
from time to time in connection with a financing, acquisition, investment, or otherwise. When these shares are issued and subsequently sold, it would be dilutive to existing stockholders and the
trading price of our Class A common stock could decline.If securities or industry analysts either do not publish research about us, or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about us, our
business, or our market, or if they change their recommendations regarding our common stock adversely, the trading price or trading volume of our Class A common stock could decline.The
trading market for our Class A common stock is influenced in part by the research and reports that securities or industry analysts may publish about us, our business, our market, or our
competitors. If one or more of the analysts initiate research with an unfavorable rating or downgrade our Class A common stock, provide a more favorable recommendation about our
competitors, or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business, our Class A common stock price would likely decline. If any analyst who may cover us were to cease coverage of
us or fail to regularly publish reports on us, we could lose visibility in the financial markets, which in turn could cause the trading price or trading volume to decline. Since we provide only
limited financial guidance, this may increase the probability that our financial results are perceived as not in line with analystsa€™ expectations, and could cause volatility to our Class A
common stock price.We do not intend to pay cash dividends for the foreseeable future.We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our capital stock. We currently intend to retain any
future earnings to finance the operation and expansion of our business, and we do not expect to declare or pay any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. As a result, you may only receive a
return on your investment in our Class A common stock if the 84Table of Contentsmarket price of our Class A common stock increases. In addition, our Credit Facility includes restrictions on
our ability to pay cash dividends.If we are unable to maintain effective internal control over financial reporting in the future, investors may lose confidence in the accuracy and completeness of
our financial reports, and the market price of our Class A common stock may be seriously harmed.We are required to maintain adequate internal control over financial reporting, perform
system and process evaluation and testing of those internal controls to allow management to report on their effectiveness, report any material weaknesses in such internal controls, and obtain
an opinion from our independent registered public accounting firm regarding the effectiveness of such internal controls as required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, all of which is
time-consuming, costly, and complicated. If we are unable to comply with these requirements in a timely manner, if we assert that our internal control over financial reporting is ineffective, if
we identify material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting, or if our independent registered public accounting firm is unable to express an opinion or expresses a qualified
or adverse opinion about the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting, investors may lose confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports and the
market price of our Class A common stock could be negatively affected. In addition, we could become subject to investigations by the NYSE, the SEC, and other regulatory authorities, which
could require additional financial and management resources.The requirements of being a public company have and may continue to strain our resources, result in more litigation, and divert
managementa€™ s attention.We are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, the Dodd-Frank Act, the listing requirements of the NYSE, and other
applicable securities rules and regulations. Complying with these rules and regulations have caused and will continue to cause us to incur additional legal and financial compliance costs, make
some activities more difficult, be time-consuming or costly, and continue to increase demand on our systems and resources. The Exchange Act requires, among other things, that we file annual,
quarterly, and current reports with respect to our business and operating results, and that our independent registered public accounting firm provide an attestation report on the effectiveness
of our internal control over financial reporting. Failure to comply with these rules might also make it more difficult for us to obtain certain types of insurance, including director and officer
liability insurance, and we might be forced to accept reduced policy limits and coverage or incur substantially higher costs to obtain the same or similar coverage. As a public company we are
required to publicly disclose additional details about our business and financial condition information, which may result in threatened or actual litigation, including by competitors, regulators,
and other third parties. If those claims are successful, our business could be harmed. Even if the claims do not result in litigation or are resolved in our favor, the time and resources needed to
resolve them could divert our managementa€™ s resources and harm our business.Our certificate of incorporation provides that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware and the federal
district courts of the United States will be the exclusive forums for substantially all disputes between us and our stockholders, which could limit our stockholdersa€™ ability to obtain a favorable
judicial forum for disputes with us or our directors, officers, or employees.Our certificate of incorporation provides that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware is the exclusive forum
for:4€¢any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf;a€¢any action asserting a breach of fiduciary duty;4€¢any action asserting a claim against us arising under the Delaware
General Corporation Law, our certificate of incorporation, or our bylaws; anda€¢any action asserting a claim against us that is governed by the internal-affairs doctrine.This provision would not
apply to actions brought to enforce a duty or liability created by the Exchange Act or any other claim for which the federal courts have exclusive jurisdiction. Furthermore, Section 22 of the
Securities Act creates concurrent jurisdiction for federal and state courts over all Securities Act claims, which means both courts have jurisdiction to entertain such claims. To prevent having to
litigate claims in multiple jurisdictions and the threat of inconsistent or contrary rulings by different courts, among other considerations, our certificate of incorporation provides 85Table of
Contentsthat the federal district courts of the United States will be the exclusive forum for resolving any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act.These exclusive
forum provisions may limit a stockholdera€™ s ability to bring an action in a judicial forum that it finds favorable for disputes with us or our directors, officers, or other employees, which may
discourage lawsuits against us and our directors, officers, and other employees. While the Delaware courts have determined that such choice of forum provisions are facially valid, federal courts
have been split on the issue, and a stockholder may seek to bring an action in a venue other than those designated in the exclusive forum provisions. In such an instance, we would expect to
vigorously assert the validity and enforceability of our exclusive forum provisions, which may require significant additional costs associated with resolving such action in other jurisdictions, and
there can be no assurance that the provisions will be enforced by a court in those other jurisdictions. If a court were to find either exclusive forum provision in our certificate of incorporation to
be inapplicable or unenforceable in an action, we may incur further significant additional costs associated with resolving the dispute in other jurisdictions, all of which could seriously harm our
business.86Table of Contentsltem 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of ProceedsIssuer Purchases of Equity Securities The following table summarizes stock repurchase activity
for the three months ended JuneA 30, 2024 (in thousands, except per share data): Total Number ofShares Purchased (1)Average Price PerShare (2)Total Number of SharesPurchased as Part
ofPublicly AnnouncedProgram (1)Approximate Dollar Valueof Shares that May Yet beRepurchased Under theProgram (1)April 1 - April 30, 20246,865A $11.06A 6,865A $a4€”A May 1 - May 31,
20244€”A $a€”A a4€”A $4€”A June 1 - June 30, 20244€”A $a€”A 4€”A $a€”A Total6,865A 6,865(1)In October 2023, our board of directors authorized a stock repurchase program of up to $500.0
million of our Class A common stock. During April 2024, we completed this program and repurchased 6.9A million shares of our Class A common stock for an aggregate of $76.0A million,
including costs associated with the repurchases.(2)Average price paid per share includes costs associated with the repurchases.Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior SecuritiesNone.Item 4. Mine Safety
DisclosuresNot applicable.Item 5. Other InformationInsider Trading ArrangementsDuring the quarter ended JuneA 30, 2024, our directors and officers (as defined in Rule 16a-1(f) under the
Exchange Act) adopted or terminated the contracts, instructions, or written plans for the purchase or sale of our securities set forth in the table below:Type of Trading ArrangementName and
PositionDateActionRule 10b5-1 (1)Expiration DateTotal Shares of Class A Common Stock to be SoldMichael Lynton, Director and Chairperson of the Board6/3/2024Adoption (2)X05/21/2026Up
to 377,256 (3)Rebecca Morrow, Chief Accounting Ofﬁcer6/6/2024AdoptionX06/10/2025A (4)Poppy Thorpe, Director6/10/2024AdoptionX09/15/2025Up to 63,163(1)Contract, instruction, or
written plan intended to satisfy the affirmative defense conditions of Rule 10b5-1(c) under the Exchange Act.(2)Plan adopted in accordance with Rule 10b5-1(c)(1)(ii)(D)(2).(3)Trading
arrangement provides for the sale of up to 377,256 shares of Class A common stock on behalf of Mr. Lynton, the Lynton Foundation, and certain family members of Mr. Lynton.(4)Trading
arrangement provides for the sale of a number of shares of Class A common stock held by Ms. Morrow with a value equal to up to $600,000.87Table of ContentsItem 6. ExhibitsIncorporated by
ReferenceExhibit NumberDescriptionSchedule /FormFile NumberExhibitFiling Date3.1Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Snap Inc.S-1333-2158663.2February 2,
20173.2Amendment No. 1 to the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Snap Inc.8-K001-380173.1July 21, 20223.3Certificate of Correction to Amendment No. 1 to the Amended
and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Snap Inc.8-K/A001-380173.1August 8, 20223.4Amendment No. 2 to the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Snap Inc.8-K001-
380173.1August 26, 20223.5Amendment No. 3 to the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Snap Inc.8-K001-380173.1May 17, 20244.1Indenture, dated May 13, 2024, by and
between Snap Inc. and U.S. Bank Trust Company, National Association, as Trustee.8-K001-380174.1May 13, 20244.2Form of Global Note, representing Snap Inc.4€™s 0.50% Convertible Senior
Notes due 20308-K001-380174.2May 13, 202410.1Amendment to Co-Founder Agreement among Snap Inc., Evan Spiegel, and the other Holders signatory thereto, made as of May 16, 2024.8-
K001-3801710.1May 17, 202410.2Amendment to Co-Founder Agreement among Snap Inc., Robert Murphy, and the other Holders signatory thereto, made as of May 16, 2024.8-K001-
3801710.2May 17, 202431.1Certification of the Chief Executive Officer of Snap Inc. pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/Rule 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.31.2Certification of
the Chief Financial Officer of Snap Inc. pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/Rule 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.32.1*Certification of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer of Snap Inc. pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.99.1Form of Capped Call Confirmation.8-K001-
3801799.1May 13, 2024101.INSInline XBRL Instance Document (the instance documentdoes not appear in the Interactive Data File because itsXBRL tags are embedded within the Inline



XBRLdocument).101.SCHInline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.101.CALInline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.101.DEFInline XBRL Taxonomy
Definition Linkbase Document.101.LABInline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels Linkbase Document.101.PREInline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.104Cover Page
Interactive Data File (formatted as inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101).88Table of Contents*The certifications furnished in Exhibit 32.1 hereto are deemed to accompany this Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q and will not be deemed a€cefileda€ for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, except to the extent that the registrant specifically
incorporates it by reference. 89Table of ContentsSIGNATURESPursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on
its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. SNAP INC.Date: AugustA 1, 2024/s/ Derek AndersenDerek AndersenChief Financial Officer(Principal Financial Officer)Date: AugustA 1,
2024/s/ Rebecca MorrowRebecca MorrowChief Accounting Officer(Principal Accounting Officer)90 EX-31.1 2 snap-20240630xexx311.htm EX-31.1 DocumentExhibit 31.1CERTIFICATION
PURSUANT TORULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 20021,
Evan Spiegel, certify that:1.I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Snap Inc.;2.Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or
omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by
this report;3.Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;4.The registranta€™ s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:(a)Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is
being prepared;(b)Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c)Evaluated the effectiveness of the registranta€™ s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and(d)Disclosed in this report any change in the registranta€™s internal control over financial reporting
that occurred during the registranta€™s most recent fiscal quarter (the registranta€™ s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registranta€™s internal control over financial reporting; and5.The registranta€™ s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
internal control over financial reporting, to the registranta€™ s auditors and the audit committee of the registranta€™s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):(a)All
significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registranta€™s ability
to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and(b)Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registranta€™s internal control over financial reporting.Date: AugustA 1, 2024/s/ Evan SpiegelEvan SpiegelChief Executive Officer(Principal Executive Officer) EX-31.2 3 snap-
20240630xexx312.htm EX-31.2 DocumentExhibit 31.2CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TORULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,AS ADOPTED
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002I, Derek Andersen, certify that:1.I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Snap Inc.;2.Based on my
knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under
which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;3.Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included
in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;4.The
registranta€™ s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and
internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:(a)Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused
such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;(b)Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such
internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;(c)Evaluated the effectiveness of the registranta€™s disclosure controls and procedures and
presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation;
and(d)Disclosed in this report any change in the registranta€™s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registranta€™s most recent fiscal quarter (the registranta€™s
fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registranta€™s internal control over financial reporting;
and5.The registranta€™ s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registranta€™s auditors and the
audit committee of the registranta€™s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):(a)All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of
internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registranta€™ s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and(b)Any
fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registranta€™s internal control over financial reporting.Date: AugustA 1, 2024/s/
Derek AndersenDerek AndersenChief Financial Officer(Principal Financial Officer) EX-32.1 4 snap-20240630xex321.htm EX-32.1 DocumentExhibit 32.1CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO18
U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TOSECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002In connection with the Quarterly Report of Snap Inc. (the &€ceCompanya€) on Form
10-Q for the period ended JuneA 30, 2024 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the &€ceReporta€), each of the undersigned certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
A§ 1350, as adopted pursuant to A§ 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:(1)The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934; and(2)The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the Company.Date: AugustA 1, 2024/s/ Evan
SpiegelEvan SpiegelChief Executive Officer(Principal Executive Officer)Date: AugustA 1, 2024/s/ Derek AndersenDerek AndersenChief Financial Officer(Principal Financial Officer) EX-101.SCH
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EXTENSION DEFINITION LINKBASE DOCUMENT EX-101.LAB 8 snap-20240630_lab.xml XBRL TAXONOMY EXTENSION LABEL LINKBASE DOCUMENT Overnight Funding Rate Fed Funds
Effective Rate Overnight Index Swap Rate [Member] Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities: Adjustments to Reconcile Net Income (Loss) to Cash
Provided by (Used in) Operating Activities [Abstract] Goodwill acquired Goodwill, Acquired During Period Statistical Measurement [Domain] Statistical Measurement [Domain] Marketable
securities, Gross Unrealized Losses Debt Securities, Available-for-Sale, Accumulated Gross Unrealized Loss, before Tax Aggregate Intrinsic Value Share Based Compensation Arrangement By
Share Based Payment Award Options Aggregate Intrinsic Value [Abstract] Share-based Compensation Arrangement by Share-based Payment Award, Options, Aggregate Intrinsic Value
[Abstract] Cover [Abstract] Cover [Abstract] Initial placement amount Convertible Debt, Initial Placement Amount Convertible Debt, Initial Placement Amount Present Value of Operating Lease
Liabilities Lessee, Operating Lease, Liability, to be Paid, Maturity [Table Text Block] Trading Symbol Trading Symbol Gains (losses) recognized on publicly traded equity securities sold during
the period, net Equity Securities, FV-NI, Realized Gain (Loss) All Trading Arrangements All Trading Arrangements [Member] Compensation Actually Paid vs. Net Income Compensation Actually
Paid vs. Net Income [Text Block] Non-NEOs Non-NEOs [Member] Schedule of Numerators and Denominators of Basic and Diluted Net Loss per Share Computations for Common Stock Schedule
of Earnings Per Share, Basic and Diluted [Table Text Block] Rule 10b5-1 Arrangement Adopted Rule 10b5-1 Arrangement Adopted [Flag] Awards Close in Time to MNPI Disclosures Awards
Close in Time to MNPI Disclosures [Table] Thereafter Lessee Operating Lease Liability To Be Paid After Year Four Lessee, operating lease, liability, to be paid, after year four. Debt Instrument,
Convertible, Conversion Ratio Debt Instrument, Convertible, Conversion Ratio Pay vs Performance Disclosure [Line Items] Peer Group Total Shareholder Return Amount Peer Group Total
Shareholder Return Amount Accounts receivable, net of allowance Increase (Decrease) in Accounts Receivable Gains (losses) on publicly traded equity securities, net Equity Securities, FV-NI,
Gain (Loss) Operating lease liabilities Increase (Decrease) in Operating Lease Liability Non-Rule 10b5-1 Arrangement Adopted Non-Rule 10b5-1 Arrangement Adopted [Flag] Fair Value
Measurements Fair Value Disclosures [Text Block] Proceeds from the exercise of stock options Proceeds from Stock Options Exercised Restructuring and Related Activities [Abstract]
Restructuring and Related Activities [Abstract] Sales of strategic investments Proceeds From Sales Of Strategic Investments Proceeds from sales of strategic investments. Award Timing
Disclosures [Line Items] Other Performance Measure, Amount Other Performance Measure, Amount 2027 Finite-Lived Intangible Asset, Expected Amortization, Year Three Leases Lessee,
Operating Leases [Text Block] Common stock outstanding (in shares) Common stock, beginning of period (in shares) Common stock, end of period (in shares) Common Stock, Shares,
Outstanding Operating lease cost Operating Lease, Cost Severance and Related Charges Severance And Related Charges [Member] Severance and Related Charges. Sales of marketable
securities Proceeds from Sale and Maturity of Marketable Securities Operating lease liabilities, noncurrent Operating Lease, Liability, Noncurrent Marketable securities contractual maturities
period Marketable Securities Contractual Maturities Period Marketable securities contractual maturities period. Revenue from Contract with Customer [Abstract] Revenue from Contract with
Customer [Abstract] Deferred revenue Contract with Customer, Liability, Current United States UNITED STATES Other assets Other Assets, Noncurrent Entity Tax Identification Number Entity



Tax Identification Number Leases [Abstract] Leases [Abstract] Gross Carrying Amount Finite-Lived Intangible Assets, Gross Schedule Of Finite Lived Intangible Assets [Table] Intangible Asset,
Finite-Lived [Table] Repurchases of Class A non-voting common stock (in shares) Treasury Stock, Shares, Acquired Antidilutive Securities, Name [Domain] Antidilutive Securities, Name
[Domain] Proceeds from issuance of convertible notes, net of issuance costs Proceeds from Convertible Debt Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities Net Cash Provided by (Used in)
Operating Activities Patents Patents [Member] Treasury Stock, Common Treasury Stock, Common [Member] Cash flows from operating activities Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Operating
Activities [Abstract] U.S. government securities US Treasury Securities [Member] Schedule of Changes in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) Schedule of Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income (Loss) [Table Text Block] Other Stockholders' Equity, Other Equity Components [Axis] Equity Components [Axis] Award Timing Method Award Timing Method [Text
Block] Trading Arrangements, by Individual Trading Arrangements, by Individual [Table] Restructuring Type [Axis] Restructuring Type [Axis] Marketable Securities, Total Estimated Fair Value
Marketable securities, total estimated fair value Debt Securities, Available-for-Sale Measurement Frequency [Axis] Measurement Frequency [Axis] Entity Common Stock Shares Outstanding
Entity Common Stock, Shares Outstanding Insider Trading Policies and Procedures [Line Items] Use of Estimates Use of Estimates, Policy [Policy Text Block] Total costs and expenses Costs and
Expenses One Month Secured Overnight Financing Rate S O F R Overnight Index Swap Rate One Month Secured Overnight Financing Rate S O F R Overnight Index Swap Rate [Member] One
month secured overnight financing rate overnight index swap rate. Business Acquisition, Acquiree [Domain] Business Acquisition, Acquiree [Domain] Adjustment to Compensation, Amount
Adjustment to Compensation Amount Aggregate Intrinsic Value, Outstanding Share-Based Compensation Arrangement by Share-Based Payment Award, Options, Outstanding, Intrinsic Value
Compensation Amount Outstanding Recovery Compensation Amount Aggregate Change in Present Value of Accumulated Benefit for All Pension Plans Reported in Summary Compensation Table
Aggregate Change in Present Value of Accumulated Benefit for All Pension Plans Reported in Summary Compensation Table [Member] Unrealized gain (loss) on marketable securities, net of tax
Other Comprehensive Income (Loss), Available-for-Sale Securities Adjustment, Net of Tax, Portion Attributable to Parent Entity Small Business Entity Small Business Company Selected
Measure Amount Company Selected Measure Amount Geographical [Axis] Geographical [Axis] Maturities of marketable securities Proceeds from Maturities, Prepayments and Calls of Debt
Securities, Available-for-Sale Schedule of Restructuring Charges (Benefits) Restructuring and Related Costs [Table Text Block] Tabular List, Table Tabular List [Table Text Block] Share Based
Compensation Arrangement By Share Based Payment Award [Line Items] Share-Based Compensation Arrangement by Share-Based Payment Award [Line Items] Purchase of capped calls
Payments For Purchases of Capped Calls Payments For Purchases of Capped Calls Sales and marketing Selling and Marketing Expense [Member] Aggregate Grant Date Fair Value of Equity
Award Amounts Reported in Summary Compensation Table Aggregate Grant Date Fair Value of Equity Award Amounts Reported in Summary Compensation Table [Member] Lessee Lease
Description [Line Items] Lessee, Lease, Description [Line Items] Liabilities recorded Loss Contingency Accrual Accrued expenses and other current liabilities Accrued Liabilities, Current Anti-
dilutive securities excluded from calculation of diluted net loss per share (in shares) Antidilutive Securities Excluded from Computation of Earnings Per Share, Amount Common stock,
convertible, volume weighted average price per share, S&P 500 total return index (in usd per share) Common Stock, Convertible, Volume Weighted Average Price Per Share, S&P 500 Total
Return Index Common Stock, Convertible, Volume Weighted Average Price Per Share, S&P 500 Total Return Index Class C Class C Voting Common Stock Common Class C [Member] Credit
Facility [Domain] Credit Facility [Domain] Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash, beginning of period Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash, end of period Cash, Cash Equivalents,
Restricted Cash, and Restricted Cash Equivalents Equity securities, cost or amortized cost Equity Securities, FV-NI, Current Equity Securities and Marketable securities, Gross Unrealized
Losses Available For Sale Debt Securities And Equity Securities Accumulated Gross Unrealized Loss Before Tax Available for sale debt securities and equity securities accumulated gross
unrealized loss before tax. Unrecognized compensation cost Share-Based Payment Arrangement, Nonvested Award, Cost Not yet Recognized, Amount Current assets Assets, Current [Abstract]
Goodwill Goodwill, beginning balance Goodwill, ending balance Goodwill Share repurchase program, authorized amount Share Repurchase Program, Authorized, Amount Treasury stock, shares
(in shares) Treasury stock, beginning of period (in shares) Treasury stock, end of period (in shares) Treasury Stock, Common, Shares Earnings Per Share [Line Items] Earnings Per Share [Line
Items] Earnings per share. Forgone Recovery due to Disqualification of Tax Benefits, Amount Forgone Recovery due to Disqualification of Tax Benefits, Amount Entity Information [Line Items]
Entity Information [Line Items] Stock options Share-Based Payment Arrangement, Option [Member] Goodwill [Roll Forward] Goodwill [Roll Forward] Weighted-average grant date fair value per
restricted stock, Vested (in usd per share) Share-Based Compensation Arrangement by Share-Based Payment Award, Equity Instruments Other than Options, Vested in Period, Weighted
Average Grant Date Fair Value Fair Value Disclosures [Abstract] Fair Value Disclosures [Abstract] Marketable securities Marketable Securities, Current 2025 Lessee, Operating Lease, Liability,
to be Paid, Year One Other Proceeds from (Payments for) Other Financing Activities Schedule Of Antidilutive Securities Excluded From Computation Of Earnings Per Share [Table] Antidilutive
Security, Excluded EPS Calculation [Table] Total comprehensive loss Comprehensive Income (Loss), Net of Tax, Attributable to Parent Security Exchange Name Security Exchange Name Basis
spread on variable interest rate (percentage) Debt Instrument, Basis Spread on Variable Rate Award Type [Axis] Award Type [Axis] Corporate debt securities Corporate Debt Securities
[Member] Schedule of Long-lived Assets by Geographic Area Schedule of Revenue from External Customers and Long-Lived Assets, by Geographical Areas [Table Text Block] Foreign currency
translation Goodwill, Foreign Currency Translation Gain (Loss) Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders: Earnings Per Share, Basic [Abstract] Initial cost Equity Securities
without Readily Determinable Fair Value, Initial Cost Equity Securities without Readily Determinable Fair Value, Initial Cost Weighted-Average Exercise Price, Exercised (in usd per share)
Share-Based Compensation Arrangements by Share-Based Payment Award, Options, Exercises in Period, Weighted Average Exercise Price Property and equipment, net Property, Plant and
Equipment, Net Total liabilities Liabilities Total long-lived assets, net Long-Lived Assets Convertible Debt Convertible Debt [Member] Common stock par value (in usd per share) Common Stock,
Par or Stated Value Per Share Forgone Recovery, Explanation of Impracticability Forgone Recovery, Explanation of Impracticability [Text Block] Research and development Research and
Development Expense Weighted- Average Remaining Useful Life (Years) Acquired Finite-Lived Intangible Assets, Weighted Average Useful Life Schedule Of Share Based Compensation
Arrangements By Share Based Payment Award [Table] Schedule of Share-Based Compensation Arrangements by Share-Based Payment Award [Table] Gains (losses) recognized on strategic
investments sold during the period, net Realized Investment Gains (Losses) Revolving Credit Facility Revolving Credit Facility [Member] Expiration Date Trading Arrangement Expiration Date
Number of share-based employee compensation plans Share Based Compensation Arrangement By Share Based Payment Award Number Of Share Based Employee Compensation Plans Share-
based compensation arrangement by share-based payment award, number of share-based employee compensation plans. Cash flows from investing activities Net Cash Provided by (Used in)
Investing Activities [Abstract] Number of Class A Shares Share-Based Compensation Arrangement by Share-Based Payment Award, Non-Option Equity Instruments, Outstanding [Roll Forward]
Goodwill and Intangible Assets Disclosure [Abstract] Goodwill and Intangible Assets Disclosure [Abstract] Cash, Equity Securities and Marketable securities, Cost or Amortized Cost Cash Equity
Securities And Available For Sale Debt Securities Cost And Amortized Cost Basis Cash equity securities and available for sale debt securities cost and amortized cost basis. Operating lease
liabilities Operating Lease, Liability, Current Total Shareholder Return Amount Total Shareholder Return Amount Common stock issued (in shares) Common Stock, Shares, Issued Debt
instrument convertible, number of consecutive trading days Debt Instrument, Convertible, Threshold Consecutive Trading Days Unvested RSUs and RSAs Unvested Restricted Stock Units And
Restricted Stock Awards Not Subject To A Performance Condition [Member] Unvested restricted stock units and restricted stock awards not subject to a performance condition. Schedule of
RSU and RSA Activity Nonvested Restricted Stock Shares Activity [Table Text Block] Equity Awards Adjustments, Footnote Equity Awards Adjustments, Footnote [Text Block] Maximum
borrowing capacity Line of Credit Facility, Maximum Borrowing Capacity Insider Trading Policies and Procedures Adopted Insider Trading Policies and Procedures Adopted [Flag] Cash, Cost or
Amortized Cost Cash Number of classes of stock Number Of Classes Of Stock Number Of Classes Of Stock Purchases of strategic investments Payments To Acquire Strategic Investments
Payments to acquire strategic investments. Shares issued in connection with exercise of stock options under stock-based compensation plans (in shares) Exercised (in shares) Share-Based
Compensation Arrangement by Share-Based Payment Award, Options, Exercises in Period Debt Instrument [Line Items] Debt Instrument [Line Items] Named Executive Officers, Footnote
Named Executive Officers, Footnote [Text Block] Research and development Research and Development Expense [Member] Weighted- Average Exercise Price Share-Based Compensation
Arrangement by Share-Based Payment Award, Options, Outstanding, Weighted Average Exercise Price [Abstract] Miscellaneous Miscellaneous [Member] Miscellaneous. Europe Europe
[Member] Common stock authorized (in shares) Common Stock, Shares Authorized Cash paid for acquisitions, net of cash acquired Payments to Acquire Businesses, Net of Cash Acquired Cash
Cash [Member] Basis of Presentation Basis of Accounting, Policy [Policy Text Block] Diluted (in shares) Weighted-average common shares - Diluted (in shares) Weighted Average Number of
Shares Outstanding, Diluted Restricted Stock Units and Restricted Stock Awards Restricted Stock Units And Restricted Stock Awards [Member] Restricted stock units and restricted stock
awards. Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax Other Comprehensive Income (Loss), Net of Tax, Portion Attributable to Parent [Abstract] MNPI Disclosure Timed for Compensation
Value MNPI Disclosure Timed for Compensation Value [Flag] Remainder of 2024 Finite-Lived Intangible Asset, Expected Amortization, Remainder of Fiscal Year Long-Term Debt, Type [Axis]
Long-Term Debt, Type [Axis] Numerator: Net Income (Loss) Available to Common Stockholders, Basic [Abstract] Total stockholdersa€™ equity Balance, beginning of period Balance, end of
period Equity, Attributable to Parent 2023 Acquisitions Two Thousand Twenty Three Acquisitions [Member] Two Thousand Twenty Three Acquisitions Common stock, convertible, volume
weighted average price per share (in usd per share) Common Stock, Convertible, Volume Weighted Average Price Per Share Common Stock, Convertible, Volume Weighted Average Price Per
Share Interest expense Interest Expense, Nonoperating Changes in Carrying Amount of Goodwill Schedule of Goodwill [Table Text Block] Long-lived Assets Property, Plant and Equipment
Disclosure [Text Block] Outstanding letters of credit Letters of Credit Outstanding, Amount Repurchases of convertible notes Repayments of Convertible Debt Debt instrument convertible,
amortization period Debt Instrument Amortization Of Debt Issuance Costs Period Debt instrument amortization of debt issuance costs period. Net current period other comprehensive income
(loss) Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax Other Comprehensive Income (Loss), Net of Tax, Portion Attributable to Parent Fair Value, Measurements, Recurring Fair Value, Recurring
[Member] Accounts receivable, net of allowance Accounts Receivable, after Allowance for Credit Loss, Current Conversion price per share (in usd per share) Debt Instrument, Convertible,
Conversion Price Cost of revenue Cost of Sales [Member] Granted (in shares) Share-Based Compensation Arrangement by Share-Based Payment Award, Options, Grants in Period, Gross Stock
Conversion Description [Axis] Stock Conversion Description [Axis] Revenues From External Customers And Long Lived Assets [Line Items] Revenues from External Customers and Long-Lived
Assets [Line Items] Antidilutive Securities Excluded From Computation Of Earnings Per Share [Line Items] Antidilutive Securities Excluded from Computation of Earnings Per Share [Line
Items] Other liabilities Increase (Decrease) in Other Operating Liabilities Rest of world Non-US and United Kingdom Countries [Member] Non-US and United Kingdom Countries Net Carrying
Amount Long-Term Debt Pension Adjustments Prior Service Cost Pension Adjustments Prior Service Cost [Member] Document Fiscal Period Focus Document Fiscal Period Focus All Executive
Categories All Executive Categories [Member] Marketable Securities AOCI, Accumulated Gain (Loss), Debt Securities, Available-for-Sale, Parent [Member] 2026 Finite-Lived Intangible Asset,
Expected Amortization, Year Two Changed Peer Group, Footnote Changed Peer Group, Footnote [Text Block] Goodwill deductible for tax purposes Business Acquisition, Goodwill, Expected Tax
Deductible Amount Weighted-Average Remaining Contractual Term (in years) Share-Based Compensation Arrangement by Share-Based Payment Award, Options, Outstanding, Weighted
Average Remaining Contractual Term Assets Assets [Abstract] Document Type Document Type Commercial paper Commercial Paper [Member] Pension Benefits Adjustments, Footnote Pension
Benefits Adjustments, Footnote [Text Block] Total Shareholder Return Vs Peer Group Total Shareholder Return Vs Peer Group [Text Block] Issuance of Class A non-voting common stock for
vesting of restricted stock units and restricted stock awards, net (in shares) Stock Issued During Period, Shares, Restricted Stock Award, Gross Contractual interest expense Interest Expense,
Debt, Excluding Amortization Purchases of marketable securities Payments to Acquire Marketable Securities Marketable securities, Cost or Amortized Cost Debt Securities, Available-for-Sale,
Amortized Cost Outstanding restricted stock, Vested (in shares) Share-Based Compensation Arrangement by Share-Based Payment Award, Equity Instruments Other than Options, Vested in
Period Schedule of Estimated Intangible Asset Amortization Expense Schedule of Finite-Lived Intangible Assets, Future Amortization Expense [Table Text Block] Maximum Maximum [Member]
Amortization of intangible assets Amortization of Intangible Assets Equity Valuation Assumption Difference, Footnote Equity Valuation Assumption Difference, Footnote [Text Block] Debt
instrument, convertible principal amount used in conversion rate Debt Instrument Convertible Principal Amount Used In Conversion Rate Debt instrument convertible principal amount used in
conversion rate. Description of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies Business Description and Accounting Policies [Text Block] Intangible assets, net Net Finite-Lived
Intangible Assets, Net Antidilutive Securities [Axis] Antidilutive Securities [Axis] Accounts payable Accounts Payable, Current Accounting Policies [Abstract] Accounting Policies [Abstract]
Schedule of Strategic Investments Equity Securities without Readily Determinable Fair Value [Table Text Block] Business Acquisitions Business Combination Disclosure [Text Block] Current
Fiscal Year End Date Current Fiscal Year End Date Less: Imputed interest Lessee, Operating Lease, Liability, Undiscounted Excess Amount Convertible Notes Convertible Notes [Member]
Convertible Notes Statistical Measurement [Axis] Statistical Measurement [Axis] PEO Name PEO Name Rebecca Morrow [Member] Rebecca Morrow Non-Rule 10b5-1 Arrangement Terminated
Non-Rule 10b5-1 Arrangement Terminated [Flag] Purchase of capped calls Adjustments To Additional Paid In Capital Purchase Of Capped Calls Adjustments to additional paid in capital,
purchase of capped calls. Loss before income taxes Income (Loss) from Continuing Operations before Income Taxes, Noncontrolling Interest Schedule Of Earnings Per Share [Table] Schedule
Of Earnings Per Share [Table] Schedule of earnings per share. Non-PEO NEO Average Total Compensation Amount Non-PEO NEO Average Total Compensation Amount Award Type [Domain]
Award Type [Domain] Name Outstanding Recovery, Individual Name Disaggregation Of Revenue [Line Items] Disaggregation of Revenue [Line Items] Schedule of Potentially Dilutive Shares
Excluded from Calculation of Diluted Net Loss per Share Schedule of Antidilutive Securities Excluded from Computation of Earnings Per Share [Table Text Block] Compensation Actually Paid
vs. Company Selected Measure Compensation Actually Paid vs. Company Selected Measure [Text Block] Non-PEO NEO Non-PEO NEO [Member] Convertible Notes (if-converted) Convertible
Senior Notes If Converted [Member] Convertible senior notes if converted. Change in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash Cash, Cash Equivalents, Restricted Cash, and Restricted Cash
Equivalents, Period Increase (Decrease), Excluding Exchange Rate Effect Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications OCI, before Reclassifications, Net of Tax, Attributable to
Parent Additional Paid-in Capital Additional Paid-in Capital [Member] Credit facility expiration period Line of Credit Facility, Expiration Period Award Timing Predetermined Award Timing
Predetermined [Flag] Debt instrument, redemption price percentage Debt Instrument, Redemption Price, Percentage 2027 Notes Two Thousand Twenty Seven Convertible Senior Note
[Member] Two Thousand Twenty Seven Convertible Senior Note. Diluted (in usd per share) Earnings Per Share, Diluted Class of Stock [Axis] Class of Stock [Axis] Finite-Lived Intangible Assets
by Major Class [Axis] Finite-Lived Intangible Assets by Major Class [Axis] Accumulated Amortization Finite-Lived Intangible Assets, Accumulated Amortization Name Measure Name Entity
Interactive Data Current Entity Interactive Data Current Type of Restructuring Type of Restructuring [Domain] Restatement does not require Recovery Restatement Does Not Require Recovery
[Text Block] Percentage of employee reduction in reprioritization plan Restructuring and Related Cost, Number of Positions Eliminated, Period Percent Disaggregation Of Revenue [Table]
Disaggregation of Revenue [Table] Statement of Financial Position [Abstract] Statement of Financial Position [Abstract] Restructuring Restructuring and Related Activities Disclosure [Text
Block] Debt Instrument, Convertible Terms Of Coversion [Axis] Debt Instrument, Convertible Terms Of Coversion [Axis] Debt Instrument, Convertible Terms Of Coversion Class A Non-Voting
Common Stock Conversion From Class B Voting Common Stock Class A Non-Voting Common Stock Conversion From Class B Voting Common Stock [Member] Class A Non-Voting Common
Stock Conversion From Class B Voting Common Stock Stock-based compensation Share-Based Payment Arrangement, Noncash Expense Sales and marketing Selling and Marketing Expense
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income Loss [Abstract] Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income Loss [Abstract] Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). Net loss Net Income
(Loss), Including Portion Attributable to Noncontrolling Interest Indemnification Agreement Indemnification Agreement [Member] Income tax benefit (expense) Income tax expense (benefit)
Income Tax Expense (Benefit) Debt instrument, interest rate Debt Instrument, Interest Rate, Stated Percentage Weighted average recognition period Share-Based Payment Arrangement,
Nonvested Award, Cost Not yet Recognized, Period for Recognition Revenue Total revenue Revenue from Contract with Customer, Excluding Assessed Tax Statement of Comprehensive Income
[Abstract] Statement of Comprehensive Income [Abstract] Operating loss Operating Income (Loss) Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Investing
Activities AOCI Including Portion Attributable to Noncontrolling Interest, Net of Tax [Roll Forward] AOCI Including Portion Attributable to Noncontrolling Interest, Net of Tax [Roll Forward]
Variable Rate [Domain] Variable Rate [Domain] Business Acquisition [Line Items] Business Acquisition [Line Items] Total liabilities and stockholdersa€™ equity Liabilities and Equity All



Adjustments to Compensation All Adjustments to Compensation [Member] Rule 10b5-1 Arrangement Terminated Rule 10b5-1 Arrangement Terminated [Flag] Fair Value Hierarchy and NAV
[Axis] Fair Value Hierarchy and NAV [Axis] Additional paid-in capital Additional Paid in Capital Prepaid expenses and other current assets Increase (Decrease) in Prepaid Expense and Other
Assets Common stock, convertible, threshold trading days Common Stock, Convertible, Threshold Trading Days Common Stock, Convertible, Threshold Trading Days Restructuring charges
Restructuring Charges Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income Loss [Line Items] Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) [Line Items] Commitments and Contingencies Disclosure
[Abstract] Commitments and Contingencies Disclosure [Abstract] Interest income Investment Income, Interest Finite-Lived Intangible Assets, Major Class Name [Domain] Finite-Lived
Intangible Assets, Major Class Name [Domain] Lease liabilities arising from obtaining operating lease right-of-use assets Right-of-Use Asset Obtained in Exchange for Operating Lease Liability
Underlying Security Market Price Change Underlying Security Market Price Change, Percent Individual: Individual [Axis] Common stock, value Common Stock, Value, Outstanding Issuance of
Class A non-voting common stock for vesting of restricted stock units and restricted stock awards, net Stock Issued During Period, Value, Restricted Stock Award, Net of Forfeitures AOCI
Attributable to Parent AOCI Attributable to Parent [Member] Business combination, recognized identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed, liabilities Business Combination,
Consideration Transferred, Liabilities Incurred Weighted-Average Exercise Price, Forfeited (in usd per share) Share-Based Compensation Arrangements by Share-Based Payment Award,
Options, Forfeitures in Period, Weighted Average Exercise Price U.S. government agency securities US Government Agencies Debt Securities [Member] Long-Term Debt, Type [Domain] Long-
Term Debt, Type [Domain] Entity Address, State or Province Entity Address, State or Province Statement [Line Items] Statement [Line Items] Description Of Business And Summary Of
Significant Accounting Policies [Line Items] Description Of Business And Summary Of Significant Accounting Policies [Line Items] Description of business and summary of significant accounting
policies. Erroneous Compensation Analysis Erroneous Compensation Analysis [Text Block] Sterling Overnight Index Sterling Overnight Index [Member] Sterling overnight index. 2028 Notes
Two Thousand Twenty Eight Senior Convertible Notes [Member] 2028 Senior Convertible Notes. Compensation Actually Paid vs. Total Shareholder Return Compensation Actually Paid vs. Total
Shareholder Return [Text Block] Financial Instruments [Domain] Financial Instruments [Domain] Purchase price consideration Business Combination, Consideration Transferred Weighted-
average grant date fair value per restricted stock, unvested beginning balance (in usd per share) Weighted-average grant date fair value per restricted stock, unvested ending balance (in usd
per share) Share-Based Compensation Arrangement by Share-Based Payment Award, Equity Instruments Other than Options, Nonvested, Weighted Average Grant Date Fair Value Liabilities
and Stockholdersa€™ Equity Liabilities and Equity [Abstract] Weighted- Average Remaining Contractual Term (in years) Share Based Compensation Arrangement By Share Based Payment
Award Options Weighted Average Remaining Contractual Term [Abstract] Share-based Compensation Arrangement by Share-based Payment Award, Options, Weighted Average Remaining
Contractual Term [Abstract] Unamortized Debt Issuance Costs Debt Instrument, Unamortized Discount (Premium) and Debt Issuance Costs, Net Minimum Minimum [Member] Restatement
Determination Date Restatement Determination Date Pay vs Performance Disclosure Pay vs Performance Disclosure [Table] Adoption Date Trading Arrangement Adoption Date United Kingdom
UNITED KINGDOM Conversion of Class B voting common stock to Class A non-voting common stock (in shares) Stock Issued During Period, Change In Class of Stock Stock Issued During
Period, Change In Class of Stock Weighted-Average Exercise Price, Beginning balance (in usd per share) Weighted-Average Exercise Price, Ending balance (in usd per share) Share-Based
Compensation Arrangement by Share-Based Payment Award, Options, Outstanding, Weighted Average Exercise Price Operating lease right-of-use assets Operating Lease, Right-of-Use Asset
Erroneously Awarded Compensation Recovery Erroneously Awarded Compensation Recovery [Table] Beginning balance (in shares) Ending balance (in shares) Share-Based Compensation
Arrangement by Share-Based Payment Award, Options, Outstanding, Number Poppy Thorpe [Member] Poppy Thorpe Michael Lynton [Member] Michael Lynton Change in Fair Value as of
Vesting Date of Prior Year Equity Awards Vested in Covered Year Change in Fair Value as of Vesting Date of Prior Year Equity Awards Vested in Covered Year [Member] Property, Plant and
Equipment [Abstract] Property, Plant and Equipment [Abstract] Exercise Price Award Exercise Price Net Loss per Share Earnings Per Share [Text Block] Arrangement Duration Trading
Arrangement Duration Equity Securities and Marketable securities, Gross Unrealized Gains Available For Sale Debt Securities And Equity Securities Accumulated Gross Unrealized Gain Before
Tax Available for sale debt securities and equity securities accumulated gross unrealized gain before tax. Shares issued in connection with exercise of stock options under stock-based
compensation plans Stock Issued During Period, Value, Stock Options Exercised Costs and expenses: Costs and Expenses [Abstract] Goodwill and Intangible Assets Goodwill and Intangible
Assets Disclosure [Text Block] Schedule of Convertible Notes Convertible Debt [Table Text Block] Stockholdersa€™ equity Equity, Attributable to Parent [Abstract] Gains (losses) on strategic
investments, net Gain (Loss) on Investments Weighted-average grant date fair value per restricted stock, Granted (in usd per share) Share-Based Compensation Arrangement by Share-Based
Payment Award, Equity Instruments Other than Options, Grants in Period, Weighted Average Grant Date Fair Value Thereafter Finite Lived Intangible Assets Amortization Expense After Year
Four Finite lived intangible assets amortization expense after year four. Peer Group Issuers, Footnote Peer Group Issuers, Footnote [Text Block] Restructuring Plan [Axis] Restructuring Plan
[Axis] Material Terms of Trading Arrangement Material Terms of Trading Arrangement [Text Block] Debt repurchase amount Debt Instrument, Repurchase Amount 2028 Finite-Lived Intangible
Asset, Expected Amortization, Year Four All Individuals All Individuals [Member] PEO PEO [Member] Variable Rate [Axis] Variable Rate [Axis] Income Tax Disclosure [Abstract] Income Tax
Disclosure [Abstract] Entities [Table] Entities [Table] Name Trading Arrangement, Individual Name Other income (expense), net Other Nonoperating Income (Expense) Statement of
Stockholders' Equity [Abstract] Statement of Stockholders' Equity [Abstract] Marketable securities, Gross Unrealized Gains Debt Securities, Available-for-Sale, Accumulated Gross Unrealized
Gain, before Tax Treasury stock, at cost. 48,287 and 49,200 shares of Class A non-voting common stock at JuneA 30, 2024 and DecemberA 31, 2023, respectively. Treasury Stock, Common,
Value Annual commitment fee Line of Credit Facility, Unused Capacity, Commitment Fee Percentage 2025 Notes Two Thousand Twenty Five Senior Convertible Notes [Member] Two thousand
twenty five senior convertible notes. Business Combination, Asset Acquisition, and Joint Venture Formation [Abstract] Awards Close in Time to MNPI Disclosures, Table Awards Close in Time to
MNPI Disclosures [Table Text Block] Prior Year End Fair Value of Equity Awards Granted in Any Prior Year that Fail to Meet Applicable Vesting Conditions During Covered Year Prior Year End
Fair Value of Equity Awards Granted in Any Prior Year that Fail to Meet Applicable Vesting Conditions During Covered Year [Member] Domain names Internet Domain Names [Member]
Aggregate Erroneous Compensation Amount Aggregate Erroneous Compensation Amount Restructuring Cost And Reserve [Line Items] Restructuring Cost and Reserve [Line Items] Global
Headcount Reduction Global Headcount Reduction [Member] Global Headcount Reduction Local Phone Number Local Phone Number Aggregate Erroneous Compensation Not Yet Determined
Aggregate Erroneous Compensation Not Yet Determined [Text Block] Other Other Restructuring [Member] Unrealized gains on strategic investments still held at the reporting date Unrealized
Gain (Loss) on Investments Repurchases of Class A non-voting common stock (in shares) Stock Repurchased During Period, Shares Service condition satisfied, years Share-Based Compensation
Arrangement by Share-Based Payment Award, Award Requisite Service Period Other assets Increase (Decrease) in Other Operating Assets Change in operating assets and liabilities, net of
effect of acquisitions: Increase (Decrease) in Operating Capital [Abstract] Secured Overnight Financing Rate (SOFR) Secured Overnight Financing Rate (SOFR) [Member] PEO Total
Compensation Amount PEO Total Compensation Amount Income Statement Location [Axis] Statement of Income Location, Balance [Axis] Commitments and Contingencies Commitments and
Contingencies Disclosure [Text Block] Debt Conversion Terms Two Debt Conversion Terms Two [Member] Debt Conversion Terms Two Debt Disclosure [Abstract] Debt Disclosure [Abstract]
Reissuances of Class A non-voting common stock for vesting of restricted stock units Stock Issued During Period, Value, Treasury Stock Reissued Common Stock Common Stock [Member]
Measure: Measure [Axis] Contractual obligation maturity Contractual Obligation Maturity Contractual Obligation Maturity Weighted average price per share (in usd per share) Share Price
Operating lease right-of-use assets Increase Decrease In Operating Lease Right Of Use Asset Increase decrease in operating lease right of use asset. Stock split ratio, common stock
Stockholders' Equity Note, Stock Split, Conversion Ratio Forgone Recovery due to Expense of Enforcement, Amount Forgone Recovery due to Expense of Enforcement, Amount Schedule Of
Business Acquisitions By Acquisition [Table] Schedule of Business Acquisitions, by Acquisition [Table] Entity Emerging Growth Company Entity Emerging Growth Company Entity Central Index
Key Entity Central Index Key General and administrative General and Administrative Expense [Member] Rest of world Rest Of World [Member] Rest of World. Equity Method Investments and
Joint Ventures [Abstract] Equity Method Investments and Joint Ventures [Abstract] Lessee Lease Description [Table] Lessee, Lease, Description [Table] Shares issued upon conversion of each
$1000 principal amount Debt Conversion, Converted Instrument, Shares Issued Non-GAAP Measure Description Non-GAAP Measure Description [Text Block] Foreign Currency Translation
Accumulated Foreign Currency Adjustment Attributable to Parent [Member] Non-PEO NEO Average Compensation Actually Paid Amount Non-PEO NEO Average Compensation Actually Paid
Amount Award Timing, How MNPI Considered Award Timing, How MNPI Considered [Text Block] Equity Component [Domain] Equity Component [Domain] Financial Instrument [Axis]
Financial Instrument [Axis] Operating leases, terms Lessee, Operating Lease, Lease Not yet Commenced, Term of Contract Additional 402(v) Disclosure Additional 402(v) Disclosure [Text
Block] Stock-based compensation expense APIC, Share-Based Payment Arrangement, Increase for Cost Recognition Entity Shell Company Entity Shell Company Entity Incorporation, State or
Country Code Entity Incorporation, State or Country Code Class B Class B Voting Common Stock Common Class B [Member] Title Trading Arrangement, Individual Title Statement [Table]
Statement [Table] Total interest expense Interest Expense, Debt Measurement Frequency [Domain] Measurement Frequency [Domain] City Area Code City Area Code Current liabilities
Liabilities, Current [Abstract] Reissuances of Class A non-voting common stock for vesting of restricted stock units (in shares) Stock Issued During Period, Shares, Treasury Stock Reissued
Cumulative upward adjustments Equity Securities without Readily Determinable Fair Value, Upward Price Adjustment, Cumulative Amount Insider Trading Policies and Procedures Not Adopted
Insider Trading Policies and Procedures Not Adopted [Text Block] Level 1 securities: Fair Value, Inputs, Level 1 [Member] Total current assets Assets, Current Statement of Cash Flows
[Abstract] Statement of Cash Flows [Abstract] Accrued expenses and other current liabilities Increase (Decrease) in Accrued Liabilities 2030 Notes Two Thousand Thirty Senior Convertible
Notes [Member] Two Thousand Thirty Senior Convertible Notes Repurchases of Class A non-voting common stock Payments for Repurchase of Common Stock Debt Instrument [Table] Schedule
of Long-Term Debt Instruments [Table] Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income Loss [Table] Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) [Table] Carrying value Equity Securities
without Readily Determinable Fair Value, Amount Lease not yet commenced amount Unrecorded Unconditional Purchase Obligation Proceeds from termination of capped calls Proceeds From
Termination Of Capped Calls Proceeds From Termination Of Capped Calls Other Other Intangible Assets [Member] Cash, Equity Securities and Marketable Securities, Total Estimated Fair
Value Cash Equity Securities And Available For Sale Debt Securities Fair Value Cash equity securities and available for sale debt securities fair value. Income Taxes Income Tax Disclosure [Text
Block] Retirement of Class A non-voting common stock Stock repurchased and retired Stock Repurchased and Retired During Period, Value 2028 Lessee, Operating Lease, Liability, to be Paid,
Year Four Net loss per share attributable to Class A, Class B, and Class C common stockholders (Note 3): Earnings Per Share [Abstract] Accumulated deficit Retained Earnings (Accumulated
Deficit) Proceeds from issuance of convertible notes, net of issuance costs Proceeds From Debt Net Of Issuance Costs And Capped Call Transaction Costs Proceeds from debt net of issuance
costs and capped call transaction costs. Cumulative downward adjustments, including impairments Equity Securities Without Readily Determinable Fair Value, Downward Price Adjustment And
Impairment Loss, Cumulative Amount Equity Securities Without Readily Determinable Fair Value, Downward Price Adjustment And Impairment Loss, Cumulative Amount Retirement of Class A
non-voting common stock (in shares) Retirement of Class A non-voting common stock (in shares) Stock Repurchased and Retired During Period, Shares Class of Stock [Domain] Class of Stock
[Domain] Stockholders' Equity Stockholders Equity And Compensation Related Costs Share Based Payments [Text Block] Stockholders equity and compensation related costs share based
payments text block. Schedule of Debt Schedule of Debt [Table Text Block] General and administrative General and Administrative Expense Unrealized gains (losses) on publicly traded equity
securities still held at the reporting date, net Equity Securities, FV-NI, Unrealized Gain (Loss) Aggregate Available Trading Arrangement, Securities Aggregate Available Amount Equity Awards
Adjustments Equity Awards Adjustments [Member] Weighted-average discount rate Operating Lease, Weighted Average Discount Rate, Percent Present value of lease liabilities Operating
Lease, Liability Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Financing Activities Unrealized losses, including impairments, on strategic investments still
held at the reporting date Unrealized Gain (Loss) On Investments, Including Impairment Unrealized Gain (Loss) On Investments, Including Impairment Underlying Securities Award Underlying
Securities Amount Credit Facility [Axis] Credit Facility [Axis] Conversion of Stock, Name [Domain] Conversion of Stock, Name [Domain] Amendment Flag Amendment Flag Loss Contingency
Nature [Axis] Loss Contingency Nature [Axis] Entity Registrant Name Entity Registrant Name Payment to acquire business Payments to Acquire Businesses, Gross Class A Class A Non-voting
Common Stock Common Class A Non Voting [Member] Common class A non voting. Adjustment to Non-PEO NEO Compensation Footnote Adjustment to Non-PEO NEO Compensation Footnote
[Text Block] Stock Appreciation Rights (SARs) Stock Appreciation Rights (SARs) [Member] Depreciation and amortization Depreciation, Depletion and Amortization Cash, Total Estimated Fair
Value Cash Fair Value Disclosure Cash fair value disclosure. Foreign currency translation Other Comprehensive Income (Loss), Foreign Currency Transaction and Translation Adjustment, Net
of Tax, Portion Attributable to Parent Convertible senior notes, net Convertible Debt, Current Fair Value as of Grant Date Award Grant Date Fair Value Cash Gross Unrealized Losses Cash,
Gross Unrealized Losses Cash, Gross Unrealized Losses Level 2 securities: Fair Value, Inputs, Level 2 [Member] Debt Debt Disclosure [Text Block] Fair Value Hierarchy and NAV [Domain] Fair
Value Hierarchy and NAV [Domain] Geographical [Domain] Geographical [Domain] Recovery of Erroneously Awarded Compensation Disclosure [Line Items] Debt instrument, principal amount
Principal Debt Instrument, Face Amount Technology Technology-Based Intangible Assets [Member] Entity Address, Postal Zip Code Entity Address, Postal Zip Code Schedule of Total Stock-
based Compensation Expense Share-Based Payment Arrangement, Expensed and Capitalized, Amount [Table Text Block] Schedule Of Restructuring And Related Costs [Table] Restructuring
Cost [Table] Restatement Determination Date: Restatement Determination Date [Axis] Title of 12(b) Security Title of 12(b) Security Share-Based Payment Arrangement [Abstract] Share-Based
Payment Arrangement [Abstract] Over-allotment option Convertible Debt, Over-Allotment Feature, Increase Limit Convertible Debt, Over-Allotment Feature, Increase Limit Cash and cash
equivalents Cash and Cash Equivalents, at Carrying Value 2026 Notes Two Thousand Twenty Six Senior Convertible Notes [Member] Two thousand twenty six senior convertible notes. Other
Payments for (Proceeds from) Other Investing Activities Certificates of deposit Certificates of Deposit [Member] Year-over-Year Change in Fair Value of Equity Awards Granted in Prior Years
That are Outstanding and Unvested Year-over-Year Change in Fair Value of Equity Awards Granted in Prior Years That are Outstanding and Unvested [Member] Debt instrument convertible,
number of trading days Debt Instrument, Convertible, Threshold Trading Days Finite-Lived Intangible Assets [Line Items] Finite-Lived Intangible Assets [Line Items] Weighted-average grant
date fair value per restricted stock, Forfeited (in usd per share) Share-Based Compensation Arrangement by Share-Based Payment Award, Equity Instruments Other than Options, Forfeitures,
Weighted Average Grant Date Fair Value Gain (loss) on extinguishment of debt Gain (Loss) on Extinguishment of Debt Long-term convertible senior notes, net Convertible Debt, Noncurrent
Cash flows from financing activities Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Financing Activities [Abstract] Year-end Fair Value of Equity Awards Granted in Covered Year that are Outstanding and
Unvested Year-end Fair Value of Equity Awards Granted in Covered Year that are Outstanding and Unvested [Member] Cash and Cash Equivalents [Domain] Cash and Cash Equivalents
[Domain] Number of Shares Share-Based Compensation Arrangement by Share-Based Payment Award, Options, Outstanding [Roll Forward] Basic (in usd per share) Earnings Per Share, Basic
Accounts payable Increase (Decrease) in Accounts Payable Operating cash outflows for operating leases Operating Lease, Payments Adjustment To PEO Compensation, Footnote Adjustment To
PEO Compensation, Footnote [Text Block] Award Timing MNPI Disclosure Award Timing MNPI Disclosure [Text Block] Commitments due within three years Contractual Obligation Aggregate
Pension Adjustments Service Cost Aggregate Pension Adjustments Service Cost [Member] Debt, net of issuance costs Proceeds from Debt, Net of Issuance Costs RSUs and RSAs Granted after
February 2018 Restricted Stock Units And Restricted Stock Granted After February Two Thousand Eighteen [Member] Restricted stock units and restricted stock granted after February two
thousand eighteen. Net loss attributable to common stockholders Net Income (Loss) Available to Common Stockholders, Basic Compensation Actually Paid vs. Other Measure Compensation
Actually Paid vs. Other Measure [Text Block] Total current liabilities Liabilities, Current Vesting Date Fair Value of Equity Awards Granted and Vested in Covered Year Vesting Date Fair Value
of Equity Awards Granted and Vested in Covered Year [Member] Weighted average shares used in computation of net loss per share: Diluted shares: Weighted Average Number of Shares
Outstanding, Diluted [Abstract] Total assets Assets Losses (gains) on debt and equity securities, net Debt and Equity Securities, Gain (Loss) 2025 Finite-Lived Intangible Asset, Expected
Amortization, Year One Amounts outstanding under the credit facility Long-Term Line of Credit Outstanding restricted stock, Granted (in shares) Share-Based Compensation Arrangement by
Share-Based Payment Award, Equity Instruments Other than Options, Grants in Period Schedule of Financial Assets Measured at Fair Value on Recurring Basis Fair Value, Assets Measured on
Recurring Basis [Table Text Block] Purchases of property and equipment 